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TESTIMONY AT THE PUBLIC HEARING

On August 2, 2011, the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public hearing on the
proposed designation of the Bedford Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic District (Item No.
1). The hearing was duly advertised according to the provisions of law. Twenty-six witnesses spoke in
favor of the designation, including Councilmember Albert Vann, Assemblymember Annette Robinson, as
well as representatives of Brooklyn Borough President Marty Markowitz, State Senator Velmanette
Montgomery, the New York Landmarks Conservancy, the Historic Districts Council, and the Victorian
Society. In addition, the Commission received 13 letters, 108 e-mails, and 146 postcards in support of
designation, including correspondence from Brooklyn Community Board #3.

BEDFORD-STUYVESANT / EXPANDED STUYVESANT HEIGHTS HISTORIC
DISTRICT BOUNDARIES

The Bedford-Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic District consists of the
property bounded by a line beginning at northwest corner of Malcolm X Boulevard and
Chauncey Street, continuing westerly along the northern curbline of Chauncey Street, southerly
across Chauncey Street along a line extending northerly from the eastern property line of 82
Chauncey Street, southerly along the eastern property line of 82 Chauncey Street, , westerly
along the southern property lines of 82 through 78 Chauncey Street and 419 Stuyvesant Avenue,
westerly across Stuyvesant Avenue, southerly along the western curbline of Stuyvesant Avenue,
northwesterly along the northern curbline of Fulton Street to a point in the middle of the roadbed
of Lewis Avenue, northerly along a line extending up the middle of the roadbed of Lewis
Avenue to its intersection with a point on a line which continues the northern curbline of
Bainbridge Street, westerly along that line and the northern curbline of Bainbridge Street,
northerly from the curbline to the western property line of 430 Lewis Avenue (aka 67 Bainbridge
Street) through 424 Lewis Avenue, westerly along part of the southern property line of 422
Lewis Avenue, westerly along the southern property lines of 206 through 142-144 Decatur Street
(aka 471-477 Marcus Garvey Boulevard), westerly to the eastern curbline of Marcus Garvey
Boulevard, northerly along the eastern curbline of Marcus Garvey Boulevard, westerly across
Marcus Garvey Boulevard to the southern property line of 140 Decatur Street (aka 464 Marcus
Garvey Boulevard), westerly along the southern property lines of 140 Decatur Street (aka 464
Marcus Garvey Boulevard) and 138 Decatur Street, northerly along part of the western property
line of 138 Decatur Street, westerly along the southern property lines of 136 through 132
Decatur Street, northerly along part of the western property line of 132 Decatur Street, westerly
along the southern property line of 3 Albany Avenue, westerly across Albany Avenue, southerly
along the western curbline of Albany Avenue, westerly to the northern building line of 8 Albany
Avenue, westerly along the northern building line of 8 Albany Avenue, southerly along part of
the eastern property line of 116 Decatur Street, westerly along the southern property lines of 116
through 110 Decatur Street and part of the southern property line of 108 Decatur Street, westerly
along the southern property lines of 104 through 88 Decatur Street and 631 Throop Avenue,
westerly to the eastern curbline of Throop Avenue, northerly along the eastern curbline of



Throop Avenue, westerly across Throop Avenue to the easternmost point of the southern
property line of 70-72 Decatur Street (aka 644 Throop Avenue), westerly, northerly, and
northwesterly along the southern property line of 70-72 Decatur Street (aka 644 Throop
Avenue), northwesterly along the southern property lines of 68 through 52 Decatur Street,
southwesterly along part of the eastern property line of 50 Decatur Street (aka 1497 Fulton
Street), northwesterly along a line to the southern property line of 44 Decatur Street,
northwesterly along the southern property line of 44 Decatur Street, southwesterly along part of
the eastern property line of 42 Decatur Street, northwesterly along the southern property lines of
42 and 40 Decatur Street, southwesterly along part of the eastern property line of 38 Decatur
Street, northwesterly along the southern property lines of 38 and 36 Decatur Street, northeasterly
along the western property line of 36 Decatur Street, northerly across Decatur Street, westerly
along the northern curbline of Decatur Street, northerly along the eastern curbline of Tompkins
Avenue, westerly to the southern property line of 58-72 MacDonough Street (aka 468-480
Tompkins Avenue), westerly along the southern property line of 58-72 MacDonough Street (aka
469-480 Tompkins Avenue), northerly along the western property line of 58-72 MacDonough
Street (aka 469-480 Tompkins Avenue), northerly to the southern curbline of MacDonough
Street, easterly along the southern curbline of MacDonough Street, northerly across
MacDonough Street to the western property line of 61-73 MacDonough Street (aka 458-466
Tompkins Avenue), northerly along the western property line of 61-73 MacDonough Street (aka
458-466 Tompkins Avenue), easterly along the northern property line of 61-73 MacDonough
Street (aka 458-466 Tompkins Avenue), easterly across Tompkins Avenue, northerly along the
eastern curbline of Tompkins Avenue, easterly to the northern property line of 467 Tompkins
Avenue, easterly along the northern property line of 467 Tompkins Avenue, easterly to the
northern property line of 91-97 MacDonough Street, easterly along the northern property lines of
91-97 through 129 MacDonough Street, southerly along part of the eastern property line of 129
MacDonough Street, easterly along the northern property line of 133 MacDonough Street,
northerly along part of the western property line of 137 MacDonough Street, easterly along the
northern property line of 137 MacDonough Street, southerly along part of the eastern property
line of 137 MacDonough Street, easterly along the northern property line of 141 MacDonough
Street (aka 622 Throop Avenue), easterly to a point in the middle of the roadbed of Throop
Avenue, northerly along a line extending up the middle of the roadbed of the Throop Avenue to a
point in the middle of its intersection with Macon Street, easterly along a line extending down
the middle of the roadbed of Macon Street to its intersection with a point on a line which
continues the eastern curbline of Throop Avenue, northerly along that line and the eastern
curbline of Throop Avenue, easterly to the northern property line of 267 Macon Street (aka 579
Throop Avenue), easterly along the northern property lines of 267 Macon Street (aka 579 Throop
Avenue) through 331 Macon Street and part of the northern property line of 333 Macon Street,
northerly along the western property lines of 410 through 404 Marcus Garvey Boulevard (aka
394-400 Halsey Street) to the southern curbline of Halsey Street, easterly along the southern
curbline of Halsey Street, southerly along the western curbline of Marcus Garvey Boulevard,
easterly across Marcus Garvey Boulevard to the northern property line of 417 Marcus Garvey
Boulevard, easterly along the northern property line of 417 Marcus Garvey Boulevard, southerly
along part of the eastern property line 417 Marcus Garvey Boulevard, easterly along the northern
property lines of 351 through 403 Macon Street, northerly along part of the western property line
of 364 Lewis Avenue and the western property lines of 362 through354-356 Lewis Avenue (aka
468-476 Halsey Street) to the southern curbline of Halsey Street, easterly along the southern



curbline of Halsey Street, easterly across Lewis Avenue to its intersection with the eastern
curbline of Lewis Avenue, northerly across Halsey Street, northerly along the eastern curbline of
Lewis Avenue, easterly to the northern property line of 437 Halsey Street (aka 343-351 Lewis
Avenue), easterly along the northern property lines of 437 Halsey Street (aka 343-351 Lewis
Avenue) through 503 Halsey Street, northerly along the western property lines of 308 through
302 Stuyvesant Avenue (aka 568 Hancock Street), northerly across Hancock Street, northerly
along the western property lines of 300 Stuyvesant Avenue (aka 561 Hancock Street) through
284 Stuyvesant Avenue (aka 624-632 Jefferson Avenue) to the southern curbline of Jefferson
Avenue, easterly along the southern curbline of Jefferson Avenue, easterly across Stuyvesant
Avenue, easterly along the southern curbline of Jefferson Avenue, southerly to the eastern
property line of 273-279 Stuyvesant Avenue (aka 634 Jefferson Avenue), southerly along the
eastern property line of 273-279 Stuyvesant Avenue (aka 634 Jefferson Avenue), easterly along
part of the northern property line of 281 Stuyvesant Avenue, southerly along the eastern property
lines of 281 Stuyvesant Avenue and 575 Hancock Street (aka 285 Stuyvesant Avenue), southerly
across Hancock Street, southerly along the eastern property lines of 291 Stuyvesant Avenue (aka
576 Hancock Street) through 297 Stuyvesant Avenue and part of the eastern property line of 299
Stuyvesant Avenue, easterly along the northern property lines of 525 through 533 Halsey Street,
southerly along part of the eastern property line of 553 Halsey Street, easterly along the northern
property lines of 553A and 555 Halsey Street, northerly along part of the western property line of
557 Halsey Street, easterly along the northern property lines of 557 through 559 Halsey Street,
southerly along part of the eastern property lines of 559 Halsey Street, easterly along the
northern property lines of 561 through 573 Halsey Street and part of the northern property line of
254 Malcolm X Boulevard, northerly along the western property lines of 248 through 240
Malcolm X Boulevard (aka 654 Hancock Street) to the southern curbline of Hancock Street,
easterly along the southern curbline of Hancock Street, and southerly along the western curbline
of Malcolm X Boulevard to the point of the beginning.






SUMMARY

The Bedford-Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic District consists of
approximately 825 buildings and is located within the area roughly bounded by Tompkins Avenues on the
west, Macon and Halsey Streets on the north, Malcolm X Boulevard on the east, and Fulton Street on the
south. The boundaries of this proposed district encompass and extend the boundaries of the Stuyvesant
Heights Historic District, which was designated by the Landmarks Preservation Commission in 1971, and
more than doubles the size of the existing historic district. Brooklyn, Bedford, and Bushwick (which
included Williamsburg and Greenpoint) became incorporated as the City of Brooklyn in 1854, and
although the street grid in Bedford was planned by 1839, most of the streets were not actually cut and
paved until after the Civil War. The major period of construction was from around 1895 to 1900, although
several buildings were built before or after that time. The district consists mainly of masonry row houses
and is more than 85 percent residential. As late as 1886, more than half of the land within the boundaries
was vacant. Of the buildings that had been constructed by then, many were located near the area’s older
roads, Fulton Street and Reid Avenue (now called Malcolm X Boulevard).

The Bedford-Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic District is significant as part of
the larger Bedford-Stuyvesant area, which for two-thirds of the 20th century has been one of the nation’s
largest and best-known African-American and Caribbean-American residential communities, with its
roots extending back to the period of Dutch colonial settlement in the 17" century. The area was known
as Bedford until the late 1930s when it began to be commonly referred to as Bedford-Stuyvesant.*

The buildings within the Bedford-Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic District,
mostly dating from the late-19th century, form extraordinary streetscapes of row houses and small
apartment buildings with commercial ground stories, interspersed by churches, schools, and related public
and institutional buildings. The immediate area became known as Stuyvesant Heights by the first decade
of the 20th century and was probably named for its major thoroughfare, Stuyvesant Avenue.

The earliest extant buildings within the Bedford-Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights
Historic District date from the middle decades of the 19™ century and include a number of wood-frame
houses, such as 316 and 320 Decatur Street, as well as wood-frame, Second Empire style row houses at
340 to 346A Decatur Street. From the mid-1880s and into the 1890s, the east-west streets and Stuyvesant
Avenue were developed with rows of speculatively-built houses reflecting, stylistically, the popular trends
of the era: neo-Grec, Queen Anne, Romanesque Revival and Renaissance Revival. During the 1890s,
four- and five-story brick and stone apartment buildings or “French flats,” generally designed in the
Romanesque Revival and Renaissance Revival styles, were also erected in the district expansion. A
particularly distinctive aspect of the Bedford-Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic District’s
long blocks of intact brick and brownstone houses is the iron work that appears in newel posts, railings,
fences, and window grilles. Throughout the district, the ironwork ties the rows together, emphasizing the
cohesiveness of the streetscapes.

Many of the late 19"-century residents of the area were families of New England origins, while
others were members of immigrant groups, such as the Germans and the Irish, who had prospered
sufficiently to be able to afford the purchase of a newly-constructed row house or the rental of a flat in
one of the apartment buildings. During this early period, prosperous African-Americans also purchased
houses within the area. By World War |, the demographics of the area began to change and African-
Americans and members of white ethnic groups that were discriminated against elsewhere in the city
were able to acquire decent, affordable housing in Bedford-Stuyvesant. If Harlem was perceived as the
center of New York’s black cultural life with the rise of the Harlem Renaissance in the 1920s and 1930s,
Bedford-Stuyvesant offered an alternative: a residential community within the “borough of homes and
churches” with block after block of attractive rowhouses and small apartment buildings. With its

! The current hyphenated name appears to have been first used in 1931 in an article in the Brooklyn Eagle. The City
officially recognized the name after it redrew its health districts in 1944. Ernest Quimby, “Bedford-Stuyvesant,”
Brooklyn, U.S.A. (Brooklyn, NY: Brooklyn College Press, 1979), ed. Rita Seiden, 230.



unparalleled opportunities for home ownership, Bedford-Stuyvesant became the community of choice for
many of New York’s African-American residents.

Within the residential fabric of the proposed district are institutional and public buildings which
give the neighborhood much of its cultural significance, including public libraries, schools, and most
significantly, churches. Beginning in the 1920s, African-American churches from downtown Brooklyn
followed their congregations to Bedford-Stuyvesant, purchasing existing churches and institutional
buildings. The first African-American congregation to move into the area was Bethany Baptist Church
(founded 1883) which, since 1924, has occupied its present home, the former Sumner Avenue Baptist
Church (built ¢.1900) at Sumner Avenue and Decatur Street. Several other venerable and historically-
significant congregations followed and occupy architecturally-rich buildings that provide a visual focal
point in the neighborhood. Not only have these churches provided their congregants with places for
worship, but they also serve as cornerstones of social and cultural life in the larger community. Many
such churches and institutions are found within the historic district expansion.

In the late 1980s, the Landmarks Preservation Commission began a comprehensive, building-by-
building survey of Brooklyn Community Board 3, the boundaries of which coincide with the greater
Bedford-Stuyvesant neighborhood and included about 15,000 properties spread over 318 blocks.? The
survey identified several potential historic districts, including the Bedford-Stuyvesant/Expanded
Stuyvesant Heights Historic District, as well as numerous potential individual landmarks. The survey was
completed in 1992, leading to the calendaring and hearing of the Bedford-Stuyvesant/Expanded
Stuyvesant Heights Historic District the following year. The Alice and Agate Courts Historic District was
designated by the Commission in 2009, and the Bedford-Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights
Historic District was reheard by the Commission on August 2, 2011. In addition, another historic district
in the area, the proposed Bedford Historic District, was calendared by the Commission in 2012 and was
heard on January 15, 2013.

2 The Commission conducted a more limited survey of part of Bedford Stuyvesant in the 1970s.



THE HISTORICAL AND ARCHITECTURAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BEDFORD
STUYVESANT/EXPANDED STUYVESANT HEIGHTS HISTORIC DISTRICT EXTENSION

The Early History of the Area®

Before the Europeans first made contact with Native Americans on what is now called
Long Island, large portions of the island, including present-day Brooklyn, were occupied by the Lenape,
or Delaware Indians. The Lenape lived in communities of bark- or grass-covered wigwams, and in their
larger settlements—typically located on high ground adjacent to fresh water, and occupied in the fall,
winter, and spring—they fished, harvested shellfish, and trapped animals. Although no known evidence
indicates that large Lenape settlements existed in the vicinity of the Bedford Stuyvesant/Expanded
Stuyvesant Heights Historic District, the area could have held one of their smaller inland campsites,
where the Lenape hunted, gathered wild fruits and vegetables, and cultivated corn, tobacco, beans, and
other crops.

By the 1630s, Dutch and English settlers were taking control of the western end of Long Island.
In 1637, Joris Hansen de Raplje “purchased” about 335 acres around Wallabout Bay, and over the
following two years, Director Kieft of the Dutch West India Company “secured by purchase from the
Indians the title to nearly all the land in the counties of Kings and Queens,” according to Henry J. Stiles’
1884 history of Brooklyn and Kings County.*

Currently known as the neighborhood of Bedford-Stuyvesant, the larger area that contains the
Bedford Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic District saw its first European settlement
around 1662, when six men each received, from Governor Stuyvesant and the Directors of the Dutch
West India Company, “a parcel of free (unoccupied) woodland there” on the condition that they situate
their houses “within one of the other concentration, which would suit them best, but not to make a
hamlet.” By 1664, when Governor Stuyvesant awarded Thomas Lamberts a grant “within the limits of a
certain village known ... [as] New Bedford, Long Island,” the area had its name.> At the time of its
settlement, Bedford was located along one of Long Island’s most important old roads, or cartways, which
connected Jamaica with the ferry that ran between Brooklyn and New York. Beginning in the early 1700s,
the cartway was improved and named the King’s Highway, and it would continue to be an important route
for decades to come. Improved again in the early 19th century, the Brooklyn and Jamaica Turnpike, as it
would become known, “straggled crookedly upward and backward” from Fulton Ferry, “out through

® This section is based on Landmarks Preservation Commission (LPC), Alice and Agate Courts Historic District
Designation Report (LP-2309), (New York: City of New York, 2009), prepared by Tara Harrison; LPC, Crown
Heights North Historic District Designation Report (LP-2204), (New York: City of New York, 2007), prepared by
Michael D. Caratzas and Cynthia Danza; and LPC, Survey Report: Bedford-Stuyvesant (Community Board 3)
Brooklyn, unpublished report prepared by Joseph C. Brooks, Ph.D., 1992.

* Henry R. Stiles, The History of the County of Kings and the City of Brooklyn, New York from 1683 to 1884 (New
York: W.W. Mundell, 1884), 43-44, as cited in Crown Heights North Historic District Designation Report. The
Native American “system of land tenure was that of occupancy for the needs of a group” and that those sales that the
Europeans deemed outright transfers of property were to the Native Americans closer to leases or joint tenancy
contracts where they still had rights to the property. Reginald Pelham Bolton, New York City in Indian Possession,
2d ed. (New York: Museum of the American Indian, Heye Foundation, 1920; reprint 1975), 7, 14-15; Robert Steven
Grumet, Native American Place Names in New York City (New York: Museum of the City of New York, 1981), 69,
as cited in LPC, Noho Historic District Extension Designation Report (LP-2287) (New York: City of New York,
2008), prepared by Marianne S. Percival and Kathryn Horak, 6.

® “In the Bedford Region: Settlement of an Important Part of Brooklyn,” Brooklyn Daily Eagle (September 25,
1887), 17, as cited in Crown Heights North Historic District Designation Report.



Bedford Corners and away beyond Jamaica, even to Montauk Point, being ... the great highway of travel
of Long Island itself.”

By the time of the American Revolution, Bedford was a small village consisting of “a tavern, a
brewhouse, a schoolhouse, a blacksmith house, and half a dozen farmhouses” centered close to the current
intersection of Bedford Avenue and Fulton Street.” But despite its modest size, Bedford was located at a
significant crossroads. At Bedford, the King’s Highway met the road to Newtown, which was known as
the Cripplebush Road. Extending south from Bedford was the Clove Road, which remained the major
route, well into the 19th century, for Flatbush farmers traveling to the Brooklyn market. As the locus of
these highways, Bedford was a strategically important place, seeing action in the Battle of Long Island
and the broader Revolutionary conflict, when “British camps were located in the vicinity and the
inhabitants of Bedford had their full share of the vicissitudes of war.”® King’s Highway, Cripplebush
Road, and the Clove Road would later be joined at Bedford by the Wallabout and Bedford Turnpike,
which opened in 1829.

In the early 19th century, Bedford remained the home of many prominent, old Dutch families, but
according to Stiles, it was “especially the seat of the Lefferts family,” which had substantial local property
holdings that dated back to 1700.° Leffert “Squire” Lefferts, whose house was at the intersection of
King’s Highway and Clove Road, was a significant figure, a Brooklyn freeholder for two decades who
served as a town clerk and assistant justice, and in the Provincial Congress. Like most Kings County
landowners, he was also a slaveholder. As Craig Steven Wilder points out, “Brooklyn was founded on the
labor of unfree people”; Harold X. the historian calls the Kings County of 1790 New York State’s
“slaveholding capital,” with almost 1,500 slaves, but only 46 free blacks.’® In 1790, a year in which
Lefferts had seven slaves, he was among the 59% of white heads of household in Kings County who
owned slaves, giving the county “the highest proportion of slaveholders and slaves in the North,”
according to Marc Linder and Lawrence S. Zacharias," and Bedford’s population of 205 included 72
Africans (35 percent).

¢ «“Brooklyn of Long Ago: Its Houses, Thoroughfares, and Local Celebrities,” Brooklyn Daily Eagle (January 19,
1890), 13, as cited in Crown Heights North Historic District Designation Report.

" “In the Bedford Region,” as cited in Crown Heights North Historic District Designation Report.

8 «At Bedford Corners: The Only Revolutionary House Now Standing,” Brooklyn Daily Eagle (June 12, 1887), 7, as
cited in Crown Heights North Historic District Designation Report. On Bedford and its role in the Revolutionary
War, see Edwin G. Burrows and Mike Wallace, Gotham: A History of New York City to 1898 (New York: Oxford
University Press, 1999), 236-37.

® Stiles, 135, as cited in Crown Heights North Historic District Designation Report. Having inherited land purchased
by his father Leffert Pieterse van Haugwout from Thomas Lamberts in 1700, Jacobus Lefferts was the first of his
family to settle in the Bedford area. He added to the property by purchase and through marriage, eventually taking
over the Blom family land, formerly held by his father-in-law. Only two of his sons remained in the area, Leffert
“Squire” Lefferts (see above) and Barent Lefferts, whose “eclectic” son lived on the family property until his death,
but left no issue. Teunis G. Bergen, Genealogy of the Lefferts Family 1650-1878, (Albany, New York: Joel Munsell,
1878). Descendants of Leffert Pieterse van Haugwout in the Bedford area married into other prominent Dutch
families including the Remsen, Cowenhoven (Couwenhoven or Kouwenhoven), Bensen, Brevoort and Blom
families.

19 Craig Steven Wilder, A Covenant with Color: Race and Social Power in Brooklyn (New York: Columbia
University Press, 2000), 5; Harold X. Connolly, A Ghetto Grows in Brooklyn (New York: New York University
Press, 1977), 5, as cited in Crown Heights North Historic District Designation Report.

" Marc Linder and Lawrence S. Zacharias, Of Cabbages and Kings County: Agriculture and the Formation of
Modern Brooklyn (lowa City, 1A: University of lowa Press, 1999), 81, as cited in Crown Heights North Historic
District Designation Report.



New York State abolished slavery in 1827, and in the 1830s a settlement of free blacks appeared
in Bedford just south of the Bedford-Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic District. Known
as Weeksville for a respected black man, James Weeks, who owned land in the area, the community
continued to grow as the 19th century progressed. By the 1870s, Weeksville was a community of several
hundred, and included a public school and church among other institutions. The surviving houses on
Hunterfly Road were designated New York City landmarks in 1970.

In the 1830s, Bedford remained a small village; at that time, according to one later account,
“farms bordered upon Hudson Street and Bedford village was considered out of the universe.”*? Large
portions of the area were owned by the Squire’s daughter-in-law and son, Sarah Cowenhoven Lefferts,
widow of John L. Lefferts, and Leffert Lefferts Jr., who, like his father, was a person of local prominence,
both of whom appear to have owned slaves.

The Squire’s son, John L. Lefferts™ (1763-1812), was a farmer who owned considerable property
in Kings and Queens Counties including an 83 acre homestead at Bedford Corners. Following his death,
hti]s_lfdormellr1 farm was divided up among his heirs, including his widow Sarah and several of their
children.

The Suburban Years™

Bedford remained fairly rural in the first half of the 19" century, but changes were occurring that
would lay the foundation for the neighborhood’s suburban, and later urban, growth. These included, most
importantly, new transportation links between Bedford and the ferries along Brooklyn’s waterfront that
linked Brooklyn—then a separate city—with New York. In 1836, South Ferry made its first run between
Manhattan’s Whitehall Street and the foot of what is now Atlantic Avenue, in Brooklyn; in the same year,
the Brooklyn & Jamaica Railroad, which connected the ferry with Jamaica, started up. The B&J’s route,
which ran along a right-of-way through farmland (later mapped as Atlantic Street east of Flatbush
Avenue), was soon leased to the Long Island Rail Road. Although it included a station in Bedford, it did
little to stimulate the area’s growth.'® Nevertheless, it seemed clear, even in the 1830s, that Brooklyn’s
urban development would eventually reach Bedford. In 1835, the New York State Legislature passed “an

12 «Jeremiah Lambertson” (Obituary), Brooklyn Daily Eagle (December 5, 1897), 4, as cited in Crown Heights
North Historic District Designation Report. Hudson Street is now called Kingston Avenue.

13 Sources for this section include LPC, Lefferts Laidlaw House Designation Report (LP-2099) (New York: City of
New York, 2001), prepared by Gale Harris; Bergen; “Map of Bedford-Corners in 1766-67; Colton, 1849; Perris,
1855; Map of the City of Brooklyn (New York: M. Dripps, 1869); G. W. Bromley, Atlas of the City of Brooklyn,
New York (Philadelphia: Bromley, 1880); Elisha Robinson, Robinson’s Atlas of the City of Brooklyn, New York
(New York: E. Robinson, 1886); and Hugo Ullitz, Atlas of the Brooklyn Borough of the City of New York (New
York: Hyde & Co., 1898-99).

14 “Map of Bedford-Corners in 1766-67"; Colton, 1849; Perris, 1855; Dripps, 1869; Bromley, 1880; Brooklyn
property conveyances, Liber 23, 88 (recorded October 12, 1827); Liber 23, 174 (recorded November 3, 1827); Liber
26, 147 (recorded March 25, 1829); Liber 26, 148 (recorded March 25, 1829); Liber 26, 159 (recorded March 25,
1829); Liber 47, 320 (recorded April 9, 1835).

1> This section is based on LPC, Alice and Agate Courts Historic District Designation Report; LPC, Crown Heights
North Historic District Designation Report; and LPC, Survey Report: Bedford-Stuyvesant (Community Board 3)
Brooklyn.

1® Early locomotives were slow—=“an active boy or man found no difficulty in keeping up with the ... trains for two
or three miles,” Stiles wrote of the line—and the railroad’s passage through a long tunnel near South Ferry limited
its number of passenger stops and “made the local patronage very meager.” (Stiles, 420, as cited in Crown Heights
North Historic District Designation Report).



act authorizing the appointment of commissioners to lay out streets, avenues, and squares in the city of
Brooklyn”; ratified in 1839, their plan extended the city’s street grid to Brooklyn’s outer sections,
including the Ninth Ward, which Bedford was within. Although, as David Ment and Mary S. Donovan
explain, “the mapping of city streets through the fields and woods of Dutch farmers did not mean that the
streets would be opened immediately ... it did signify the public expectation of the eventual urbanization
of the area and established a structure within which future development would take place.”’

The new railroad faced stiff competition from stagecoach, or omnibus, lines. In the 1830s, an old
carryall, or small carriage, made two trips a day from Bedford to Fulton Ferry by way of the Jamaica
Turnpike; in the 1840s, a new line using omnibuses and sleighs opened between Clinton Avenue and
Fulton Ferry, and it was soon extended to Bedford.

Omnibuses were soon supplemented, and largely supplanted by, horsecars, the horse-drawn
precursors to electric trolleys. Horsecar service was frequent and relatively fast, with cars from Bedford
reaching Fulton Ferry within 30 minutes. Brooklyn’s pioneering horsecar company, the Brooklyn City
Railroad, was founded in 1853, and it soon established four lines radiating outward from Fulton Ferry,
including one along current-day Fulton Street, through Bedford, to East New York. As residential
development increased, the Fulton Street line would be joined in succeeding years by additional horsecar
lines that, by the 1870s, would form a “dense transit network™ linking western Bedford with other
Brooklyn ferries.’* Among these was the Williamsburgh and Flatbush Railroad, organized in 1866, which
traveled through the neighborhood along Nostrand Avenue on its way to the Williamsburg waterfront.

As stage and horsecar lines improved access to Bedford, the area began to take on a suburban
character. By the mid-1850s, many freestanding country houses, or villas, stood on spacious lots east and
south of the former town center. The suburban lifestyle was well established in Brooklyn by 1854, when
an ad in the New York Times described Bedford as having “First class improvements...elegant and costly
dwellings. ..convenient and easy of access of New York...a remarkably healthy and pleasant part of the
city of Brooklyn.”*® Some of the residents of the villas in Bedford were businessmen Montgomery Queen
and Charles C. Betts, the first secretary of the Brooklyn City Railroad.

Bedford-Stuyvesant’s development reflects the mid-19"-century political division of the City of
Brooklyn into “wards.” In about 1854, when the area of Bedford east of Bedford Avenue, as well as
Williamsburg and Bushwick, were incorporated into the city, the newly added portion of Bedford became
the ninth ward. From the 1850s through the 1860s, former farmlands were developed into a “countrified
suburb,” and Ward 9 was further subdivided as the areas increasing population necessitated. By 1873, the
land in today’s Bedford-Stuyvesant was comprised of all or part of four different wards. The area of the
Bedford Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic District, included parts of two wards: Ward
23, bounded by Bedford Avenue, Lafayette Avenue, Sumner Avenue (now Marcus Garvey Boulevard),
and Atlantic Avenue, and Ward 25, bounded by Sumner Avenue (now Marcus Garvey Boulevard,
Lafayette Avenue, Broadway, Saratoga Avenue, Atlantic Avenue, and Albany Avenue. According to an
article in the Brooklyn Daily Eagle, “this section of the city is improving with great rapidity...its growth
will very soon justify, on grounds of fairness, the division which has been made — if it does not at
present.””® These wards had the same boundaries between 1873 and 1898,*" the period when the bulk of
the building stock in the area was erected. By the late 1860s, most of the current street names were in

! David Ment and Mary S. Donovan, The People of Brooklyn: A History of Two Neighborhoods (Brooklyn, N.Y :
Brooklyn Educational and Cultural Alliance, 1980), 15, as cited in Crown Heights North Historic District
Designation Report.

'8 Ment and Donovan, 16, as cited in Crown Heights North Historic District Designation Report.

¥ New York Times (April 1, 1854) as quoted in Ment and Donovan, 23.
20 «The New Charter — Ward Divisions,” Brooklyn Daily Eagle (July 8, 1873), 2.

2! Ward boundary changes were made c.1898 when Brooklyn was consolidated into the City of Greater New York;
in 1912, the ward system was abandoned for Council Districts.
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place. Most of them are associated with historical figures, such as former governors of New York State
(Stuyvesant, Tompkins and Throop) and seamen of the War Of 1812 (Chauncey, Decatur, Mac Donough
and Macon).”

One of the oldest surviving houses in the district expansion is the two-story, freestanding
Italianate style residence at 544 Halsey Street, which appears to have been constructed in the mid-19th
century and moved to its current location in the late 1880s. The wood frame house’s L-shaped footprint,
angled oriel, projecting porch, bracketed cornice, and cupola are characteristics typical of suburban
houses of the period. More modest, freestanding Italianate style houses are located at 316 Decatur Street
and 329 Stuyvesant Avenue. Also, constructed of wood, these houses are more altered than 544 Halsey
Street, but retain some characteristic features, such as molded window and door surrounds and bracketed
cornices.

Urban Growth®

Although Brooklyn’s population quadrupled to about 400,000 between 1850 and 1870, the
Bedford Stuyvesant area developed slowly. In the 1870s, development picked up in the area as
construction on the Brooklyn Bridge progressed. While Brooklyn’s numerous ferries and horsecar lines
had opened new areas of the city to development, its growth had been limited by the unreliability of the
ferries, which often stopped running during bad weather and could shut down for days at a time when the
East River was frozen. The bridge was seen as the ultimate answer to the ferries’ shortcomings.

Although the construction of suburban villas contributed to a population increase and changed the
community from farmers and farm-laborers to mainly middle-class, white-collar residents, it was the
construction of row houses that caused the urbanization of formerly-rural Bedford. In the 1870s,
development in Bedford began to intensify as construction on the Brooklyn Bridge progressed and the
public—including real estate owners, brokers, developers, and prospective homeowners—anticipated its
opening.

In January of 1870, ground was broken for the east tower of the Brooklyn Bridge. Boosters
predicted that the opening of the bridge would make Brooklyn the biggest city in the country, if not the
world; “property values would soar.... Everybody would benefit. Brooklyn was already expanding like a
boomtown, and the bridge was going to double the pace, the way steam ferries had. Merchants could
expect untold numbers of new customers as disaffected New Yorkers flocked across the river to make
Brooklyn their home.””

With the Brooklyn Bridge under construction, land in Bedford became more valuable for denser
development and an increasingly attractive location for speculative row houses. In anticipation of the
bridge, the construction of rows of attached houses, beginning in the early 1870s, began a new, intensified

22 Two streets were renamed in the late-20th century. Reid Avenue, named for local land owner Phillip Reid,
became Malcolm X Boulevard in 1985 in honor of the Civil Rights activist and author and Sumner Avenue, which
was named for an pre-Civil War Abolitionist, in 1987 became Marcus Garvey Boulevard, after the minister and
Civil Rights advocate.

2 This section is based on the following: LPC, Crown Heights North Historic District (LP-2204) (New York: City
of New York, 2007); Crown Heights North Il Historic District Designation Report (LP-2361) (New York: City of
New York, 2011); Survey Report: Bedford-Stuyvesant (Community Board 3) Brooklyn. Sources for this section
include Ment and Donovan; Map of the City of Brooklyn (New York: M. Dripps, 1869); G. W. Bromley, Atlas of the
City of Brooklyn, New York (Philadelphia: Bromley, 1880); Elisha Robinson, Robinson’s Atlas of the City of
Brooklyn, New York (New York: E. Robinson, 1886); and Hugo Ullitz, Atlas of the Brooklyn Borough of the City of
New York (New York: Hyde & Co., 1898-99).

 In the Bedford-Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic District, an early horse car extended along
Tompkins Avenue with a depot at Fulton Street; later, trolley lines ran along Throop, Reid (how Malcolm X
Boulevard), and Halsey Streets.

% David McCullough, The Great Bridge (New York: Simon & Schuster, 1972), 25, as cited in Crown Heights North
Historic District Designation Report.
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phase of development in Bedford. While, like other suburbs, Bedford’s “popularity as a middle-class
[suburban] community led to rapid development and the loss of its former countrified atmosphere,” its
“status as a fashionable residential district was maintained and enhanced during the brownstone-building
phase.”?® The 23™ and 25™ Wards developed as residential wards— there were no major industries located
there during the late 19" century — although many shops were located on some of the busier
thoroughfares. Establishing many of today’s streetscapes, rows of houses were constructed in the 1870s
and 1880s, ranging from modest, two-story homes for the middle class to larger, stone mansions for
wealthier residents.

The Kings County Elevated Railway inaugurated service between Fulton Ferry and Nostrand
Avenue in April of 1888. The line, which ran through Bedford along Fulton Street, was extended
eastward to Utica Avenue in May and to East New York by the end of 1889. It terminated close to the
Brooklyn Bridge, which had opened in 1883. There, a transfer station to the bridge’s cable railway was
installed. The arrival of the Fulton Street EI pushed row house development to the eastern edge of the 23"
Ward, as well as into surrounding areas.

At the same time that the neighborhood was becoming more urbanized, Bedford became the
location for a number of institutions, including hospitals, schools, orphanages and asylums. As former
suburban estates came on the real estate market, the associated mansions or large tracts of land provided
ideal locations for the establishment of institutions, which blended with the surrounding buildings in this
prominent neighborhood. The Brooklyn Nursery, established in 1870 to care for the children whose
parents could not support them, moved to Herkimer Street in 1885 and shortly after, the Nursery
established a hospital on the site. Other institutions included: the Brooklyn Orphan Asylum and the St.
John’s Hospital complex, as well as St. Mary’s Hospital and the Hebrew Orphan Asylum, located farther
east. Additionally, Girls’ High School (1885-86), located at 475 Nostrand Avenue, and Boys’ High
School (1891-92), located at 832 Marcy Avenue, both designated New York City Landmarks, were
constructed in Bedford’s 23" Ward.

Transit improvements continued in the 1890s. Streetcar travel became increasingly attractive with
the conversion of horsecars to electric trolleys beginning in 1892; by 1895, many of Brooklyn’s old
horsecar lines had been electrified. In 1898, the year in which Brooklyn merged with the other four
boroughs to form greater New York City, several trolley lines inaugurated direct service over the
Brooklyn Bridge to Park Row in Manhattan, and later that year, the first electrified Kings County
Railway train crossed the Brooklyn Bridge. By this time, the trolley lines through the area were complete,
including north to south lines along Tompkins, Sumner (Marcus Garvey), and Reid (Malcolm X)
Avenues and east to west along Halsey Street.

Building Types
Single-Family Row Houses?’

By far, the most of the dwellings in the Bedford Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights
Historic District are single-family row houses. Most of these were erected by developers for investment
purposes in groups varying in length from three houses to entire blockfronts. The houses were intended
for sale or rent to the affluent families who were moving to the area in ever-increasing numbers.
Frequently, the developers were also the builders, or hired builders or architect/builders to erect the rows.
Some of the earliest rows in the Bedford area were constructed in the 1870s in the western section of the
area. Curtis L. North, an agent with the New York Life Insurance Company, built two long rows of

% Ment and Donovan, 26 and 28.

2T LPC, This section was adapted from: Clinton Hill Historic District Designation Report (LP-2017), (New York:
City of New York, 1981).
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Italianate style houses on the north side of Mac Donough Street in 1872.% North’s example was quickly
followed by other investors and by neighborhood speculative builders who continued the development
along Mac Donough Street.?® These row house examples, found in the previously-designated Stuyvesant
Heights Historic District, are representative of the development throughout the 23" and 25" Wards. Most
of the row houses in the district extension are two to four stories in heights, above raised basements.
Many of them include attic stories, either below low pitched roofs or behind mansards. Sometimes, the
attic windows are incorporated into the cornices. The row houses were generally 12 to 25 feet wide with
front areaways and generous rear yards. Most have front stoops of varying heights and configurations.

Flats Buildings and Two-Family Houses™®

As the area that was to become the Bedford Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic
District attracted more residents, developers started constructing flats buildings. According to Stiles, by
1880 there was a great demand for apartment houses, or flats buildings, in the Bedford area to house a
growing number of factory workers.*! Flats buildings are four-story walk-ups housing one or two families
per floor, and feature elegantly detailed facades that project a luxurious aura. Many of these buildings
were designed by the same architects who were designing freestanding and single-family row houses in
the Stuyvesant Heights Historic District. Examples of flats buildings in the historic district expansion
include 7 Decatur Street, designed by Augustus W. Blazo and built in 1888, and 291 and 293 Stuyvesant
Avenue, designed by Axel Hedman and built in 1898.

For those unable to afford a private home, owning a two-family row house provided an
alternative to renting a flat. Flats buildings took root in Brooklyn in the early 1890s, and was well-
established by the middle of the decade. The main appeal was affordability; owners could occupy the first
floor while renting out the upper story to help cover the house’s mortgage and other expenses. There were
other advantages as well, according to the Brooklyn Eagle, which explained that two-family houses were
“particularly attractive to people who desire comparatively small apartments, but who object to living in
flats, and they appeal to this class on account of their being more quiet, and possibly, more exclusive.”*
They were also attractive to developers, as they could be built quickly and easily. Differing little from
traditional single-family row houses, they were exempt from the city’s tenement regulations, which only
applied to dwellings housing three families or more. In Brooklyn, two-family houses generally resembled
single-family row houses, except that they tended to be two, rather than three stories high. Both families
entered through the same first-floor entrance and passed through a vestibule before entering a hallway
with stairs to the second floor; each floor had a parlor, dining room, bathroom, one or two bedrooms, and
a kitchen, although in some cases, the owner’s kitchen was located in the basement. Examples of two-
family houses in the Bedford Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic District include 606 to
614A Halsey Street, designed by Hugo Smith and built in 1897, and 36 to 44 Decatur Street, designed by
Louis Berger & Co. and built in 1907.

28111 through 127 and 221-247 McDonough Street are located in the designated Stuyvesant Heights Historic
District. LPC, Stuyvesant Height Historic District Designation Report (LP-0695), (New York: City of New York,
1971), 8.

 Two speculative builders, Arthur Taylor and John Fraser, were particularly active. Nos. 118-128 Mac Donough
Street, a superbly-decorated row of six neo-Grec houses, were erected in 1886 by Taylor, who lived at 409 Herkimer
Street within the ward. Fraser’s early work in the area began in 1885 at 90-104 Mac Donough Street, eight row
houses constructed in the neo-Grec style.

% This section was adapted from on the following: LPC, Crown Heights North Historic District (LP-2204).

% Stiles, 832.

%2 “Realty Market in a More Hopeful Condition,” Brooklyn Daily Eagle, September 21, 1901, 15.
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Apartment Houses®

As development intensified in the Bedford Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic
District, a number of multiple dwellings were built to house the growing numbers of middle-class
families. Apartment buildings in the district answered an increasing desire for relatively small
apartments of four to six rooms. One real estate agent, in a 1910 article on apartment house
construction in Brooklyn, offered an explanation for this trend: “Changed conditions in living,
transportation, and the call to the country have all combined toward lessening the demand for large
private homes.”* Other factors cited in the article included smaller families, newly married couples
establishing their own households at the outset rather than initially living with parents, and the increasing
costs of employing household help, referred to as the “servant problem.” “What is more natural as a
starter th213151 an apartment,” the realtor opined, continuing, “(I) it is either this or a modest home in the
suburbs.”

Examples of apartment houses in the Bedford Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic
District include 372 Lewis Avenue (aka 405-409 Macon Street), which was designed by architect W.T.
McCarthy and built in 1914, and 575 Hancock Street, designed by the Cohn Brothers architectural firm
and built in 1920.

Churches, Institutional, and Commercial Buildings®

In addition to residential buildings, the Bedford Stuyvesant-Expanded Stuyvesant Heights
Historic District includes a number churches and schools, as well as a public library. The Tompkins
Avenue Presbyterian Church building (now occupied by the Stuyvesant Heights Christian Church) at 61-
73 Mac Donough Street, aka 458-468 Tompkins Avenue was built ¢.1873-74. The original congregation
was founded in 1869 to serve the area’s growing population of Presbyterians. At the time of the opening
of a temporary church on the site in 1870, plans were already in the works for construction of the present
structure. The Brooklyn Eagle described the church’s location as being on the outskirts of the city
surrounded by farms and fields.®” The Tompkins Avenue Presbyterian Congregation ceased to exist
following the loss of the church through foreclosure in 1875.

The Herkimer Street Baptist Church building (how occupied by the Bethany Baptist Church) was
built at 141-147 Decatur Street in 1888, replacing the congregation’s original church at Herkimer Street
and Troy Avenue. At about the same time, the Tompkins Avenue Congregational Church, Sunday
School, and Parsonage were built, forming one of district expansion’s most impressive church complexes.
The congregation was established in 1875 across the street at what had been the Tompkins Avenue
Presbyterian Church at 69 Mac Donough Street, which was available due to its foreclosure. By 1888, the
Congregationalists had outgrown that building and began planning a new, larger complex located on land
that the church purchased across the street at 58 Mac Donough Street. The new Tompkins Avenue
Congregational Church’s seating capacity was twice that of the previous building and was considered one
of largest religious buildings in the New York area when it was completed.®

By the late 1880s, the area’s population was increasing very rapidly, and the need for new houses
of worship for all denominations was intense. This parish of the Holy Rosary Roman Catholic Church
was founded in 1889 and led by Rev. Father D. Monteverde as rector. The first services were held on the

* This section was adapted from the following: LPC, Crown Heights North Historic District (LP-2204).

% «Brooklyn’s Apartment House Development Active on the Heights and Prospect Park,” New York Times, August
28, 1910, X10.

* Ibid.

% This section was adapted from LPC, Crown Heights North Historic District (LP-2204), and includes the following
additional sources: "13 New Schools Ready for Use," New York Times, August 28, 1927, p. E2; "Ground is Broken
at School Project,"” New York Times, September 13, 1946, 9; Hugo Ullitz, Atlas of the Brooklyn Borough of the
City of New York, 1898-99, plate 23.

¥ Brooklyn Eagle (Dec. 23, 1870), 2.

% Brooklyn Eagle (June 9, 1875), 4; (Oct. 1, 1888), 1; (Jan. 7, 1889), 4.
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second floor of a frame building on Fulton Street . The cornerstone of the present building at 139
Chauncey Street was laid in October of 1889, and the completed church was dedicated five years later, on
October 7th, 1894. In February 1934, two children were playing with matches inside the church and
started a fire that destroyed the front portion of the building. By 1935 approximately $10,000 had been
spent on repairs to the church and a new facade had been erected, designed by architect Thomas H.
Irving, a prolific architect of Roman Catholic churches, schools, and associated buildings.*® The Grace
Presbyterian Church building (now occupied by the Bridge Street A.W.M.E. Church) was founded in
1888 and at first held services at a private house, where it immediately began planning its new edifice at
279 Stuyvesant Avenue. According to the Brooklyn Eagle, the newly-formed congregation was growing
beyond all expectations. The new church building was completed in 1890.%

In many instances, educational facilities were built in association with these churches, such as
Sunday schools at the Tompkins Avenue Presbyterian Church (now the Stuyvesant Heights Christian
Church) and the Tomkins Avenue Congregational Church; both of these school buildings were built at the
about the same time and in similar styles as their related churches. Holy Rosary Church constructed a
parochial grammar school at 180 Bainbridge Street in 1921.

There are also two public school complexes in the district expansion. Stephen Decatur Junior
High School was originally organized in 1873 as Public School No. 35, and occupied a building facing
Lewis Avenue between MacDonough and Decatur streets. In 1890, an annex building was constructed on
Decatur Street to the west of the original school house. In 1926, a second annex was constructed, this one
designed by William H. Gompert, the Superintendent of School Buildings for the Board of Education.
Both the original schoolhouse and the first annex were demolished to make way for the 1946-47 school
building , which was constructed as a large addition to the 1926 annex and designed by architect Eric
Kebbon, Gompert’s successor. Public School 262 (now the EI Hajj Malik el-Shabazz School) was built by
the Board of Education in 1959.*

The vacant lot at 392 Mac Donough Street originally contained the buildings of the Hebrew
Orphan Asylum, which was built in 1881-83 to the designs of the noted architect, Theobold Engelhardt.
By 1904, however, the orphanage had become St. Paul’s Swedish Church, and until about 1970, it
remained the only church for miles around where services were conducted in Swedish. The building was
demolished in 1972.%

The Brooklyn Public Library constructed its Macon Branch in 1904-07 at 361-371 Lewis
Avenue. A number of commercial buildings were also constructed in the historic district expansion,
mainly in the early and mid-20th century. A two-story taxpayer type building with apartments on the
second floor was built at 339 Macon Street (aka 412-422 Marcus Garvey Boulevard) in 1921. The two-
story commercial building at 485-487 Tompkins Avenue is the result of an alteration in 1949-50 in which
two buildings dating from 1888 were combined, reduced in height, and given a completely-new unified
facade.

% «Church of the Most Holy Rosary,” New York Times, October 8, 1894, 9; “Boy and Girl at Play in Brooklyn
Church Set $10,000 Fire with Matches from Shrine,” New York Times, February 3, 1934, 30.

“° Brooklyn Eagle (March 16, 1890), 17; (Sep. 20, 1890), 4. The original church was a 47-foot-wide, Romanesque
Revival style structure with a steep central gable and a truss roof, fronting on Stuyvesant Avenue and located on the
southern portion of the lot. The original structure was incorporated into the present church when it was enlarged
around 1907; the main facade of the original church was completely altered to harmonize with the new church's
Gothic design. Sources: NB and alterations files; "A Chapel for a Brooklyn Church," New York Times, May 21,
1890, 4; "Grace Preshyterian Chapel," New York Times, February 16, 1891, 8; and Chas. T. Mott, Ed., Catalogue of
the Seventh Architectural Exhibition of the Brooklyn Chapter, American Institute of Architects (Brooklyn Chapter
of the American Institute of Architects, 1907).

1 A large number of masonry row houses were demolished for the construction of school.

*2 New York City Department of Buildings, Building Information System database, Demo 765-1972.
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Parks and Playgrounds™®

Fulton Park, which occupies a triangular block bounded by Fulton Street, Stuyvesant Avenue, and
Chauncey Street, was named for the steamboat captain, Robert Fulton. It was created through a plan
initiated in 1902 by Brooklyn Borough President J.E. Swanstrom. The land was purchased by the city
through condemnation in 1904 at a cost of $308,174.16 , and scores of houses were demolished to make
way for the park beginning in May 1905. By the end of that year the park had been planted and seeded.
The park comfort station, designed by Helmle & Huberty and located at the eastern end of the triangular
park, was completed in 1908. In 1930 a statue of Robert Fulton was placed in the park through the efforts
of the Society of Old Brooklynites, who recovered the statue from a storage space after it had been
removed from its original location on the Brooklyn waterfront. Originally commissioned in 1872 by
residents of Brooklyn Heights and installed near the Fulton Ferry House at the terminus of Fulton Street,
the zinc statue was created by Bohemian-born sculptor Caspar Buberl (1834-1899) and depicts Fulton
holding a model of the Nassau, the first steam ferry between Brooklyn and Manhattan . Buberl was a
well-known American sculptor whose prominent works include the Civil War Frieze (1883) on the former
Pension Building in Washington, D.C., the Confederate Memorial (1889) in Alexandria, Virginia, and the
bronzework of the New York State Monument at Gettysburg, Pennsylvania. In 1935 the Parks
Department carried out repairs and restoration of the statue, but by 1955 it had become so deteriorated
that a new bronze replica was cast and the statue reinstalled on a new granite base. The original zinc
statue is now held in the collections of the Museum of the City of New York. The landscaping of Fulton
Park was restored and enhanced with new decorative paving between 1997 and 1998 as part of a Parks
Department capital campaign.**

Decatur Playground, located on Chauncey Street between Lewis Avenue and Stuyvesant Avenue,
was acquired by the City in 1941 and opened in 1942. Renovated in 1997, it includes a tennis court, a
pear tree grove, and a community garden. El Shabazz Playground, located on Mac Donough Street
between Malcolm X Boulevard and Stuyvesant Avenue, was named for the civil rights leader El Hajj
Malik el-Shabazz (1925-1965), also known as Malcolm X. The City acquired this site in 1959 and was
opened in 1963 as the P.S. 262 Playground, which it jointly operated with the Board of Education. The
school was renamed the El Hajj Malik el-Shabazz School in the 1980s, and the name of the playground
was changed accordingly. The playground includes athletic courts and equipment, as well as a comfort
station. The playground was renovated in 2001.

Building Styles

The Bedford Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic District contains buildings
designed in many of the popular architectural styles of the late 19th and early 20th centuries, including
Italianate, neo-Grec, Romanesque Revival, Renaissance Revival, and Queen Anne. Many were designed
by established and well-known architects, like Montrose Morris, Isaac D. Reynolds, Amzi Hill, Theobold
Engelhardt, Louis Berger & Co., William Field & Son, and Axel Hedman, as well as lesser-known
architects and builders, including Essex Roberts, designer of the row houses at 569 to 573 Halsey Street,

*® Information in this section is based on information on Fulton Park, Decatur Playground, and El Shabazz
Playground accessed in January 2013 at the New York City Department of Parks and Recreation website:
http://www.nycgovparks.org/parks.

* The City of New York, Department of Parks, “Report for the Year 1904” (New York: Martin B. Brown Co.,
Printers and Stationers, 1905) (Accessed online: December 3, 2012); The City of New York, Department of Parks,
“Report for the Year 1905” (New York: Martin B. Brown Co., Printers and Stationers, 1906) (Accessed online:
December 3, 2012); “Dead Sculptor’s Noted Works,” New York Times, August 24, 1899, 7; Joyce L. McDaniel,
“Caspar Buberl: The Pension Building Civil War Frieze and Other Washington, D.C. Sculpture,” Records of the
Columbia Historical Society, vol. 50 (1980), pp. 309-344 (Accessed online: December 3, 2012); L.H. Robbins, “A
City Statue’s Lot is Not a Happy One,” New York Times, August 23, 1936, SM 12; Robert Moses, “Mr. Moses
Surveys the City Statues,” New York Times, November 21, 1943, SM18.
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who was a carpenter by trade as well as an ordained Baptist minister of African descent. A number of
these architects also lived or had offices in Bedford-Stuyvesant, including Walter F. Clayton, Frederick B.
Langston, John L. Young, Amzi Hill, and Elihu J. Granger.

Italianate, Second Empire, Victorian Gothic and Neo-Grec Style Houses®

The Italianate style of architecture was popular from about 1840 through at least the 1870s. Row
houses in the Italianate style are characterized by elaborate projecting ornament with an emphasis on
repetitive forms; high stoops with elaborate cast-iron handrails, balusters, fences and newels; deeply
recessed doorways with heavy protruding door hoods and console brackets; round-headed double-leaf
doors with heavily molded arched panels; large double-hung windows; heavy, projecting stone window
lintels and sills; and heavy, projecting cornices, embellished with moldings and supported by rectangular
or scroll-shaped brackets. The row of houses at 267 to 287 Macon Street, built in 1872-73, are typical of
the use of the Italianate style within the Bedford Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic
District. These three-bay-wide houses are feature Italianate style details, such as pedimented door hoods
supported by large scrolled brackets, segmentally-arched window openings with molded and bracketed
lintels, and projecting cornices with frieze panels and dentils.

The neo-Grec style, which originated in Paris in the 1840s and was brought to the United States
by Richard Morris Hunt, began to appear in New York after the Civil War. “In a reaction to the round
forms and foliate ornament of the ... Italianate style,” Charles Lockwood explains, “the forms and details
of the neo-Grec row house took on a regularity and precision thought to be expressive of an increasingly
mechanized and industrial society.”*® Classical motifs were symbolized and abstracted instead of
imitated; one of the style’s distinguishing features was its novel use of incised ornament, made possible
by advances in stoneworking tools, which included stylized rosettes and vines, as well as channeling
known as “neo-Grec fluting.” Nos. 284 to 288 Stuyvesant Avenue (1880-81, James P. Miller, builder) are
exceptionally intact examples of the style, retaining their heavy main-entrance surrounds with incised
fluting, large, angular brackets, and triangular pediments, as well as their cast-iron newel posts, bracketed
window surrounds, and original wood cornices. The houses at 348 to 352 Decatur Street are unusual in
that their cornices have projecting center sections, producing an atypically irregular roofline for a neo-
Grec style row. The popularity of the neo-Grec style began to fade in the 1880s, but it continued to
persevere in Brooklyn through the end of the decade, and in 1888, a late neo-Grec style apartment house,
designed by local architect Augustus W. Blazo, was built at 7 Decatur Street. The building’s brick facade
displays much simpler neo-Grec style detailing than the earlier houses, including bracketed door and
window lintels and a molded, pressed-metal cornice.

The Second Empire style, which was at its height in the 1860s and 1870s, shared many
characteristics with the Italianate and neo-Grec styles.*” A Second Empire style row was built in the
expanded historic district at 340A to 346 Decatur Street in 1873-75. *® Although all of these wood-frame
houses have been covered with non-historic sidings, some original features have survived, including
hooded porches at 340A and 342, molded door hood and lintels at 342, bracketed cornices at 340A to

*® The section was adapted from LPC, Crown Heights North 11 Historic District Designation Report and Park Slope
Historic District Extension Designation Report (LP-2443) (New York: City of New York, 2012).

% Charles Lockwood, Bricks and Brownstone: The New York Town House, 1783-1929 (New York: Rizzoli
International, 2003), 227.

*" For an overview of Second Empire style residential architecture, see Virginia and Lee McAlester, A Field Guide
to American Houses (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 2006), 240-53. A major contributor to the stylishness and
popularity of the Second Empire style in the late 1860s and early 1870s was the mansard-roofed A.T. Stewart
mansion (John Kellum, 1864-69, demolished) at Fifth Avenue and 34™ Street; popularly called the Marble Palace,
it was New York City’s “first residential showplace.” See Robert A.M. Stern, Thomas Mellins, and David
Fishman, New York 1880: Architecture and Urbanism in the Gilded Age (New York: Monacelli Press, 1999), 572.

8 No. 344A Decatur Street has been demolished and is now a vacant lot.
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344, original mansard roofs—the defining feature of the Second Empire style—on all of them, and
pedimented dormers at 342 and 344,

The Victorian Gothic style was popular from 1860 to 1890. The distinguishing characteristics of
this style are usually polychromatic exterior finishes and the juxtaposition of differing textures, creating
decorative bands, highlighting corners, arches, and arcades. The Stuyvesant Heights Christian Church
(originally the Tompkins Avenue Presbyterian Church; 61-73 Mac Donough Street, aka 458-468
Tompkins Avenue), built ¢.1873-74, was designed by architect George Hathorne in a somewhat
simplified interpretation of the Victorian Gothic style, featuring a five-bay-wide entryway portico with a
sloping roof supported by slender columns, pointed arches, buttressed towers topped by battlements,
broadly sloping roof with gabled dormers, and sandstone banding. The site includes a Sunday school
building and a parsonage that are similar in style; they appear to have been built around the same time as
the church.

The Romanesque Revival and Queen Anne Styles*

The Romanesque Revival and Queen Anne styles were popular from around 1880 to the turn of
the 20th century. These styles exhibit a greater freedom in their form and massing than the neo-Grec;
certain motifs, such as the juxtaposition of rough-faced stone with smooth stone and brick, along with
heavy round arches, stone transom bars, dwarf columns, towers, and turrets, are seen on many of the
houses built in these styles, where they are combined with other decorative elements in an endless variety
of ways. Houses built in the Romanesque Revival style are generally more severe in their massing than
the more asymmetrical and picturesque Queen Anne style houses. The former often have a fortress-like
appearance that is relieved by the ornate decorative treatment of their facades, while the latter tend to mix
materials, textures, and colors in a freer manner. The Queen Anne style, which blends Elizabethan cottage
architecture with Tudor, Gothic, and Renaissance influences, often makes use of classical design forms,
while the Romanesque Revival, which draws upon Western European architecture of the 10th, 11th, and
12th centuries, frequently incorporates Medieval-inspired ornament.

The Bedford Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic District contains many notable
Queen Anne style buildings. The row of houses at 278 to 290 Macon Street (1888, Thomas F. Houghton)
displays many typical Queen Anne style characteristics, such as rough-faced stonework, metal-clad oriels
featuring classical details, foliated panels, and bracketed cornices decorated with dentils, rosettes, and
angular panels. The three-building row at 135 to 139 Decatur Street (1890, John L. Young, architect) is
arranged in an A-B-A pattern with both end houses having facades with angular bays that flank the flat
facade of the center house. These Queen Anne Style buildings feature rough-faced brownstone ashlar,
transom window sash above wide rails, and bracketed cornices (incorporating the attic windows) topped
by gables containing sunbursts.

The four houses at 88 to 94 Decatur Street (c.1889, Sibell & Miller, architects) form an excellent
example of the Romanesque Revival style as applied to row house design. The two end houses are mirror
images of each, as are the two center buildings, thereby creating a symmetrically composed ensemble.
The row is further characterized by broadly arched entryways, rough-faced rustication, large brackets at
the entryways, and bracketed cornices with foliation. The Romanesque Revival style apartment houses
with ground-floor stores at 404 to 410 Marcus Garvey Boulevard, designed by Henry Vollweiler and built
in 1896 feature rough-faced stone detailing, such as voussoirs, bands, and keystones; the Halsey Street
facade of 404 has a tripartite entryway portico with a broad archway with a rough-faced architrave
flanked by Corinthian columns.

The Romanesque Revival style was widely used for religious and institutional, as well as
for residential, architecture. Dominating the west side of Tompkins Avenue between MacDougal Street
and Fulton Street, the former Tomkins Avenue Congregation Church, Sunday School, and Parsonage
complex represents one of district expansion’s most impressive examples of Romanesque Revival
architecture. Constructed in 1888-89, it was designed by George Chappell, the architect of some of

* The section was adapted from LPC, Crown Heights North 11 Historic District Designation Report.
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Brooklyn’s finest late-19™ century buildings. It was one of largest religious buildings in the New York
area when it was completed.* The building’s main fagade consists of a central nave section with a
projecting portico and three broadly-arched openings that are echoed in the large, arched windows
directly above. The facade is anchored by two corner towers, the eastern one being the taller of the two.
The red-brick facades are enlivened by its gabled roofline, blind arcades, hipped roofs, and open arches at
the bell tower. The school and parsonage echo the churches design in terms of materials and detailing,
and together, they form an extremely cohesive and impressive ensemble.

The neo-Romanesque style, which used much more simplified and streamlined Romanesque
forms, became popular in the early to mid 20th century, especially in the design of buildings for the
Roman Catholic Church. The Holy Rosary Roman Catholic Church at 139 Chauncey Street, which was
originally built in 1889, was severely damaged by a fire in the 1930s and was redesigned by architect
Thomas H. Irving in the neo-Romanesque style. Its major characteristics include a shallow, central
portico supported by Roman columns, round-arch entryways and fenestration, and a blind arcade at the
gable.

The Renaissance Revival Style™

The 1880s and 1890s saw the rise of the balanced and subdued, classically-inspired Renaissance
Revival style as a reaction to the picturesque Romanesque Revival and Queen Anne styles. The revival of
Renaissance-inspired forms in America began with the construction of McKim, Mead & White’s Villard
Houses (a designated New York City Landmark), based on Rome’s Palazzo della Cancelleria, on
Madison Avenue between 1882 and 1885. Chicago’s 1893 World’s Columbian Exposition played a major
role in making the public and architectural profession aware of the grandeur of Renaissance architecture
and planning, spurring the construction of classically inspired buildings across the country. The Bedford
Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic District contains numerous buildings and rows
constructed in the Renaissance Revival style, which enjoyed its greatest popularity in Brooklyn between
about 1890 and 1910.

Typically, Renaissance Revival style houses, which appear throughout Brooklyn’s late 19th and
early 20th century neighborhoods such as Park Slope, Prospect Heights, Bedford-Stuyvesant, and Sunset
Park, feature rhythmically placed rounded and angled bays, and classical detailing including cartouches,
swags, garlands, and other foliate ornament. Sometimes, these houses also feature balustraded front
terraces; frequently, they are faced with limestone, which recalls the white marble of classical
architecture, although many are faced with brownstone or brick ranging in color from light gray to deep
orange.

The well-preserved row houses at 146 to 154 Bainbridge Avenue (1898, Walter F. Clayton,
architect) feature full-height projecting bays, alternating between curved and angled, and a variety of
carved classical ornament, such as swags, shields, moldings, and brackets, that unifies the row. The group
is topped by bracketed, pressed-metal cornices with alternating frieze ornaments consisting of swags,
wreaths, and garlands. The Renaissance Revival style was also popular for the design of small apartment
houses, such as 359 Lewis Avenue (1905). Here, architect Benjamin Dreisler used a variety of classically-
inspired motifs, such as splayed lintels with keystones, paired columns supporting the entryway lintel,
molded window lintels and band courses, brick quoins, and a pressed-metal cornice decorated with
scrolled modillions, rosettes, dentils, swags, and cartouches. In addition, the Renaissance Revival style
was often used in residential buildings that were developed with commercial ground floors, such as 362 to
370 Lewis Avenue (1908, William Debus, architect). Although all of the original storefronts on the row
have been removed, the upper facades retain typical Renaissance Revival style elements, such as
coursed brick, molded lintels, bracketed sills, brick quoins, and molded pressed-metal cornices. An

*® Real Estate Record and Builders Guide (June 2, 1888), 706.

> The section was adapted from LPC, Crown Heights North 11 Historic District Designation Report.

%2 These storefronts would have typical featured cast-iron and wood columns, molded bulkheads, display windows
with molded frames, and pressed-metal cornices.
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unusual, marble-fronted trio of houses was constructed in 1886 at 326 to 328 Decatur Street. Designed by
John C. Bushfield in the Renaissance Revival style, they feature pilasters with carved capitals, scrolled
and foliated brackets, paneled spandrels, and bracketed cornices with dentils.*

As the Renaissance Revival style gained in popularity in the late 19th century, architects often
combined it with the still-fashionable Romanesque Revival style. Representative examples include the
exceptional row at 96 to 104 Decatur Street (1892, H. Olmsted & Sons, architects), which includes
Romanesque-inspired details such as rough-faced stone and rustication, label lintels with foliated
brackets, and brackets with masks and finials, combined with Renaissance Revival style pressed metal
cornices decorated with scrolled brackets, dentils, and frieze panels. A later row that mixes the two styles
is located at 36 to 44 Decatur Street (1907). They were designed by Louis Berger and Co., a prolific firm
that worked extensively in Brooklyn and Queens. These houses feature prominent Renaissance-inspired
pressed-metal cornices decorated with swags, wreaths, scrolled modillions, and egg-and-dart moldings, as
well as Romanesque-style foliated label lintels and keystones. Some of the rows were developed in styles
that alternate from one house to the next, such as 638 to 674 Macon Street (1891, Edwin S. Coy,
architect), which includes facades in the Romanesque Revival, Renaissance Revival, and Queen Anne
styles.

Other Styles
Many other architectural styles are found in the Bedford Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant

Heights Historic District. Architecture based on Gothic style influences, which first gained in popularity
in the 1830s for residential, religious, and public architecture, generally declined in popularity after 1860,
but continued to be widely employed in ecclesiastical and collegiate design well into the mid-20th
century. There are a number of Gothic Revival style church complexes in the Bedford
Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic District. The Herkimer Street Baptist Church (now the
Bethany Baptist Church) was built at 141-147 Decatur Street in 1888 to the designs of Albert V. Porter.
This building, which is faced in stone, has typical Gothic Revival style elements, such as pointed arch
fenestration with ribbed sash, gabled buttresses, and a crenellated tower. The Grace Presbyterian Church
(now the Bridge Street A.W.M.E. Church), at 279 Stuyvesant Avenue, originally built in 1890, was
enlarged and given a new Gothic Revival style facade in 1907; the architectural firm Leeming & Kirk
designed the new facade. Faced in buff-colored brick, this church features buttresses, a crenellated tower,
stone panels with cusps, and a picturesque roofline with gables and finials.

Collegiate Gothic gained popularity for school buildings in the late 19th century after renowned
institutions such as Princeton University and the University of Chicago constructed buildings in that style.
They typically displayed an abundance of medieval elements, such as towers, turrets, label moldings, drip
moldings, gargoyles, and buttresses. Architect C.B.J Snyder of the New York City Board of Education
has been credited with introducing the Collegiate Gothic style to school architecture in the city with his
designs for Curtis High School on Staten Island and Morris High School in the Bronx both New York
City Landmarks completed in 1904. In the Bedford Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic
District, the Holy Rosary Roman Catholic Church constructed a parochial grammar school at 180
Bainbridge Street in 1921 in a modest version of the style. Designed by the architectural firm Helmle &
Corbett, this brick school is characterized by its multi-story buttresses, recessed entryway under a broad,
pointed arch, and roof parapet with crockets.

As the 20th century approached, the Colonial Revival style was gaining in popularity. Although
this style has been traced back to 1828 and the completion of William Strickland’s new steeple for
Independence Hall, it began to flourish after Philadelphia’s 1876 Centennial Exhibition, where several
examples of early American buildings were constructed and displayed.> The Colonial Revival style was
used for many of the pavilions at the 1893 Columbian Exposition, which cemented it as one of the most

%% The cornice at 326 Decatur Street has been removed.
* Richard Guy Wilson, The Colonial Revival House (New York: H.N. Abrams, 2004), 15.
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popular styles in American architecture well into the mid-20th century. Generally, the Colonial Revival
style is based upon the architecture of America’s English colonies, although the Dutch Colonial Revival,
with its distinctive gambrel roof, was popular in New York and New Jersey, and the Spanish Colonial
Revival style spread throughout Florida and the western United States. Colonial Revival style buildings in
New York City generally feature red-brick facades, sometimes with projecting bays, set off by limestone
or other light-colored trim, which frequently includes splayed lintels with single or double keystones as
well as pilasters, pediments, swags, wreaths, and other details derived from classical architecture. In the
Bedford Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic District, there are several early 20th century
apartment buildings designed in the style. No. 372 Lewis Avenue (aka 405-409 Macon Street, was
designed by architect W.T. McCarthy and built in 1914. Called “Library Court,” presumably due to its
location across the street from the Macon Branch of the Brooklyn Public Library, this four story building
features typical Colonial Revival style detailing, such as Flemish bond brickwork, fanlight transom above
the main entryway, splayed brick window lintels, and brick diaperwork with diamond-shaped accent tiles.
No. 575 Hancock Street was designed by the Cohn Brothers architectural firm and built in 1920. The
building features a prominent frontispiece with flat pilasters, a molded architrave with ears, and a curved
pediment with dentils, as well as bracketed window sills, splayed keystones, and a stepped roof parapet
diaperwork and carved panels.

The rare Chateauesque style, which was inspired by the monumental chateaux of 16™-century
France, mixes Gothic elements with those of the early Renaissance. Perhaps the most striking apartment
house in the district expansion is the Chateauesque style apartment house at 79-81 Decatur Street, built in
1891, and designed by the prominent Brooklyn architect Montrose W. Morris. Its facade is riotous
combination of materials, shapes and forms that exemplify the Chateauesque style. Further, the building
is crowned by a turreted mansard roof with wall dormers and finials. Unusual Chateauesque style row
houses are found at 160 and 162 Bainbridge Street. Designed by Daniel B. Norris and built in 1892, these
buildings feature elaborate facade detailing, such as cartouches, foliation, ribbonwork, and intricate
moldings.

Named for the famous architectural school, the Ecole des Beaux Arts in Paris, the Beaux
Aurts style of architecture was brought to this country by the Americans who studied there. It
became popular in the United States at the end of the 19th century and in the early 20th century as
American tastes demanded more classical designs, encouraged by the architecture and planning displayed
at the World’s Columbian Exposition of 1893. Buildings in this style usually featured symmetrical
facades with prominently-placed and elaborate entryways, oversized and richly-executed ornament,
elaborate cornices, and mansard roofs, often with embellished dormer windows. The Brooklyn Public
Library constructed its Macon Branch in 1904-07 at 361-371 Lewis Avenue in a modest interpretation of
the style. The brick and limestone building was designed by Richard A. Walker of the architectural firm
Walker & Morris. The building features brick laid in Flemish bond, cheek walls terminating in obelisks,
limestone entrance surround with swag and cartouche, limestone window surrounds with stylized pilasters
supporting a limestone lintel course, double windows with stylized brackets in the mullions, brick frieze
with limestone plaque carved with Brooklyn Public Library, a denticulated cornice, and stone parapet
carved with Macon Branch above entrance.

Buildings in the Mediterranean Revival style, which was loosely based on Spanish, Italian, and
French architecture, typically featured light-colored stucco-clad facades, asymmetrical window
placement, arcaded loggias, and low pitched or hipped clay-tile roofs. The style was particularly popular
in warmer areas of the country such as California, Florida, and the Southwest, but many fine examples of
the style exist in New York City. The comfort station in the expanded historic district’s Fulton Park was
designed in the Mediterranean Revival style by the prominent architectural firm Helmle & Huberty and
was built in 1908.

The Arts and Crafts style of architecture was popular in America from 1905 to 1930. The style,
launched in England in the 1880s, celebrated handicrafts and encouraged the used of simple forms and
natural materials. In the United States, the style took on many variations and was often executed in
masonry in which the talents and inventiveness of the bricklayers and stone masons were on full display.

21



A handsome Arts and Crafts style, two-story taxpayer type building with apartments on the second floor
was built at 339 Macon Street (aka 412-422 Marcus Garvey Boulevard) in 1921. Designed by architect
Peter Millman, it features patterned brickwork, window sills in a continuous projecting stone band, header
brick lintels, accent stonework, and a stepped parapet with central, semi-circular gable.

The Utilitarian style, which was popular through the 20th century, is closely related to the
streamlined Art Moderne style, but is even sparser in the use of ornament and detailing, and was
frequently used for industrial and commercial buildings. The two-story commercial building at 485-487
Tompkins Avenue was the result of an alteration in 1949-50 in which two buildings dating from 1888
were combined, reduced in height, and given a completely-new, Utilitarian style facade. The building has
glass block windows, a central recessed brick panel, and a polished ceramic tile sign band.

Notable Residents of the Historic District Extension®

Throughout its history, a number of notable people, including many African-Americans, lived in
the Bedford-Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic District. They included those who were
active in the military, the arts, politics, education, religion, and business.

George R. Brown and his family resided at 465A Halsey Street from 1889 to the 1930s. Brown
was commander of the U. S. Grant Post 327 of the Grand Army of the Republic.® No. 464 Macon Street
was the home for many years of General William Chauncey Kibbe (c.1822-1904) and his wife Emma
Leonard Kibbe. Kibbe served as Adjutant General of California during the Civil War.>’ In the 1880s and
1890s, 445 Halsey Street was the home of Spanish-American war-era Brigadier General James McLeer
(1839-1922). He also held various political offices including that of postmaster of Brooklyn and deputy
tax commissioner. He and his family remained residents of Halsey Street until at least 1915, later moving
to 473 then 475.% During World War 11, John J. Godfrey of 432 Macon Street became the second African
American from Brooklyn to be named captain of a liberty ship.>

In 1910, 491 Halsey Street was the home of Orlando L. Cheeks, an artist, and his family. Cheeks,
who studied with William Merritt Chase, Kenyon Cox, and J. Alden Weir, had earlier taught drawing at
the Saint Paul School of Fine Arts in Minnesota.®® No. 447 Halsey Street was home of theatrical set
designer Charles Fletcher, known professionally as Charles De Flesch, from around 1908 until at least
1930. He also operated his De Flesh Scenic Studios at the Halsey Street address.®* The architect R[ichard]
Thomas Short (1869-?) of the prominent firm of Harde & Short, resided at 370 Macon Street between
1909 and 1920 or later. Harde & Short were well-known designers of residences and apartment buildings

*® Sources include: LPC, Survey Report: Bedford-Stuyvesant (Community Board 3) Brooklyn (1992); United States
Department of the Interior, National Park Service, “Stuyvesant Heights Historic District (Boundary Increase)
National Register of Historic Places Registration Form” (1996), prepared by Andrew S. Dolkart; and Quimby,
“Bedford-Stuyvesant,” 229-238.

% Brooklyn directories, 1889/90, 1897; "Geo. R. Brown, Commander of Grant Post, Dies," Brooklyn Daily Eagle,
June 11, 1932, 1; U. S. Census records 1900-1930.

>’ A Man of Many Careers,” Brooklyn Daily Eagle, January 26, 1904, n.p.; U. S. Census records, 1850, 1870,
1880, 1900.

>8 Brooklyn Directories, 1878-1897; "Brooklyn Guardsmen Must Be in Readiness," Brooklyn Daily Eagle, March
26, 1898, 1; "James McLeer," (http://www.14thbrooklyn.info/CMCLEER.HTM accessed Nov. 1, 2012); New York
State Census, 1915; U. S. Census records, 1860-1920.

% "Brooklyn Eagle 'Service Men's Digest of the Week'," Brooklyn Eagle, October 17, 1943, n.p. Liberty ships were
freighters that delivered wartime supplies to overseas troops.

80 »An Artists' Reception,” Saint Paul Daily Globe, January 16, 1895, p. 5; [Obituary], New York Herald, January
27,1912, 7; Burial Search: Green-Wood, http://www.green-wood.com (November 28, 2012).

81 [Advertisement], Variety, December 31, 1920, 24; Ancestry.com, New York, Index to Petitions for
Naturalizations filed in New York City, 1792-1989 [database on-line] Provo, UT: Ancestry.com Operations, 2007;
"The New Jefferson,” Auburn Citizen, December 27, 1912, n.p.; "Notes of Various Activities," New York Dramatic
Mirror, August 15, 1908, 13?; U. S. Census records, 1900-1930.
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in Manhattan. For over 20 years around the turn of the 20" century, 435 Macon Street was the home of
Hamilton Ormsbee (1854-1923), a reporter and later editorial writer for the Brooklyn Eagle.*

In 1882, 503 Halsey Street was home to Emily S. Butman (1843-1882) a soprano who for many
years performed as soloist with the New York Philharmonic.®® Opera singer and recitalist Minnie Dilthey
maintained a vocal studio at 461 Halsey Street between about 1908 and 1915. Ms. Dilthey had made her
New York operatic debut with the American Opera Company and also performed with the Metropolitan
Opera.®* From 1902 to 1905, 459 Halsey Street was the home of Chester H. Beebe (1874-19??) a well
regarded organist, piano teacher, and composer. In 1927 and 1928, he was the featured organ recitalist on
WOR radio.*”® Composer, lyricist and pianist Eubie Blake (1887-1983) and his wife, Marion Tyler Gant
(died 1982) owned and occupied 284A Stuyvesant Avenue from 1946 until his death. The house had been
inherited by Gant from her grandfather, Hiram S. Thomas, a celebrated African-American chef at the
Grand Union Hotel in Saratoga Springs, New York. He was also the inventor of the “Saratoga chip”, later
known as the potato chip.?® Joe Allston, a big band musician and conductor, was living at 328 Stuyvesant
Avenue in 1937.7

Andrew L. Martin a lawyer and Prohibition Party candidate for New York State Supreme Court
resided at 461 Halsey Street in the late 1890s.®® For many years from the late 1920s to 1944, 443 Macon
Street was the home of Robert P. and Fannie Perkins Hamlin. Mrs. Hamlin was the first African-
American kindergarten teacher in Brooklyn and was later appointed by the Board of Education as director
of kindergartens in Brooklyn public schools. Mr. Hamlin, the first African-American to graduate from the
Springfield YMCA College, was an executive with the Young Men’s Christian Assocation from 1911
until his death in 1944 .°°

For a few years at the end of the 19th century, 453 Halsey Street was owned by Rev. Dr. Philip
Aklis Hubert, a renowned preacher and educator. Born in Antigua (British West Indies) in 1860 he was
educated in Antigua and the French West Indies. For many years he served as financial secretary of
Livingstone College, a black college in Salisbury, N. C., traveling throughout the United States preaching
and raising money for the school. In 1909 he was consecrated Bishop of the United Christian Church.™
In the late 19th century, 522 Halsey Street became the home of James F. Thomas (1827-1911), who had

62 "Hamilton Ormsbee Dies,” NYT, November 2, 1923, 17; Lains Brooklyn Directory, 1897; " New York State
Census, 1892; U. S. Census records, 1900, 1920.

8% »Obituary Notes," New York Herald, May 28, 1882, 10; William Henry Van Benschoten, Concerning the Van
Bunschoten or Van Benschoten Family in America (West Park-on-Hudson, NY, 1907), 364.

8 “patrons of American Opera," NYT, December 29, 1885, 5; "Minnie Dilthey"
http://archives.metoperafamily.org/archives/scripts/cgiip.exe/Wservice=BibSpeed/gisrch2k.r?Ter... (November 1,
2012); "Pupils Gave a Musicale," Brooklyn Daily Eagle, April 5, 1908, 11.

% "Beebe, Chester H," (http://composers-classical-music.com/b/BeebeChesterH.htm, accessed November 9, 2012);
"Music Notes," Brooklyn Daily Eagle, September 27, 1902, p. 6; Advertisement, Brooklyn Daily Eagle, February
19, 1905, p. 5; "Chester H. Beebe," Brooklyn Daily Eagle Education Section, 1914, p. 34; "Tomorrow Morning on
the Radio," Brooklyn Daily Eagle, Aufuts 31, 1927, p. 4A; "The Microphone Will Present,” New York Times, April
1, 1928, p. 154.

% Al Rose, Eubie Blake (New York: Schirmer Books, 1979), 119.

87 Joe Allston Reviews His Uphill Climb to Success," New York Age, February 6, 1937, 1.

88 »T Lewis Doyle, 83, Teacher, Organist," Brooklyn Eagle, January 4, 1939, 13; U. S. Census records, 1900-30.
8 *Killed on Way to Bury Wife," New York Age, May 6, 1944, 1; "Mrs. Robert Hamlin, Negro Educator,"
Brooklyn Eagle, April 25, 1944, 7; Nina Mjagkij, Light in the Darkness: African Americans and the YMCA, 1852-
1946 (Lexington, KY: University Press of Kentuck, 1994), 136; U. S. Census records, 1910-1940.

0 "Bishop Philip Aklis Hubert," in Short Biographic Sketches of Eminent Negro Men and Women in Europe and
the United States with Brief Extracts from Their Writings and Public Utterances compiled and arranged by John
Edward Bruce (Yonkers, NY: Gazette Press, 1910), 99-100; "The Education ofa the Negro," Auburn (NY) Bulletin,
September 15, 1893, 4; "Real Estate Market," Brooklyn Eagle, August 17, 1898, 12; "The Real Estate Market,"
Brooklyn Eagle, September 14, 1900, 14; U. S. Census records, 1900.
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escaped from slavery and later became an executive with the banking firm of Fisk & Hatch. He remained
at the Halsey Street home until his death in 1922.™

African-American Churches’

The earliest African-American churches to be established in the Bedford area were in the
southeast section of the neighborhood in the late 19th and early 20th centuries. These included the Marion
Street Mission (1879), the Mission of the Central Congregational Church (1883), and St. John’s
Methodist Church (by 1904). Eventually, the area became home to some of Brooklyn’s oldest and most
prominent black congregations, which began to relocate to Bedford-Stuyvesant in the 1930s as their
growing memberships prompted the churches to look for larger quarters in Brooklyn’s then-fastest
growing African-American neighborhood.

The relocation of African-American congregants and churches to the Bedford-Stuyvesant area
was sometimes difficult. Many of the existing white congregations were not welcoming of black families,
making it imperative for blacks to establish their own houses of worship. Furthermore, many of the area’s
white residents also objected to blacks purchasing buildings for churches in the neighborhood. For
instance, when Grace Presbyterian Church, a white congregation, first attempted to sell their building at
279 Stuyvesant Avenue in 1937 to the Bethel African Methodist Episcopal Church, the sale was thwarted
by a public outcry from those who feared that the sale would “lower the status and value” of properties in
the area.” The controversy was revived a year later when plans were announced to sell Grace to the
Bridge Street African Wesleyan Methodist Episcopal Church. This time, however, the outcry was ignored
and the Br7i4dge Street A.W.M.E. Church was able to move to Bedford-Stuyvesant with much fanfare in
late 1938.

The Bridge Street African Wesleyan Methodist Episcopal Church had been incorporated in 1818
as the African Wesleyan Episcopal Church. The congregation has originally been part of the Sands Street
Methodist Church, which was organized in 1794 and included both Caucasian and African members. The
black members, however, were relegated to an “end gallery for colored people” and were charged over
ten dollars per quarter for support of the church”™ The black congregants eventually withdrew, forming
their own church, first located on High Street; in 1854, they purchased the First Free Congregational
Church (1846-47) at 311 Bridge Street, a designated Landmark. The Bridge Street A.W.M.E. Church
became a major stop on the Underground Railroad, helping slaves to escape from the South. Eventually,
the Bethel African Methodist Episcopal Church, too, was able to move to Bedford-Stuyvesant. Bethel,
which had separated from the Bridge Street A.W.M.E. Church in 1861, acquired the former Tompkins
Avenue Congregational Church at 58 Mac Donough Street in 1942. Both the Bridge Street A W.M.E.
Church and the Bethel African Methodist Episcopal Church remain two of Brooklyn’s most important
African-American cultural centers.

The Bethany Baptist Church was founded as the Second Baptist Church of Brooklyn in 1885 in
the Fort Greene area. The church was reorganized as the Bethany Baptist Church in 1887 and moved to
Clinton Hill in 1895, remaining there until it purchased the former Herkimer Street Baptist Church at 141-
147 Decatur Street in 1924, following its expanding congregation as it moved eastward into the Bedford-
Stuyvesant area. The Stuyvesant Heights Christian Church was founded in 1928 as the Calvary Christian
Church, located at 213 West 12" Street in Manhattan. That same year, the church moved to the Clinton

™ Classified ad, Brooklyn Daily Eagle, September 10, 1905, 3; Lain's Brooklyn Directory, 1897; “Old Negro of
Wall St. Dead," New York Sun, June 1, 1922, 8; "Pay Tribute to Memory of Alice M. Davis, Deceased," New York
Age, August 13, 1938, 1; U. S. Census records, 1880, 1900, 1910.

"2This section includes the following sources: Brooklyn Eagle (May 3, 1938), 7; LPC, Survey Report: Bedford-
Stuyvesant (Community Board 3) Brooklyn (1992); http://www.bethanybcbrooklyn.org/#!history; and
http://stuyvesantheightschurch.org/ministry.html.

® Brooklyn Eagle (Jun. 29, 1937), 4.

" Brooklyn Eagle (Nov. 19, 1938) 1; (Nov. 26, 1938), 5.

™ Stiles, 2019-30.
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Hill neighborhood in Brooklyn, and in 1931 to 456 Halsey Street in Bedford Stuyvesant (not within the
historic district expansion), changing its name to the Halsey Street Christian Church. The church
eventually purchased its current building, the former Tompkins Avenue Presbyterian Church at 69 Mac
Donough Street, and was reincorporated as the Stuyvesant Heights Christian Church in 1944,

These churches have always and continue to serve an important and central role in the life of the
Bedford Stuyvesant community by offering a wide variety of spiritual, educational, and social programs
to residents of all ages and positions.

Later History™

By the 1910s, the population of Bedford-Stuyvesant was shifting as the original, mostly white,
middle-class occupants of the row houses were being replaced in increasing numbers by upwardly mobile
first and second generation immigrants. A review of the 1910 and 1920 United Census data reveals that,
while the population within the Bedford-Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic District
remained overwhelmingly white and native-born during both decades, in 1920 many more heads of
households listed foreign countries as the birth place of their parents. There was also a small, but
significant, increase in the number of black households. ”*

The Bedford-Stuyvesant area, with its abundance of schools, clubs, churches, and libraries, was
still considered one of Brooklyn’s best neighborhoods in 1920. However, an increase in real estate
speculation during that decade began to undercut the stability of the area as houses quickly changed hands
between successive absentee owners seeking to maximize profit. This new class of landlord very often
divided houses into small rental apartments and neglected maintenance. As a consequence, the area’s
more stable occupants began to move away in large numbers to escape overcrowding and blight. The new
residents were mainly less affluent native-born and foreign born whites, mostly from southern and eastern
Europe, and blacks from Harlem, the Caribbean, and the South. By 1930, blacks had accounted for 11
percent of Bedford Stuyvesant’s overall population. Unfortunately, these newcomers were often met with
discrimination. There were accounts of black residents being refused service in restaurants, or restricted to
particular areas of eating establishments and theaters.”

The depression of the 1930s extracted a further toll on the Bedford-Stuyvesant neighborhood in
the diminution of municipal services such as police protection, sewer maintenance, and adequate street
lighting. Properties became liabilities to cash-squeezed building owners, many of whom faced
foreclosure. Numerous articles and studies by newspapers deplored conditions in Bedford-Stuyvesant,
assigning much of the blame to neglect by city officials.” Bedford-Stuyvesant was often cited as the area
of the city most lacking in needed basic services and resources. Crime was increasingly becoming a
problem.

However, the crash in real estate prices in the 1930s and the opening in 1936 of the Independent,
or IND, Subway on Fulton Street, opened the door to home ownership and occupancy by blacks from
Harlem, as well as migrant blacks from the south and immigrants from the Caribbean.®® The song “Take
the A Train,” which was written in 1939 by composer Billy Strayhorn and popularized by Duke Ellington
as his orchestra’s signature tune, commemorated the train’s ability to connect Harlem, then the center of
New York’s African-American community, to Bedford-Stuyvesant. By 1940, one third of Bedford-
Stuyvesant residents were black. In the 1940s, round-the-clock wartime production at the Brooklyn Navy

"® This section is based on LPC, Alice and Agate Courts Historic District Designation Report (LP-2309), (New
York: City of New York, 2009); _ Survey Report: Bedford-Stuyvesant (Community Board 3) Brooklyn (1992);
Fred Powledge, “New York’s Bedford-Stuyvesant: Rare Urban Success Story,” AlA Journal (May 1976); Quimby,
“Bedford-Stuyvesant”; and U.S. Census 1910-1940.

" Ancestors from northern European countries, such as England, Ireland, Scotland, and Germany were well-
represented in the 1920 census; eastern and southern European countries, including Russia, Poland, Italy, and
Portugal, were less represented. Most of the black families at the time originated from the southern United States.
® Quimby, 232

® Quimby, 231.

8 The area also attracted a large number of southern and eastern Europeans, including many Russian Jews.
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Yard for World War Il attracted many black laborers to Brooklyn, and because of its proximity to the
facility, Bedford-Stuyvesant attracted even more African-American residents. The population influx
resulted in a new cycle of overcrowding.

By 1950, Bedford-Stuyvesant’s population of about 250,000 was more than 80% black, and the
area became known as “Brooklyn ‘Harlem.””®" Ghettoization emerged as a political issue and the
deplorable conditions found in Bedford-Stuyvesant were denounced by the press and others. According to
sociologist and author Ernest Quimby, “Throughout the fifties, there were charges of inadequate and
corrupt building inspectors’ demands for repair of condemned properties, and repeated requests for the
easing of tight and discriminatory banking policies so that prospective homeowners could do their own
repairs. Such requests were of no avail.”®* Blockbusting, redlining, fraudulent mortgage loan schemes,
and government inaction typified the era, culminating in racial riots in Bedford-Stuyvesant and other
inner city neighborhoods in New York and around the nation.* Social problems caused by overcrowding
and the lack of economic opportunity also took its toll. Although some efforts were made by social
service organizations to address underlying social issues in the 1960s, Bedford-Stuyvesant, like many
other neighborhoods in Brooklyn, Manhattan, and the Bronx, experienced continuing deterioration of its
building stock and intensifying social problems, including rising unemployment and crime rates. In
response to these conditions, the Bedford-Stuyvesant Restoration Corporation—the first and largest
community development corporation in the country—was formed in 1967 with the support of Senators
Robert F. Kennedy and Jacob Javitz of New York. At the time, Bedford-Stuyvesant was second only to
Chicago’s South Side as the largest predominantly black neighborhood in the United States.®* According
to the historian Harold X. Connolly, the Corporation focused on job creation and “physical asset
development”; by 1977, its activities had included “over 1,000 mortgage loans ... financing for nearly
125 businesses ... 7,500 workers placed in jobs developed in the private sector; exterior renovation of
over 3,800 houses; [and] 1,280 new, rehabilitated, or under-construction dwelling units.”®

Still, there remained an estimated 1,400 abandoned buildings and 3,000 vacant lots in the
neighborhood around that time, many of which were owned by the city. But, rehabilitation work and new
construction continued into the 1980s, 1990s, and 2000s through the effort of the Bedford-Stuyvesant
Restoration Corporation, as well as partnerships between city agencies, including the Department of
Housing Preservation and Development, and private non-profit organizations. In 2013, the number of
vacant and/or deteriorated buildings is substantially less, and those that remain represent opportunity
rather than decay. Private funding by individual homeowners continues to support restoration work today.
Bedford-Stuyvesant remains one of the most desirable places to live in New York City.

81 «Center will Help Brooklyn ‘Harlem’,” New York Times (November 15, 1941), 34; and Toby Sanchez, “Vacant
in Bed-Stuy,” City Limits (November 1987), 20-21.

8 Quimby, 234.

8 «Blockbusting™ is the creation of panic selling induced by the deliberate appeal to the racial fears of homeowners
by brokers, while “redlining” is the process by which certain inner neighborhoods are a demarcated by lenders,
usually banks, for rote denial of mortgage and loan applications. Quimby, 234.

8 «Born in a Brooklyn Slum, Frank Thomas Discovers You Can Go Home Again....And Fix It Up,” People Weekly
(May 1977), reprint 1977 by Time, Inc.

8 Connolly, 158, cited in Crown Heights North Historic District Designation Report.
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FINDINGS AND DESIGNATION

On the basis of careful consideration of the history, the architecture, and other features of this
area, the Landmarks Preservation Commission finds that the Bedford Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant
Heights Historic District contains buildings and other improvements that have a special character and a
special historic and aesthetic interest and value and which represent one or more eras in the history of
New York City and which cause this area, by reason of these factors, to constitute a distinct section of the
city.

The Commission further finds that, among its important qualities, the Bedford
Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant Heights Historic District consists of approximately 825 buildings,
mainly masonry row houses constructed in the late 19™ century, interspersed by small apartment
buildings, churches, schools, and related public and institutional buildings, forming extraordinary urban
streetscapes; that the buildings were constructed in the popular architectural styles of the period, including
Italianate, Second Empire, neo-Grec, Queen Anne, Romanesque Revival and Renaissance Revival; that
the historic district’s long blocks of brick and brownstone houses are further unified by many intact iron
newel posts, railings, fences, and window grilles; that, beginning in the early 20" century, Bedford
Stuyvesant increasingly became the community of choice for many of New York’s upwardly-mobile
African-American residents; that African-American churches followed their congregations to Bedford-
Stuyvesant, often purchasing existing churches and institutional buildings; that these churches have not
only provided their congregants with places for worship, but also serve as cornerstones of social and
cultural life in the larger community; that these churches continue to occupy architecturally-rich buildings
that provide a visual focal point in the neighborhood; that the Bedford-Stuyvesant/Expanded Stuyvesant
Heights Historic District remains significant as part of the larger Bedford-Stuyvesant area, which for two-
thirds of the 20th century, has been one of the nation’s largest and best-known African-American and
Caribbean-American residential communities; that the architecture of the Bedford Stuyvesant/Expanded
Stuyvesant Heights Historic District remains remarkably intact; and that Bedford-Stuyvesant remains one
of the most desirable places to live in New York City.

Accordingly, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 74, Section 3020 of the Charter of the
City of New York and Chapter 3 of Title 25 of the Administrative Code of the City of New York, the
Landmarks Preservation Commission designates as a Historic District the Bedford Stuyvesant/Expanded
Stuyvesant Heights Historic District, consisting of the property bounded by a line beginning at northwest
corner of Malcolm X Boulevard and Chauncey Street, continuing westerly along the northern curbline of
Chauncey Street, southerly across Chauncey Street along a line extending northerly from the eastern
property line of 82 Chauncey Street, southerly along the eastern property line of 82 Chauncey Street, ,
westerly along the southern property lines of 82 through 78 Chauncey Street and 419 Stuyvesant Avenue,
westerly across Stuyvesant Avenue, southerly along the western curbline of Stuyvesant Avenue,
northwesterly along the northern curbline of Fulton Street to a point in the middle of the roadbed of Lewis
Avenue, northerly along a line extending up the middle of the roadbed of Lewis Avenue to its intersection
with a point on a line which continues the northern curbline of Bainbridge Street, westerly along that line
and the northern curbline of Bainbridge Street, northerly from the curbline to the western property line of
430 Lewis Avenue (aka 67 Bainbridge Street) through 424 Lewis Avenue, westerly along part of the
southern property line of 422 Lewis Avenue, westerly along the southern property lines of 206 through
142-144 Decatur Street (aka 471-477 Marcus Garvey Boulevard), westerly to the eastern curbline of
Marcus Garvey Boulevard, northerly along the eastern curbline of Marcus Garvey Boulevard, westerly
across Marcus Garvey Boulevard to the southern property line of 140 Decatur Street (aka 464 Marcus
Garvey Boulevard), westerly along the southern property lines of 140 Decatur Street (aka 464 Marcus
Garvey Boulevard) and 138 Decatur Street, northerly along part of the western property line of 138
Decatur Street, westerly along the southern property lines of 136 through 132 Decatur Street, northerly
along part of the western property line of 132 Decatur Street, westerly along the southern property line of
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3 Albany Avenue, westerly across Albany Avenue, southerly along the western curbline of Albany
Avenue, westerly to the northern building line of 8 Albany Avenue, westerly along the northern building
line of 8 Albany Avenue, southerly along part of the eastern property line of 116 Decatur Street, westerly
along the southern property lines of 116 through 110 Decatur Street and part of the southern property line
of 108 Decatur Street, westerly along the southern property lines of 104 through 88 Decatur Street and
631 Throop Avenue, westerly to the eastern curbline of Throop Avenue, northerly along the eastern
curbline of Throop Avenue, westerly across Throop Avenue to the easternmost point of the southern
property line of 70-72 Decatur Street (aka 644 Throop Avenue), westerly, northerly, and northwesterly
along the southern property line of 70-72 Decatur Street (aka 644 Throop Avenue), northwesterly along
the southern property lines of 68 through 52 Decatur Street, southwesterly along part of the eastern
property line of 50 Decatur Street (aka 1497 Fulton Street), northwesterly along a line to the southern
property line of 44 Decatur Street, northwesterly along the southern property line of 44 Decatur Street,
southwesterly along part of the eastern property line of 42 Decatur Street, northwesterly along the
southern property lines of 42 and 40 Decatur Street, southwesterly along part of the eastern property line
of 38 Decatur Street, northwesterly along the southern property lines of 38 and 36 Decatur Street,
northeasterly along the western property line of 36 Decatur Street, northerly across Decatur Street,
westerly along the northern curbline of Decatur Street, northerly along the eastern curbline of Tompkins
Avenue, westerly to the southern property line of 58-72 MacDonough Street (aka 468-480 Tompkins
Avenue), westerly along the southern property line of 58-72 MacDonough Street (aka 469-480 Tompkins
Avenue), northerly along the western property line of 58-72 MacDonough Street (aka 469-480 Tompkins
Avenue), northerly to the southern curbline of MacDonough Street, easterly along the southern curbline
of MacDonough Street, northerly across MacDonough Street to the western property line of 61-73
MacDonough Street (aka 458-466 Tompkins Avenue), northerly along the western property line of 61-73
MacDonough Street (aka 458-466 Tompkins Avenue), easterly along the northern property line of 61-73
MacDonough Street (aka 458-466 Tompkins Avenue), easterly across Tompkins Avenue, northerly along
the eastern curbline of Tompkins Avenue, easterly to the northern property line of 467 Tompkins Avenue,
easterly along the northern property line of 467 Tompkins Avenue, easterly to the northern property line
of 91-97 MacDonough Street, easterly along the northern property lines of 91-97 through 129
MacDonough Street, southerly along part of the eastern property line of 129 MacDonough Street, easterly
along the northern property line of 133 MacDonough Street, northerly along part of the western property
line of 137 MacDonough Street, easterly along the northern property line of 137 MacDonough Street,
southerly along part of the eastern property line of 137 MacDonough Street, easterly along the northern
property line of 141 MacDonough Street (aka 622 Throop Avenue), easterly to a point in the middle of
the roadbed of Throop Avenue, northerly along a line extending up the middle of the roadbed of the
Throop Avenue to a point in the middle of its intersection with Macon Street, easterly along a line
extending down the middle of the roadbed of Macon Street to its intersection with a point on a line which
continues the eastern curbline of Throop Avenue, northerly along that line and the eastern curbline of
Throop Avenue, easterly to the northern property line of 267 Macon Street (aka 579 Throop Avenue),
easterly along the northern property lines of 267 Macon Street (aka 579 Throop Avenue) through 331
Macon Street and part of the northern property line of 333 Macon Street, northerly along the western
property lines of 410 through 404 Marcus Garvey Boulevard (aka 394-400 Halsey Street) to the southern
curbline of Halsey Street, easterly along the southern curbline of Halsey Street, southerly along the
western curbline of Marcus Garvey Boulevard, easterly across Marcus Garvey Boulevard to the northern
property line of 417 Marcus Garvey Boulevard, easterly along the northern property line of 417 Marcus
Garvey Boulevard, southerly along part of the eastern property line 417 Marcus Garvey Boulevard,
easterly along the northern property lines of 351 through 403 Macon Street, northerly along part of the
western property line of 364 Lewis Avenue and the western property lines of 362 through354-356 Lewis
Avenue (aka 468-476 Halsey Street) to the southern curbline of Halsey Street, easterly along the southern
curbline of Halsey Street, easterly across Lewis Avenue to its intersection with the eastern curbline of
Lewis Avenue, northerly across Halsey Street, northerly along the eastern curbline of Lewis Avenue,
easterly to the northern property line of 437 Halsey Street (aka 343-351 Lewis Avenue), easterly along
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the northern property lines of 437 Halsey Street (aka 343-351 Lewis Avenue) through 503 Halsey Street,
northerly along the western property lines of 308 through 302 Stuyvesant Avenue (aka 568 Hancock
Street), northerly across Hancock Street, northerly along the western property lines of 300 Stuyvesant
Avenue (aka 561 Hancock Street) through 284 Stuyvesant Avenue (aka 624-632 Jefferson Avenue) to the
southern curbline of Jefferson Avenue, easterly along the southern curbline of Jefferson Avenue, easterly
across Stuyvesant Avenue, easterly along the southern curbline of Jefferson Avenue, southerly to the
eastern property line of 273-279 Stuyvesant Avenue (aka 634 Jefferson Avenue), southerly along the
eastern property line of 273-279 Stuyvesant Avenue (aka 634 Jefferson Avenue), easterly along part of
the northern property line of 281 Stuyvesant Avenue, southerly along the eastern property lines of 281
Stuyvesant Avenue and 575 Hancock Street (aka 285 Stuyvesant Avenue), southerly across Hancock
Street, southerly along the eastern property lines of 291 Stuyvesant Avenue (aka 576 Hancock Street)
through 297 Stuyvesant Avenue and part of the eastern property line of 299 Stuyvesant Avenue, easterly
along the northern property lines of 525 through 533 Halsey Street, southerly along part of the eastern
property line of 553 Halsey Street, easterly along the northern property lines of 553A and 555 Halsey
Street, northerly along part of the western property line of 557 Halsey Street, easterly along the northern
property lines of 557 through 559 Halsey Street, southerly along part of the eastern property lines of 559
Halsey Street, easterly along the northern property lines of 561 through 573 Halsey Street and part of the
northern property line of 254 Malcolm X Boulevard, northerly along the western property lines of 248
through 240 Malcolm X Boulevard (aka 654 Hancock Street) to the southern curbline of Hancock Street,
easterly along the southern curbline of Hancock Street, and southerly along the western curbline of
Malcolm X Boulevard to the point of the beginning.

Robert B. Tierney, Chair
Pablo E. Vengoecchea, Vice Chair

Michael Devonshire, Joan Gerner, Michael Goldblum, Margery Perlmutter, Roberta Washington,
Commissioners
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BUILDING PROFILES
ALBANY AVENUE (ODD NUMBERYS)

1 Albany Avenue (aka 124 Decatur Street)
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1859, Lot 16

Date: 1896 (Plan 1433-1896)
Architect/Builder: J.G. Corneal

Original Owner: W. H. Livingston

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival with alterations
Stories: 3

Material(s): Brick and stone

Special Windows: Round-arch fenestration

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated basement; rough-faced stone band courses; bracketed lintel
at main entryway and first-story window (with a large cartouche at the main entryway); projecting window
sills; molded architrave topped by a foliated finial at the second story; third-story window sills in a
continuous projecting band; carved foliation at the third-story piers

Alterations: Roofline possibly modified; security lamps; signage; mailbox

Other Structures on Site: One story, brick garage, possibly built at around the same time as the house; with
mansard roof (now altered) and non-historic metal door.

West Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Replaced

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Not historic (basement)

Roof: Possibly historic (Pitched)

Cornice: Altered

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic metal fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Facade Notes: Brick facade (painted) at the rear; westernmost bay continues from the main facade;
mansard roof and three-bay hipped dormer; replacement roofing; descending round-arch windows at
interior stairwell (now sealed); round-arch window (also sealed) with radiating brick architrave at the first
story; prominent brick chimney; historic iron posts and fence

3 Albany Avenue
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1859, Lot 15

Date: 1896 (Plan 1433-1896)
Architect/Builder: J.G. Corneal

Original Owner: W.H. Livingston

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival with alterations
Stories: 3

Material(s): Stone
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Special Windows: Round-arch window at the second story

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated basement; rough-faced stone band courses; bracketed lintel
at main entryway and first-story window (with a large cartouche at the main entryway); third-story window
sills in a continuous projecting band; carved foliation at the third-story piers

Alterations: First- and second-story spandrels simplified; roofline possible modified; security lamp;
signage; mailbox

West Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Replaced

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Not historic (basement)

Roof: Possibly historic (Pitched - non-historic asphalt shingles)
Notable Roof Features: Mansard

Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete

South Facade: Not designed (historic, altered)
Facade Notes: Cement stucco

East Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
ALBANY AVENUE (EVEN NUMBERYS)

2 Albany Avenue (aka 118-122 Decatur Street)
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 24

Date: Possibly late 20th century
Architect/Builder: Not determined
Original Owner: Not determined
Type: Private garden

Stories: Not determined
Material(s): Not determined

Site Features: Trees; concrete walkways; wood-and-metal benches; gazebo; grass areas with bushes; metal
fence and gate; concrete sidewalk; concrete and metal curbs

BAINBRIDGE STREET (ODD NUMBERYS)
67 Bainbridge Street see 430 Lewis Avenue

147 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 85

Date: 1900 (NB 1573-1900)

Architect/Builder: Walter F. Clayton (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Walter F. Clayton

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Limestone; brownstone

31



Special Windows: Three stained-glass transom windows at first floor

Decorative Metal Work: Historic cast-iron security grilles

Significant Architectural Features: Curved projecting bay; rusticated brownstone base featuring L-shaped
stoop; scrolled bracketed hood over wood-and-glass double-leaf doors with transom; decorative panels
separate first-and second-floor windows; wide metal decorative frieze and bracketed cornice

Alterations: Windows replaced; metal fencing, railings and security doors; non-historic light fixture at
entrance and in areaway; metal mailbox in areaway; remote utility meter, and junction box attached to
basement facade

Building Notes: Five buildings follow an AB pattern.

Site Features: Low stone fence surrounds concrete areaway; non-historic metal light fixture; metal access
hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

West Facade: Not designed (historic)
Facade Notes: Parged brick facade; clay coping; two round arched windows with stone sills

149 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 84

Date: 1900 (NB 1573-1900)

Architect/Builder: Walter F. Clayton (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Walter F. Clayton

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; limestone

Special Windows: Three stained-glass transom windows at first floor

Decorative Metal Work: Historic cast-iron security grilles

Significant Architectural Features: Angled projecting bay; rusticated brownstone base featuring L-shaped
stoop; drip stone molding with decorative panel over wood-and-glass double-leaf doors with transom;
bandcourse runs the width of building separating the decorative panels between first-and second-floor
windows; wide metal decorative frieze and bracketed cornice

Alterations: Windows replaced; two satellite dishes on roof; non-historic light fixture at areaway; metal
piping at stairs; metal signage middle window between basement and first floor; remote utility meter, and
junction box attached to basement facade

Building Notes: Five buildings follow an AB pattern.

Site Features: Low-stone fence surrounds concrete areaway; non-historic metal light fixture; metal access
hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic)
Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
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Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

151 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 83

Date: 1900 (NB 1573-1900)

Architect/Builder: Walter F. Clayton (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Walter F. Clayton

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Limestone; brownstone

Special Windows: Three stained-glass transom windows at first floor

Decorative Metal Work: Historic cast-iron security grilles

Significant Architectural Features: Curved projecting bay; rusticated brownstone base featuring L-shaped
stoop; scrolled bracketed hood over wood-and-glass double-leaf doors with transom; decorative panels
separate first-and second-floor windows; wide metal decorative frieze and bracketed cornice

Alterations: Windows replaced; satellite dish on roof; metal mailbox affixed to areaway iron security door;
remote utility meter, and junction box attached to basement facade

Building Notes: Five buildings follow an AB pattern.

Site Features: Low stone fence surrounds concrete areaway; non-historic metal light fixture; metal access
hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

153 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 82

Date: 1900 (NB 1573-1900)

Architect/Builder: Walter F. Clayton (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Walter F. Clayton

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Limestone; brownstone
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Special Windows: Three stained-glass transom windows at first floor

Decorative Metal Work: Historic cast-iron security grilles

Significant Architectural Features: Angled projecting bay; rusticated brownstone base featuring L-shaped
stoop; drip stone molding with decorative panel over wood-and-glass double-leaf doors with transom;
bandcourse runs the width of building separating the decorative panels between first and second floor
windows; wide metal decorative frieze and bracketed cornice

Alterations: Electrical conduit at areaway; metal mailbox affixed to areaway iron security door; remote
utility meter, and junction box attached to basement facade

Building Notes: Five buildings follow an AB pattern.

Site Features: Low stone fence surrounds concrete areaway; non-historic metal light fixtures; metal access
hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

155 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 81

Date: 1900 (NB 1573-1900)

Architect/Builder: Walter F. Clayton (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Walter F. Clayton

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Limestone; brownstone

Special Windows: Three stained-glass transom windows at first floor

Decorative Metal Work: Historic cast-iron security grilles

Significant Architectural Features: Curved projecting bay; rusticated brown stone base featuring L-shaped
stoop; scrolled bracketed hood over wood-and-glass double-leaf doors with transom; decorative panels
separate first and second floor windows; wide metal decorative frieze and bracketed cornice

Alterations: Iron railings and fencing replaced; non-historic metal security door at main entrance; metal
mailbox affixed to areaway iron security door; stoop resurfaced; lower portion of facade painted; windows
replaced; remote utility meter, and junction box attached to basement facade

Building Notes: Five buildings follow an AB pattern.

Site Features: Low stone fence surrounds concrete areaway; non-historic metal light fixture; metal access
hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original
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Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

157 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 80

Date: 1892 (NB 381-1892)

Architect/Builder: M. Dahlander

Original Owner: David Beasley

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival with Neo-Grec details
Stories: 2 1/2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood

Special Windows: Segmental-arched transom above door; stained-glass segmental-arched transom above
first floor windows; three arched windows at second floor

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railing, gate, fencing and newel posts

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated brownstone base featuring L-shaped stoop; raised
decorative quoining surrounds segmental-arched double-leaf door with transom; first and second floor
windows feature a mullion with an engaged spiral column; stone banding with decorative foliate corbels
runs the width of the facade and at second floor and acts as sills; wood frieze incorporating third-story
windows with geometric and spiral pilasters topped by a wood cornice with stylized brackets

Alterations: Metal mailboxes affixed to areaway iron security door; remote utility meter, and junction box
attached to basement facade

Building Notes: First of five row houses.

Site Features: Original cast-iron railing, gate and fencing; areaway paved with bluestone; non-historic
metal light fixture

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Original (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Security Grilles: Not historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Bluestone/concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

159 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 79

Date: 1892 (NB 381-1892)

Architect/Builder: M. Dahlander

Original Owner: David Beasley

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival with Neo-Grec details
Stories: 2 1/2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood
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Special Windows: Shouldered-arch transom above main entrance; stained-glass shouldered-arch transom
above first floor windows

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railing, gate, fencing and newel posts

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated brownstone base featuring stone stoop; raised decorative
guoining surrounds segmental-arched double-leaf door with transom; first and second floor windows
feature a mullion with an engaged spiral column; stone banding with decorative foliate corbels runs the
width of the facade and at second floor and acts as sills; wood frieze incorporating third-story windows with
geometric and spiral pilasters topped by a wood cornice with stylized brackets

Alterations: Metal mailbox affixed to areaway iron security door; remote utility meter, and junction box
attached to basement facade

Building Notes: Second of five row houses.

Site Features: Original cast-iron railing, gate and fencing; areaway paved with bluestone; non-historic
metal light fixture

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Original (upper stories); historic (basement)
Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Bluestone/concrete
Sidewalk Material(s): Bluestone/concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

161 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 78

Date: 1892 (NB 381-1892)

Architect/Builder: M. Dahlander

Original Owner: David Beasley

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival with Neo-Grec details
Stories: 2 1/2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood

Special Windows: Shouldered-arch transom above main entrance; shouldered-arch transom above first
floor windows

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railing, gate, fencing and newel posts; security grilles at basement
windows

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated brownstone base featuring L-shaped stoop; raised rusticated
decorative pilasters flank double-leaf door raised rusticated decorative pilasters divide first floor windows;
stone banding runs the width of the facade at second floor; second-story window featuring a mullion with
an engaged twisted column flanked by slender stone colonnettes with foliate details; third-story wood frieze
with decorative foliate corbels acts as sills incorporates windows with geometric and spiral pilasters topped
by a wood cornice with stylized brackets

Alterations: Stained-glass windows removed; window enframements and spiral colonnettes removed at
third floor; remote utility meter, and junction box attached to basement facade

Building Notes: Third of five row houses.

Site Features: Original cast-iron railing, gate and fencing; areaway paved with concrete; non-historic metal
light fixture; metal access hatch
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South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Mixed (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

163 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 77

Date: 1892 (NB 381-1892)

Architect/Builder: M. Dahlander

Original Owner: David Beasley

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival with Neo-Grec details
Stories: 2 1/2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood

Special Windows: Stained-glass transom at first floor windows

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railing, gate, fencing and newel posts; security grilles at basement
windows

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated brownstone base featuring stone stoop; raised decorative
guoining surrounds segmental-arched double-leaf door with transom; first and second floor windows
featuring a mullion with an engaged spiral column; stone banding with decorative foliate corbels runs the
width of the facade and at second floor and acts as sills for second-story; wood frieze incorporating
third-story windows with geometric and spiral pilasters topped by a wood cornice with stylized brackets
Alterations: Windows replaced; non-historic light fixture at secondary entrance; metal mailbox in areaway;
remote utility meter, and junction box attached to basement facade

Building Notes: Fourth of five row houses

Site Features: Original cast-iron railing, gate and fencing; areaway paved with concrete; non-historic metal
light fixture; metal access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone
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165 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 76

Date: 1892 (NB 381-1892)

Architect/Builder: M. Dahlander

Original Owner: David Beasley

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival with Neo-Grec details
Stories: 2 1/2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood

Special Windows: Stained-glass transom at first floor windows

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railing, gate, fencing and newel posts; security grilles at basement
windows

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated brownstone base featuring stone stoop; raised decorative
guoining surrounds segmental-arched double-leaf door with transom; first and second floor windows
featuring a mullion with an engaged spiral column stone banding with decorative foliate corbels runs the
width of the facade and at second floor and acts as sills; wood frieze incorporating third-story windows with
geometric and spiral pilasters topped by a wood cornice with stylized brackets

Alterations: Windows replaced; metal security door replaced in areaway; remote utility meter, and junction
box attached to basement facade

Building Notes: Last of five row houses

Site Features: Original cast-iron railing, gate and fencing; areaway paved with concrete and bluestone;
non-historic metal light fixture; metal access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast-iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

167 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 75

Date: 1893 (NB 272-1893)

Architect/Builder: Not Determined

Original Owner: Fred B. Norris

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival/Romanesque Revival
Stories: 2 1/2 and basement

Material(s): Limestone; brownstone; wood

Special Windows: Segmental-arched transom above door; stained-glass segmental-arched transom above
first floor windows; three arched windows at second floor

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railing, gate, fencing and newel posts; security grilles at basement
windows

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated brownstone base featuring stone stoop; raised decorative
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quoining surrounds segmental-arched double-leaf door with transom; first and second floor windows
featuring a mullion with an engaged spiral column; stone banding with decorative foliate corbels runs the
width of the facade and at second and third floors and acts as sills for windows with raised decorative
quoining; wood frieze incorporating third-story windows with geometric and paired pilasters topped by a
wood cornice with fluted brackets

Alterations: Windows replaced; non-historic metal mailbox; remote utility meter, and junction box attached
to basement facade

Building Notes: Four buildings follow an AB pattern.

Site Features: Original cast-iron railing and newel posts; historic gate and fencing; areaway paved with
concrete; non-historic metal light fixture; metal access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Historic stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Mixed (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

169 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 74

Date: 1893 (NB 272-1893)

Architect/Builder: Not Determined

Original Owner: Fred B. Norris

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival/Romanesque Revival
Stories: 2 1/2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood

Special Windows: Shouldered-arched transom above door; stained-glass shouldered-arched transom above
first floor windows

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railing, fencing, historic gate, and newel posts; historic security grilles at
basement windows

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated brownstone base and stoop; raised rusticated decorative
pilasters flank double-leaf door; decorative pilasters divide first floor windows; stone banding runs the
width of the facade at second floor; second-story window featuring a mullion with an engaged spiral
column flanked by slender colonnettes; third-story wood frieze with decorative foliate corbels and
incorporated geometric and spiral pilasters; metal cornice with stylized brackets

Alterations: Windows replaced; iron security door at secondary entrance removed; non-historic metal
security grilles at main entrance and first floor windows; remote utility meter, and junction box attached to
basement facade

Building Notes: Four buildings follow an AB pattern.

Site Features: Original cast-iron railing and newel posts; historic gate and fencing; areaway paved with
concrete; metal access hatch; stone curbed planters

South Facade: Designed (historic)
Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - removed)
Door(s): Original primary door
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Windows: Mixed (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

171 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 73

Date: 1893 (NB 272-1893)

Architect/Builder: Not Determined

Original Owner: Fred B. Norris

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival/Romanesgue Revival
Stories: 2 1/2 and basement

Material(s): Limestone; brownstone; wood

Special Windows: Stained-glass transoms above main entrance door and first floor windows; three arched
windows at second floor

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railing, fencing, historic gate, and newel posts; historic security door and
grilles at basement windows

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated brownstone base and stoop; raised decorative quoining
surrounds segmental-arched double-leaf door with transom; first and second floor windows feature a
mullion with and engaged spiral column; stone banding with decorative foliate corbels runs the width of the
facade at second and third floors and acts as sills for second-story with raised decorative quoining; wood
frieze incorporating third-story windows with geometric and paired pilasters topped by a wood cornice
Alterations: Windows replaced; remote utility meter and junction box attached to basement facade
Building Notes: Four buildings follow an AB pattern.

Site Features: Original cast-iron railing and newel posts; historic gate and fencing; areaway paved with
concrete; metal access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Historic stoop (historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Mixed (upper stories); mixed (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone
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173 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 72

Date: 1893 (NB 272-1893)

Architect/Builder: Not Determined

Original Owner: Fred B. Norris

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival/Romanesque Revival
Stories: 2 1/2 and basement

Material(s): Limestone; brownstone; wood

Special Windows: Stained-glass transom at first floor windows

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron security door and grilles at basement

Significant Architectural Features: Angled projecting bay; rusticated brownstone base with L-shaped
stoop; decorative spandrel panels over door with transom; stone banding with decorative foliate corbels
runs the width of the facade at second and third floors and acts as sills for first-and second-floors; wood
frieze incorporating third-story windows with paired pilasters; metal cornice with fluted brackets
Alterations: Some windows replaced; historic door at main entrance replaced; stoop and stone fencing at
areaway resurfaced; remote utility meter and junction box attached to basement facade

Building Notes: Four buildings follow an AB pattern.

Site Features: Areaway paved with concrete; non-historic metal light fixture; metal access hatch

South Facade: Designed (painted)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Possibly historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone/metal

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

East Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade notes: Third floor visible; parged

175 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 71

Date: 1884 (NB 224-1884)

Architect/Builder: John Pattent (architect); Lewis Acor and John Patten (builders)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; stone
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Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railing, fencing, historic gate, and newel posts; historic security door and
grilles at basement windows

Significant Architectural Features: Brick and stone stoop; projecting stone bracketed hood with incised
decorative details above main entrance; windows with flat stone lintels and sills; metal denticulated cornice
with stylized brackets

Alterations: Facade repointed; main entrance door replaced; windows replaced; non-historic light fixture at
secondary entrance; metal mail box at secondary entrance; satellite dish at roof; remote utility meter, and
junction box attached to basement facade

Building Notes: First of seven buildings.

Site Features: Low stone curb with original cast-iron fence surrounds areaway; recessed secondary
entrance with historic iron security door and historic cast-iron grilles at basement windows

South Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Bluestone

Curb Material(s): Stone

177 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 70

Date: 1884 (NB 224-1884)

Architect/Builder: John Pattent (architect and carpenter); Lewis Acor (mason)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; stone

Significant Architectural Features: Brick and stone stoop; historic wood-and-glass double-leaf door and
transom with flat lintels; windows with flat stone lintels and sills, first floor windows feature transoms;
metal denticulated cornice with stylized brackets

Alterations: Facade repointed; windows replaced; stoop resurfaced; iron railings, newel posts, and fencing
replaced; non-historic light fixture in areaway; remote utility meter, and junction box attached to basement
facade

Building Notes: Second of seven buildings.

Site Features: Low stone curb with iron fencing surrounds stone paved areaway; recessed secondary
entrance with historic iron security door and historic cast-iron grilles at basement windows; raised earth
planting bed
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South Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone/metal

Areaway Paving Material(s): Stone

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

179 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 69

Date: 1884 (NB 224-1884)

Architect/Builder: John Pattent (architect and carpenter); Lewis Acor (Mason)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; stone

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railings, newel posts, fencing, gate and security grilles and door at
basement

Significant Architectural Features: Brick and stone stoop; historic wood-and-glass double-leaf door with
flat lintels; windows with flat stone lintels and sills, first floor windows feature transoms; metal
denticulated cornice with stylized brackets

Alterations: Facade repointed; windows replaced; non-historic metal security door and window grilles at
first floor; non-historic metal mailbox affixed to security door at secondary entrance; remote utility meter,
and junction box attached to basement facade

Building Notes: Third of seven buildings.

Site Features: Low stone curb with iron fencing surrounds stone paved areaway; recessed secondary
entrance with historic iron security door and historic cast-iron grilles at basement windows; several
bluestone pavers in areaway; metal access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete/bluestone

Sidewalk Material(s): Bluestone/concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone
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181 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 68

Date: 1884 (NB 224-1884)

Architect/Builder: John Pattent (architect and carpenter); Lewis Acor (Mason)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; stone

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railings, newel posts, fencing, gate and security grilles and door at
basement

Significant Architectural Features: Brick and stone stoop; door with flat lintels; windows with flat stone
lintels and sills; metal denticulated cornice with stylized brackets.

Alterations: Facade painted; windows replaced; aluminum awning over main entrance; framing for metal
awning at secondary entrance; remote utility meter, and junction box attached to basement facade
Building Notes: Fourth of seven.

Site Features: Low stone curb with iron fencing surrounds stone paved areaway; recessed secondary
entrance with historic iron security door and historic cast-iron grilles at basement windows; metal access
hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete/bluestone

Curb Material(s): Stone

183 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 67

Date: 1884 (NB 224-1884)

Architect/Builder: John Pattent (architect and carpenter); Lewis Acor (Mason)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; stone

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railings, newel posts, and security grilles and door at basement
Significant Architectural Features: Brick and stone stoop; door with flat lintels; windows with flat stone
lintels and sills, first floor windows feature transoms; metal denticulated cornice with stylized brackets
Alterations: Brick facade repointed; aluminum awnings over main and secondary entrances; windows
replaced; window lintels and sills painted; non-historic light fixtures at secondary entrance; non-historic
metal security door and grilles at first floor; remote utility meter, and junction box attached to basement
facade

Building Notes: Fifth of seven buildings.
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Site Features: Low stone curb with iron fencing surrounds painted concrete pavers and stone curb at
areaway; metal access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone/metal

Areaway Paving Material(s): Painted concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

185 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 66

Date: 1884 (NB 224-1884)

Architect/Builder: John Pattent (architect and carpenter); Lewis Acor (Mason)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; stone

Decorative Metal Work: Security grilles and door at basement

Significant Architectural Features: Brick and stone stoop; door with flat lintels; windows with flat stone
lintels and sills; topped by a metal denticulated cornice with stylized brackets

Alterations: Main entrance door replaced; stoop replaced; lintels and sills resurfaced; third recessed
entrance at areaway with aluminum awning; non-historic light fixtures at areaway; iron railings, fencing
and gate replaced; non-historic lamp post; remote utility meter, and junction box attached to basement
facade

Building Notes: Sixth of seven buildings.

Site Features: Low stone curb with iron fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway; metal access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Replaced stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door; third recessed entrance at areaway leading to cellar
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Metal

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

187 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 65

Date: 1884 (NB 224-1884)

Architect/Builder: John Pattent (architect and carpenter); Lewis Acor (Mason)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house
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Style: Neo-Grec
Stories: 2 and basement
Material(s): Brick; stone

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; door with flat lintels; windows with flat stone lintels and
sills; metal denticulated cornice with stylized brackets

Alterations: Main entrance door replaced; stoop resurfaced; windows replaced; iron railings and security
grilles at basement windows replaced; non-historic light fixture at main entrance; non-historic metal
mailbox at basement entrance; metal hatch removed; remote utility meter, and junction box attached to
basement facade

Building Notes: Last of seven buildings.

Site Features: Brick low hip wall with brick newel posts with concrete pyramidal caps surrounds concrete
paved areaway; recessed secondary entrance with possibly historic iron security door; iron fencing replaced
with low brick wall areaway resurfaced;

South Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Not historic (basement)

Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Brick

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Bluestone/concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

189 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 64

Date: 1884 (NB 561-1884)

Architect/Builder: Clarence Linkin/Linken (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; stone

Decorative Metal Work: Recessed secondary entrance with historic iron security door and historic cast-iron
grilles at basement windows;

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; door with projecting stone bracketed hood and incised
decorative details; windows featuring stone lintels and sills with identical incised decorative details; metal
denticulated cornice with stylized brackets

Alterations: Main entrance door replaced; windows replaced throughout; iron railings, gate and fencing
replaced; non-historic light fixture in areaway; non-historic metal mailbox at basement entrance;
non-historic iron security grills at first floor and basement; remote utility meter, and junction box attached
to basement facade

Building Notes: First of four row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with iron fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway; recessed secondary
entrance with historic iron security door and historic cast-iron grilles at basement windows; metal access
hatch
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South Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

191 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 63

Date: 1884 (NB 561-1884)

Architect/Builder: Clarence Linkin/Linken (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; stone

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron newel posts and security grilles at basement windows and door at
basement

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; door with projecting stone bracketed hood with incised
decorative details; windows featuring stone lintels and sills with identical incised decorative details; metal
denticulated cornice with stylized brackets

Alterations: Main entrance door replaced; windows replaced; iron railings and fencing replaced;
non-historic light fixtures at secondary entrance; remote utility meter, and junction box attached to
basement facade

Building Notes: Second of four row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with iron fencing surrounds gravel and bluestone paved areaway; metal
access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Iron/stone

Areaway Paving Material(s): Bluestone/gravel

Sidewalk Material(s): Bluestone/concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

193 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 62

Date: 1884 (NB 561-1884)

Architect/Builder: Clarence Linkin/Linken (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house
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Style: Neo-Grec
Stories: 2 and basement
Material(s): Brick

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron newel posts, railings and security grilles at basement windows and door
at basement

Significant Architectural Features: Brick and stone stoop; historic wood-and-glass double-leaf door with
transom; projecting stone bracketed hood with incised decorative details; windows featuring stone lintels
and sills with identical incised decorative details; metal denticulated cornice with stylized brackets
Alterations: Facade painted and repointed; stoop resurfaced; windows replaced; stone hood, lintels and sills
painted; remote utility meter and junction box attached to basement facade

Building Notes: Third of four row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with iron fencing surrounds concrete and bluestone paved areaway; raised
earth planting bed; metal access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted, repointed)

Stoop: Altered stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone/iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Bluestone/concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Bluestone/concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

195 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 61

Date: 1884 (NB 561-1884)

Architect/Builder: Clarence Linkin/Linken (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; stone

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railings, newel posts, fencing, and basement window security grilles and
door

Significant Architectural Features: Brick and stone stoop; historic wood-and-glass double-leaf door with
projecting stone bracketed hood with incised decorative details; windows featuring stone lintels and sills
with identical incised decorative details; metal denticulated cornice with stylized brackets

Alterations: Windows replaced; security grilles at first floor windows; remote utility meter, and junction
box attached to basement facade

Building Notes: Last of four row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with historic cast-iron fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway; raised
earth planting bed; metal access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
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Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

197 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 59

Date: 1885 (NB 22-1885)

Architect/Builder: Clarence Linkin/Linken (architect and carpenter); Lewis Acor (mason)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with Alterations

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brick, stone

Decorative Metal Work: Historic cast-iron railings, newel posts, fencing, and basement window security
grilles and door

Significant Architectural Features: Angled projecting bay; stone stoop; historic wood-and-glass
double-leaf door with transom and projecting stone bracketed hood with incised decorative details;
windows featuring stone lintels and sills with identical incised decorative details; stone banding runs the
width of the facade at the first and second floors and acts as sills for first and second-story windows
Alterations: Cornice removed; facade painted; windows replaced throughout; non-historic metal mailbox in
areaway; basement security grilles modified to accommodate air-conditioner; remote utility meter, and
junction box attached to basement facade

Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic cast-iron fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway;
metal access hatch; low stone curb separates driveway that runs the length of the building with metal
chain-link fencing and mural covered gate leads to secondary rear building

Other Structures on Site: Brick, three-story building/garage (partially visible); segmental-arched windows
with stone sills and brick lintels; metal beam above garage entrance; windows removed or replaced with
wood infill

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Possibly historic/painted primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

East Facade: Not designed (historic, altered)
Facade Notes: Two chimneys at roofline; upper portion of facade parged, lower portion brick; rear portion
of facade has metal fire escape
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199 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 58

Date: ¢.1850

Architect/Builder: Not determined
Original Owner: Not determined
Type: Semi-attached house

Style: Altered Italianate

Stories: 2

Material(s): Aluminum siding

Decorative Metal Work: Possibly historic gate and fencing

Significant Architectural Features: First floor angled projecting bay; possibly historic metal cornice
Alterations: Facade clad with vinyl siding; stoop replaced; main entrance door replaced; windows replaced;
remote utility meter attached to basement facade

Site Features: Historic cast-iron fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway

South Facade: Designed (resided)

Stoop: Replaced

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Iron/stone

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

West Facade: Designed (historic, altered) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Vinyl siding; two one-over-one windows at second-story

201 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 57

Date: 1885 (NB 325-1885)
Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill (architect)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; stone; wood

Decorative Metal Work: Historic cast-iron railings, newel posts, fencing, and basement window security
grilles and door

Significant Architectural Features: Brick and stone stoop; door with projecting stone bracketed hood with
incised decorative details; windows featuring stone lintels and sills with identical incised decorative details;
wood denticulated cornice with stylized brackets

Alterations: Facade painted; main entrance door replaced; windows replaced, satellite dish at second floor,
non-historic metal mailbox attached to basement security grille; remote utility meter, and junction box
attached to basement facade

Building Notes: First of three row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with historic cast-iron fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway; raised
earth planting bed; metal access hatch
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South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

West Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Parged

203 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 56

Date: 1885 (NB 325-1885)
Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill (architect)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; stone; wood

Decorative Metal Work: Historic cast-iron railings, newel posts, fencing, and basement window security
grilles and door.

Significant Architectural Features: Angled projecting bay; stone stoop with historic wood-and-glass door
with transom and projecting stone bracketed hood with incised decorative details; windows featuring stone
lintels and sills with identical incised decorative details; wood denticulated cornice with stylized brackets
Alterations: Facade repointed; stoop painted; main entrance door replaced; windows replaced; basement
door replaced and security door removed; remote utility meter and junction box attached to basement
facade

Building Notes: Second of three row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with historic cast-iron fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway; metal
access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Painted stoop (gate under stoop - removed)

Door(s): Replaced primary door; under stoop door replaced
Windows: Altered (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone
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205 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 55

Date: 1885 (NB 325-1885)
Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill (architect)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; stone; wood

Decorative Metal Work: Basement window security grilles

Significant Architectural Features: Angled projecting bay; stone stoop; historic wood-and-glass door with
transom and projecting stone bracketed hood with incised decorative details; windows featuring stone
lintels and sills with identical incised decorative details; wood denticulated cornice with stylized brackets
Alterations: Main entrance door replaced; facade repointed; stoop resurfaced; railings and fencing
replaced; non-historic metal mailbox; remote utility meter, and junction box attached to basement facade
Building Notes: Last of three row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with non-historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway; recessed
secondary entrance; metal access hatch; non-historic light fixture in areaway

South Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Replaced primary door; under stoop door replaced

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Metal

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

East Facade: Not designed (historic, altered) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Parged upper stories; chimneys

207 Bainbridge Street see 338 Malcolm X Boulevard
BAINBRIDGE STREET (EVEN NUMBERS)

146 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 12

Date: c. 1898 (NB 582-98)

Architect/Builder: Walter F. Clayton

Original Owner: Walter F. Clayton

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; pressed-metal cornice

Special Windows: Stained-glass transoms at parlor-floor windows
Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings
Significant Architectural Features: Angled bay; molded stringcourses; foliated cartouches above parlor
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floor-windows and main entry; molded cornice with modillions and foliated frieze with escutcheons
Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; doorbells at main and basement entries; satellite dish on roof
Building Notes: One in a row of five buildings (146 to 154 Bainbridge Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced at base)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Historic primary door; metal security gate at main entry
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); original (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

West Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Brick; chimneys

148 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 13

Date: c. 1898 (NB 582-98)

Architect/Builder: Walter F. Clayton

Original Owner: Walter F. Clayton

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone base; limestone; pressed-metal cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rounded bay; molded stringcourses; cartouches with wreaths and
swags above parlor-floor windows and main entry; molded cornice with modillions and frieze with wreaths
and swags

Alterations: Utility box at building base; doorbells at main and basement entry

Building Notes: One in a row of five buildings (146 to 154 Bainbridge Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced at base)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); original (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

53



150 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 14

Date: c. 1898 (NB 582-98)

Architect/Builder: Walter F. Clayton

Original Owner: Walter F. Clayton

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; pressed-metal cornice

Special Windows: Stained-glass transoms at parlor-floor windows

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Three-sided bay; molded stringcourses; molded and bracketed door
lintel; cartouches with wreaths and swags above parlor-floor windows and main entry; molded cornice with
modillions and frieze with wreaths and swags

Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; intercom boxes at main and basement entries; non-historic light
fixtures and address plague at main entry; satellite dish and antenna on roof

Building Notes: One in a row of five buildings (146 to 154 Bainbridge Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

152 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 15

Date: c. 1898 (NB 582-98)

Architect/Builder: Walter F. Clayton

Original Owner: Walter F. Clayton

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone base; limestone; pressed-metal cornice

Special Windows: Stained-glass transoms at parlor-floor windows

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rounded bay; molded stringcourses; cartouches with wreaths and
swags above parlor-floor windows and main entry; molded cornice with modillions and frieze with wreaths
and swags

Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; doorbells at main and basement entries

Building Notes: One in a row of five buildings (146 to 154 Bainbridge Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch and planting bed in areaway; tree pit with metal edging
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North Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced and painted at base)
Stoop: Resurfaced, painted stoop (original gate under stoop)
Door(s): Original primary door; metal security gate at main entry
Windows: Mixed (upper stories); historic (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); original (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

154 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 16

Date: c. 1898 (NB 582-98)

Architect/Builder: Walter F. Clayton

Original Owner: Walter F. Clayton

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; pressed-metal cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Three-sided bay; molded stringcourses; molded and bracketed door
lintel; cartouches with wreaths and swags above parlor-floor windows and main entry; molded cornice with
modillions and frieze with wreaths and swags

Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; doorbells at main and basement entries; mailbox installed on
under-stoop gate

Building Notes: One in a row of five buildings (146 to 154 Bainbridge Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch, lamp post, and planting bed in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Mixed (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

156 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 17

Date: c. 1889 (NB 76-89)

Architect/Builder: Frederick B. Langston (architect); W. M. and E. H. Hawkins (builder)
Original Owner: E. H. Hawkins

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Sandstone; brick; terra cotta; pressed-metal cornice
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Special Windows: Arch-headed parlor-floor window

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced random ashlar cladding at base and parlor floor; rock-faced
lintel with foliated carving at main entry; continuous block sill with foliated ends and continuous
rock-faced lintel at second story; decorative terra-cotta or brick tiles at second story; cornice with a deep
fascia featuring rosettes in a checkerboard pattern, quarter-round dentils, foliated molding course, and
console brackets at each end

Alterations: Utility box at building base; doorbells at main and basement entries; mailbox installed on
under-stoop gate; antenna on roof

Building Notes: One in a row of three buildings (156 to 158 Bainbridge Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch, lamp post, and planting bed in areaway; tree pit with metal edging

North Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Original stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Mixed (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

156A Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 18

Date: c. 1889 (NB 76-89)

Architect/Builder: Frederick B. Langston (architect); W. M. and E. H. Hawkins (builder)
Original Owner: E. H. Hawkins

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Sandstone; brick; terra cotta; pressed-metal cornice

Special Windows: Arch-headed parlor-floor window

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced random ashlar cladding at base and parlor floor; rock-faced
lintel with foliated carving at main entry; continuous block sill with foliated ends and continuous
rock-faced lintel at second story; decorative terra-cotta or brick tiles at second story; cornice with a deep
fascia featuring rosettes in a checkerboard pattern, quarter-round dentils, foliated molding course, a central
curved pediment containing a shell-and-leaf motif, and console brackets at each end

Alterations: Intercom boxes at main and basement entries

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway; tree pit with metal edging

North Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced at base and first story)
Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Possibly historic primary door (historic paneled return intact)
Windows: Mixed (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Concrete curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete
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Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete
Curb Material(s): Stone

158 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 19

Date: c. 1889 (NB 76-89)

Architect/Builder: Frederick B. Langston (architect); W. M. and E. H. Hawkins (builder)
Original Owner: E. H. Hawkins

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Sandstone; brick; terra cotta; pressed-metal cornice

Special Windows: Arch-headed parlor-floor window

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced random ashlar cladding at base and parlor floor; rock-faced
lintel with foliated carving at main entry; continuous block sill with foliated ends and continuous
rock-faced lintel at second story; decorative terra-cotta or brick tiles at second story; cornice with a deep
fascia featuring rosettes in a checkerboard pattern, quarter-round dentils, foliated molding course, and
console brackets at each end

Alterations: Doorbells at main and basement entry; mailbox installed on under-stoop gate; non-historic
light fixture at main entry

Building Notes: One in a row of three buildings (156 to 158 Bainbridge Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, brick at second story painted)
Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Mixed (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Five (5) bluestone flags; remainder concrete
Curb Material(s): Stone

160 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 20

Date: c. 1892

Architect/Builder: Not determined

Original Owner: Daniel B. Norris

Type: Row house

Style: Chateauesque

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; limestone; pressed-metal oriel and cornice

Special Windows: Tri-partite window with turned-pilaster mullions and basket-arched stained-glass
transom at parlor floor; three-sided pressed-metal oriel at second story

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced rusticated base; arched lintels with foliated carving;
engaged colonnettes featuring escutcheons and finials flanking window and door openings at parlor floor;
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acanthus-leaf keystone topped by an escutcheon at main entry; ribboned stringcourse at second story; table
molding at second-story windows; molded cornice with attic windows incorporated between paired
pilasters, modillions, and fluted console brackets

Alterations: Utility box at building base; mailbox installed on stoop; doorbell at basement entry; intercom
box and non-historic light fixtures at main entry; antenna on roof

Building Notes: One of a pair of buildings (160 and 162 Bainbridge Street). Source for date and owner: land
records at Kings County, Office of the Register, Liber Deeds and Conveyances.

Site Features: Cellar hatch and planting bed in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Mixed (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Rock-faced stone cheek wall; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): One bluestone flag at base of stoop; remainder concrete
Sidewalk Material(s): Bluestone

Curb Material(s): Stone

West Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Parged brick with metal flashing

162 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 21

Date: c. 1892

Architect/Builder: Not determined

Original Owner: Daniel B. Norris

Type: Row house

Style: Chateauesque

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; limestone; pressed-metal oriel and cornice

Special Windows: Tri-partite window with turned-pilaster mullions and basket-arched stained-glass
transom at parlor floor; three-sided pressed-metal oriel at second story

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced rusticated base; arched lintels with foliated carving;
engaged colonnettes featuring escutcheons and finials flanking window and door openings at parlor floor;
acanthus-leaf keystone topped by an escutcheon at main entry; ribboned stringcourse at second story; table
molding at second-story windows; molded cornice with attic windows incorporated between paired
pilasters, modillions, and fluted console brackets

Alterations: Doorbells at main and basement entries; non-historic light fixture at main entry

Building Notes: One of a pair of buildings (160 and 162 Bainbridge Street). Source for date and owner: land
records at Kings County, Office of the Register, Liber Deeds and Conveyances.

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway; tree pit with metal edging

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Mixed (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); original (basement)
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Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Rock-faced stone cheek wall; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): One bluestone flag at base of stoop, remainder concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

164 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 22

Date: c. 1889 (NB 848-89)

Architect/Builder: John L. Young (architect); Walter R. Heineman (builder)
Original Owner: Walter R. Heineman

Type: Row house

Style: Altered neo-Grec/Romanesque Revival

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced banding at base and rock-faced quoining at parlor-floor
windows; rock-faced lintel at main entry supported on pilasters with scrolled plinths, stylized rosette
imposts, and denticulated capitals surmounted by a molded entablature; rock-faced voussoirs at parlor-floor
lintels; rock-faced checker pattern at window spandrel panel above main entry; paneled window surrounds
at second story

Alterations: Utility box at building base; doorbells at main and basement entries; security light at main
entry; cornice removed and building raised one story (after c. 1930s); satellite dish on roof

Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (164 to 170 Bainbridge Street). Built in conjunction with
172 to 178 Bainbridge Street.

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Historic (with storm windows) (upper stories); historic (basement)
Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

166 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 23

Date: c. 1889 (NB 848-89)

Architect/Builder: John L. Young (architect); Walter R. Heineman (builder)
Original Owner: Walter R. Heineman

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec/Romanesque Revival

Stories: 2 and basement with attic

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Special Windows: Segmental-arched window openings at parlor floor
Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings
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Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced block motifs at base; rock-faced spandrels and continuous
lintel at first story; bracketed sills and paneled surrounds at second-story windows; rock-faced lintel at main
entry supported on pilasters with scrolled plinths, stylized rosette imposts, and fish-scale scrolled capitals
surmounted by a molded entablature; stylized incised ornament at lintels on second story; molded cornice
with attic windows incorporated between pilasters, beaded console brackets with decorative spurs, and
running geometric motifs

Alterations: Utility box and outlet at building base; security lights at basement entry; mailbox installed on
side of stoop; intercom box at main entry

Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (164 to 170 Bainbridge Street). Built in conjunction with
172 to 178 Bainbridge Street.

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway; tree pit with metal edging

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Painted, partially resurfaced stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb (portion of one bluestone flag at 168); historic fence
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

South Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Brick facade; replacement windows; chimneys on roof

168 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 24

Date: c. 1889 (NB 848-89)

Architect/Builder: John L. Young (architect); Walter R. Heineman (builder)
Original Owner: Walter R. Heineman

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec/Romanesque Revival

Stories: 2 and basement with attic

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced banding at base and rock-faced quoining at parlor-floor
windows; rock-faced lintel at main entry supported on pilasters with scrolled plinths, stylized rosette
imposts, and denticulated capitals surmounted by a molded entablature; rock-faced voussoirs at parlor-floor
lintels; rock-faced checker pattern at window spandrel panel above main entry; paneled window surrounds
at second story; molded cornice with attic windows incorporated between pilasters, beaded console
brackets with decorative spurs, and running geometric motifs

Alterations: Utility box at building base; doorbells at main and basement entries; antenna on roof

Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (164 to 170 Bainbridge Street). Built in conjunction with
172 to 178 Bainbridge Street.

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic)
Stoop: Original stoop (original gate under stoop)
Door(s): Historic primary door
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Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Half bluestone, half concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

South Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Brick facade; replacement windows; chimneys on roof

170 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 25

Date: c. 1889 (NB 848-89)

Architect/Builder: John L. Young (architect); Walter R. Heineman (builder)
Original Owner: Walter R. Heineman

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec/Romanesque Revival

Stories: 2 and basement with attic

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced banding at base and rock-faced quoining at parlor-floor
windows; rock-faced lintel at main entry supported on pilasters with scrolled plinths, stylized rosette
imposts, and denticulated capitals surmounted by a molded entablature; rock-faced voussoirs at parlor-floor
lintels; rock-faced checker pattern at window spandrel panel above main entry; paneled window surrounds
at second story; molded cornice with attic windows incorporated between pilasters, beaded console
brackets with decorative spurs, and running geometric motifs

Alterations: Utility box at building base; plywood infill at main entry; non-historic light fixture and
intercom box at main entry; doorbell at basement entry; mailbox installed on under-stoop gate

Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (164 to 170 Bainbridge Street). Built in conjunction with
172 to 178 Bainbridge Street.

Site Features: Cellar hatch, lamp post, and planting bed in areaway; tree pit with metal edging

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Altered primary door

Windows: Mixed (upper stories); mixed (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Concrete curb; non-historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

South Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Brick facade; replacement windows; chimneys on roof; one-story rear addition
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172 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 26

Date: c. 1889 (NB 847-89)

Architect/Builder: John L. Young (architect); Walter R. Heineman (builder)
Original Owner: Walter R. Heineman

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec/Romanesque Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced banding at base; rock-faced lintel at main entry supported
on pilasters with scrolled plinths, stylized rosette imposts, and fish-scale scrolled capitals surmounted by a
molded entablature; rock-faced voussoirs at parlor-floor lintels; rock-faced sillcourse and lintels at second
story; molded cornice with beaded console brackets with decorative spurs, paneled fascia, and running
geometric motifs

Alterations: Some facade ornament parged; mailbox installed on side of stoop; security light with exposed
conduit to right of main entry; doorbells at main and basement entries; antenna on roof

Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (172 to 178 Bainbridge Street). Built in conjunction with
164 to 170 Bainbridge Street.

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted, resurfaced)
Stoop: Painted stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

South Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Parged brick facade; replacement windows; chimneys on roof; two-story rear addition

174 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 27

Date: c. 1889 (NB 847-89)

Architect/Builder: John L. Young (architect); Walter R. Heineman (builder)
Original Owner: Walter R. Heineman

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec/Romanesque Revival with alterations

Stories: 3 (altered from 2 and basement)

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced banding at base; rock-faced voussoirs at parlor-floor lintels;
rock-faced sillcourse and lintels at second story; molded cornice with beaded console brackets with
decorative spurs, paneled fascia, and running geometric motifs

Alterations: Stoop removed and main entry moved to basement level c. 1922-25 (ALTs 9879-22 and
11689-25); metal utility box at second story; some facade ornament parged
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Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (172 to 178 Bainbridge Street). Built in conjunction with
164 to 170 Bainbridge Street.
Site Features: Cellar hatch, lamp post, and standpipe in areaway; tree pit with metal edging

Notable History and Residents: Between 1922 and 1925 the building was converted to a residence for nuns
associated with Holy Rosary Roman Catholic Church.

North Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced)

Stoop: Removed

Door(s): Altered primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

South Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Parged brick facade; replacement windows; chimneys on roof

176 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 28

Date: c. 1889 (NB 847-89)

Architect/Builder: John L. Young (architect); Walter R. Heineman (builder)
Original Owner: Walter R. Heineman

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec/Romanesque Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced banding at base; rock-faced lintel at main entry supported
on pilasters with scrolled plinths, stylized rosette imposts, and fish-scale scrolled capitals surmounted by a
molded entablature; rock-faced voussoirs at parlor-floor lintels; rock-faced sillcourse and lintels at second
story; molded cornice with beaded console brackets with decorative spurs, paneled fascia, and running
geometric motifs

Alterations: Some ornament parged; utility boxes at building base; mailboxes installed on side of stoop;
security light and doorbell at main entry; non-historic stoop railings

Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (172 to 178 Bainbridge Street). Built in conjunction with
164 to 170 Bainbridge Street.

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted, resurfaced)
Stoop: Original stoop (original gate under stoop)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original
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Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

South Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Parged brick facade; replacement windows; chimneys on roof

178 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 29

Date: c. 1889 (NB 847-89)

Architect/Builder: John L. Young (architect); Walter R. Heineman (builder)
Original Owner: Walter R. Heineman

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec/Romanesque Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced banding at base; rock-faced lintel at main entry supported
on pilasters with scrolled plinths, stylized rosette imposts, and fish-scale scrolled capitals surmounted by a
molded entablature; rock-faced voussoirs at parlor-floor lintels; rock-faced sillcourse and lintels at second
story; molded cornice with beaded console brackets with decorative spurs, paneled fascia, and running
geometric motifs

Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; intercom box at basement entry; mailbox installed on
under-stoop gate; address plaque to right of main entry

Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (172 to 178 Bainbridge Street). Built in conjunction with
164 to 170 Bainbridge Street.

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Painted stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Possibly historic (not visible) primary door; metal-and-glass security gate and transom installed at
main entry

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Concrete curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Bluestone

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

South Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Parged brick facade; replacement windows; chimneys on roof

180 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 30

Building Name: Holy Rosary School

Date: ¢. 1921 (NB 13467-21)
Architect/Builder: Helmle & Corbett
Original Owner: Holy Rosary R. C. Church
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Type: Religious (parochial school)

Style: Collegiate Gothic

Stories: 4

Material(s): Yellow brick; limestone trim and coping

Special Windows: Two lancet window openings flanking main entry; historic multi-light transom above
main entry

Significant Architectural Features: Stone base with molded water table; pointed-arch portal entry with
architrave in center bay surmounted by a blind arcade of Gothic tracery; two pairs of buttresses flank portal
entry, each with separate "Boys" and "Girls" entry door; above boys' and girls' entry doors is a panel with
escutcheon surmounted by a lancet window topped by a crucifix finial; buttresses at eastern and western
bays of ground story; engaged brick piers run upward from the six ground-story buttresses to the crenellated
parapet, which features a central pediment containing a blind arcade of Gothic tracery with a central niche
surmounted by a crucifix

Alterations: Under construction at the time of designation, including installation of new 16-light
triple-hung windows at the upper stories and two triple-hung lancet-arched windows flanking the main
entry; also construction of a rear addition visible from Chauncey Street; portions of ground story facade
painted; steel braces installed on building corners; currently undergoing a gut renovation; all window and
door openings were previously sealed with CMU (after c. 1980s); building originally had a roof-top
playground and flagpole located behind the parapet pediment, both of these features have been removed
Building Notes: Built as the parochial school for Holy Rosary church and part of the same building as the
rectory on Chauncey Street (see entries for 139 and 141 Chauncey Street).

Site Features: Sidewalk grates at eastern and western bays of building foundation

North Facade: Designed (historic)
Door(s): Removed primary door
Windows: Replaced

Cornice: Original

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete
Curb Material(s): Stone

West Facade: Designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Face brick continues from primary facade; corbelled brick-course at third and fourth stories;
roof-top bulkhead visible to rear of roof

East Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Face brick continues from primary facade; brick chimney visible towards rear of building

South Facade: Not designed (historic, altered) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Currently under demolition

182 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 34

Date: c. 1888 (NB 404-88)

Architect/Builder: Southron R. Duval (architect); John J. Carroll (builder)
Original Owner: J. A. Lawrence

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival

Stories: 2 and basement and attic

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice
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Special Windows: Double window with molded wood mullion and basket-arched tripartite transom at
parlor floor; arch-headed window openings at second story; small attic windows

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced rusticated base; arched window and door openings with
rock-faced impost blocks and keystones at first and second stories; molded sill-course at second and attic
stories; molded cornice with modillions, dentil course, and foliated console brackets at each end
Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; intercom boxes at main and basement entries; non-historic stoop
railings; exposed conduit and light fixture socket at main entry; some ornament parged

Building Notes: One of two buildings (182 and 184 Bainbridge Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced)

Stoop: Resurfaced, painted stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Altered (molded returns and arched transom intact) primary door
Windows: Mixed (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Notable Roof Features: Skylight and chimney visible on roof

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; non-historic fence and gate (portion of historic fence remains
at western side of areaway)

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

184 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 35

Date: c. 1888 (NB 404-88)

Architect/Builder: Southron R. Duval (architect); John J. Carroll (builder)
Original Owner: J. A. Lawrence

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival

Stories: 2 and basement and attic

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Special Windows: Double window with molded wood mullion and basket-arched tripartite transom at
parlor floor; arch-headed window openings at second story; small attic windows

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced rusticated base; arched window and door openings with
rock-faced impost blocks and keystones at first and second stories; molded sill-course at second and attic
stories; molded cornice with modillions, dentil course, and foliated console brackets at each end
Alterations: Utility box at building base; non-historic stoop railings; mailboxes installed on side of stoop;
intercom boxes at main and basement entries; non-historic light fixtures with exposed conduit at main
entry; satellite dish on roof

Building Notes: One of two buildings (182 and 184 Bainbridge Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway; tree pit with metal edging

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Resurfaced, painted stoop (historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Mixed (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Notable Roof Features: Brick chimney visible on roof
Cornice: Original
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Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Concrete curb; non-historic fence
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

East Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Parged; chimney; dish antenna on roof

186 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 36

Date: c. 1880 (NB 173-80)

Architect/Builder: Myron C. Rush and Cornelius King (builders)

Original Owner: Catherine Riley

Type: Row house

Style: Altered Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Faux stone cladding over brick; stone lintels and sills; wood cornice

Significant Architectural Features: Stone block sills and lintels; neo-Grec style cornice with modillions,
angular brackets, and geometric ornament

Alterations: Second story with windows and cornice added to original one-story structure c. 1889 (ALT
154-89); facade re-clad with faux stone (between c. 1930s and c. 1980s); non-historic stoop railings; utility
boxes at building base

Site Features: Cellar hatch to right of stoop

North Facade: Designed (resided)

Stoop: Replaced (rebuilt in brick)

Door(s): Altered (molded return intact) primary door; metal security gate at main entry and glass or plastic
panel transom

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Concrete curb; non-historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete walkway; remainder grass

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

East Facade: Not designed (historic)
Facade Notes: Brick facade; brick chimney at rear of building

194 Bainbridge Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 37

Type: Unimproved lot

Building Notes: Historic frame house demolished between c¢. 1930s and c¢. 1980s

Site Features: Chain-link and plywood fencing with razor-wire surrounding property; concrete foundation
visible; curb cuts

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone
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196 Bainbridge Street see 340 Malcolm X Boulevard

202 Bainbridge Street see 340 Malcolm X Boulevard
CHAUNCEY STREET (ODD NUMBERYS)

111 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 78

Date: c. 1890 (Plan no. 2249-90)

Architect/Builder: S.W. & C. J. Dodge Architects (architect); R. Sweet (builder)
Original Owner: Weldon and Sweet

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Special Windows: Stained-glass transoms at parlor and main entry

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced rusticated base with voussoirs; rock-faced ashlar cladding;
impost blocks composed of triple colonnettes with foliated capitals at main entry door surround; molded
cornice with fluted end brackets and paneled fascia featuring fretwork and frieze of miniature lonic
columns

Alterations: Utility box at building base; mailbox and doorbells installed on under-stoop gate; address
plaque installed on facade to left of main entry

Building Notes: One in a row of six buildings (111 through 117 Chauncey Street). Source for Plan number:
Real Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, November 15, 1890, 674.

Site Features: Cellar hatch and brick-edged planting bed with lamp post in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Painted stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Rock-faced stone curb with original pipe railing; historic gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

West Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Brick wall with chimney

111A Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 77

Date: c. 1890 (Plan no. 2249-90)

Architect/Builder: S.W. & C. J. Dodge Architects (architect); R. Sweet (builder)
Original Owner: Weldon and Sweet

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; sandstone; wood cornice
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Special Windows: Stained-glass parlor transoms; arch-headed window opening at second story
Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced rusticated base with voussoirs; rock-faced ashlar cladding
with contrasting stone banding; foliated impost blocks at main entry door surround; rock-faced keystone
lintel at the second story; molded cornice with fluted end brackets and paneled fascia featuring frieze of
miniature lonic columns

Alterations: Utility box at building base; exterior vestibule installed at basement entry; address plaque
installed on facade to left of main entry; doorbells at main entry; security camera installed on facade above
parlor window

Building Notes: One in a row of six buildings (111 through 117 Chauncey Street). Source for Plan number:
Real Estate Record and Builder’s Guide, November 15, 1890, 674.

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway; tree pit with metal edging

South Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced at base)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - removed)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Rock-faced stone curb (parged) with original pipe railing; historic gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

113 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 76

Date: c. 1890 (Plan no. 2249-90)

Architect/Builder: S.W. & C. J. Dodge Architects (architect); R. Sweet (builder)
Original Owner: Weldon and Sweet

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Special Windows: Stained-glass transoms at parlor windows and main entry

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced rusticated base with voussoirs; rock-faced ashlar cladding
with rock-faced voussoirs at window and door openings; denticulated stringcourse at second story; molded
cornice with fluted end brackets and paneled fascia featuring fretwork and frieze of miniature lonic
columns

Alterations: Utility box at building base; doorbell and mailbox at basement entry; security lights at main
and basement entries; doorbell at main entry

Building Notes: One in a row of six buildings (111 through 117 Chauncey Street). Source for Plan number:
Real Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, November 15, 1890, 674.

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Door(s): Altered (paneled returns and transom intact) primary door
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (basement)

Cornice: Original
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Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Rock-faced stone curb
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

115 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 75

Date: ¢. 1890 (Plan no. 2249-90)

Architect/Builder: S.W. & C. J. Dodge Architects (architect); R. Sweet (builder)
Original Owner: Weldon and Sweet

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; red sandstone; wood cornice

Special Windows: Stained-glass transoms at parlor windows and main entry

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced rusticated base with voussoirs; rock-faced ashlar cladding
with rock-faced voussoirs at window and door openings; denticulated stringcourse at second story; molded
cornice with fluted end brackets and paneled fascia featuring fretwork and frieze of miniature lonic
columns

Alterations: Utility box at building base; doorbell and mailbox at basement entry; non-historic light fixture
and doorbell at main entry; address plaque to left of main entry

Building Notes: One in a row of six buildings (111 through 117 Chauncey Street). Source for Plan number:
Real Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, November 15, 1890, 674.

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway; tree pit with landscape-paver edging

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted at base)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Altered (paneled returns and transom intact) primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Rock-faced stone curb with original pipe railing
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

115A Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 74

Date: ¢. 1890 (Plan no. 2249-90)

Architect/Builder: S.W. & C. J. Dodge Architects (architect); R. Sweet (builder)
Original Owner: Weldon and Sweet

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Beige and red sandstones; wood cornice

Special Windows: Stained-glass transom at main entry; arch-headed window opening at second story
Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings
Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced rusticated base with voussoirs; rock-faced ashlar cladding
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with contrasting stone banding; foliated impost blocks at main entry door surround; rock-faced keystone
lintel at the second story; molded cornice with fluted end brackets and paneled fascia featuring frieze of
miniature lonic columns

Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; non-historic light fixtures at main and basement entries; exposed
conduit at basement entry; mailbox at basement entry; doorbell at main entry

Building Notes: One in a row of six buildings (111 through 117 Chauncey Street). Source for Plan number:
Real Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, November 15, 1890, 674.

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Painted stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Rock-faced stone curb; non-historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

117 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 73

Date: c. 1890 (Plan no. 2249-90)

Architect/Builder: S.W. & C. J. Dodge Architects (architect); R. Sweet (builder)
Original Owner: Weldon and Sweet

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Special Windows: Stained-glass transoms at parlor windows and main entry

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced rusticated base with voussoirs; rock-faced ashlar cladding;
impost blocks composed of triple colonnettes with foliated capitals at main entry door surround; molded
cornice with fluted end brackets and paneled fascia featuring fretwork and frieze of miniature lonic
columns

Alterations: Utility box at building base; doorbells at main and basement entries; mailbox at basement
entry; non-historic light fixture at main entry; address plaque to left of main entry; satellite dishes on roof
Building Notes: One in a row of six buildings (111 through 117 Chauncey Street). Source for Plan number:
Real Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, November 15, 1890, 674.

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Altered (paneled returns and transom intact) primary door
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original
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Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Rock-faced stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

119 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 72

Date: c. 1892 (NB 356-92)

Architect/Builder: R. Sweet (architect and carpenter); Henry Fitmar (builder)
Original Owner: R. Sweet

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced rusticated base; rock-faced ashlar cladding; impost blocks
composed of triple colonnettes with foliated capitals at main entry door surround; molded stringcourse at
second story; molded cornice with fluted end brackets and paneled fascia featuring frieze of miniature lonic
columns

Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; doorbell and mailbox at basement entry; some details missing
from cornice

Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (119 through 125 Chauncey Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway; tree pit with landscape pavers

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted at base)

Stoop: Painted stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Rock-faced stone curb; historic fence and non-historic gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

121 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 71

Date: c. 1892 (NB 356-92)

Architect/Builder: R. Sweet (architect and carpenter); Henry Fitmar (builder)
Original Owner: R. Sweet

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced rusticated base; rock-faced ashlar cladding; impost blocks
composed of triple colonnettes with foliated capitals at main entry door surround; molded stringcourse at
second story; molded cornice with fluted end brackets and paneled fascia featuring fretwork and frieze of
miniature lonic columns
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Alterations: Non-historic light fixtures and sign at main entry; metal box sign between parlor windows;
doorbell and mailbox at basement entry
Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (119 through 125 Chauncey Street).

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted at base)

Stoop: Painted stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Historic primary door; metal security gate at main entry

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); original (basement)

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Rock-faced stone curb; historic fence and non-historic gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Three bluestone pavers, remainder concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone (painted)

123 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 70

Date: c. 1892 (NB 356-92)

Architect/Builder: R. Sweet (architect and carpenter); Henry Fitmar (builder)
Original Owner: R. Sweet

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival with alterations

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced rusticated base; rock-faced ashlar cladding; impost blocks
composed of triple colonnettes with foliated capitals at main entry door surround; molded stringcourse at
second story

Alterations: Cornice removed; address plaque to left of main entry; doorbells at main and basement entries
Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (119 through 125 Chauncey Street).

South Facade: Designed (resurfaced)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (original gate under stoop)
Door(s): Altered (transom intact) primary door
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Rock-faced stone curb
Areaway Paving Material(s): Mostly bluestone
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

125 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 69

Date: c. 1892 (NB 356-92)

Architect/Builder: R. Sweet (architect and carpenter); Henry Fitmar (builder)
Original Owner: R. Sweet

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice
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Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced rusticated base; rock-faced ashlar cladding; impost blocks
composed of triple colonettes with foliated capitals at main entry door surround; molded stringcourse at
second story; molded cornice with fluted end brackets and paneled fascia featuring fretwork and frieze of
miniature lonic columns

Alterations: Intercom box, mailbox, and doorbell at basement entry; utility box at building base

Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (119 through 125 Chauncey Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway; tree pit with landscape pavers

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Altered (transom intact) primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Rock-faced stone curb (overlaid by concrete pad); historic fence
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

127 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 68

Date: c. 1895 (NB 216-95)

Architect/Builder: Alfred L. Beasley

Original Owner: David S. Beasley

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec/Renaissance Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone trim; pressed-metal cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced eared and pedimented lintel supported on brackets with
metopes and guttae at main entry; rock-faced window lintels and sill courses; molded cornice with
guarter-round modillions, egg-and-dart molding, and paneled fascia

Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; doorbells at main and basement entries; mailboxes installed on
under-stoop gate

Building Notes: One in a row of three buildings (127 through 131 Chauncey Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway; tree pit with landscape-paver edging

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Resurfaced and painted stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Altered (transom intact) primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and non-historic gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone
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129 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 67

Date: c. 1895 (NB 216-95)

Architect/Builder: Alfred L. Beasley

Original Owner: David S. Beasley

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec/Renaissance Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone trim; pressed-metal cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced eared and pedimented lintel supported on brackets with
metopes and guttae at main entry; rock-faced window lintels and sill courses; molded cornice with
neo-Grec style fluted brackets and foliated fascia frieze

Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; doorbells at main and basement entries; mailboxes installed on
under-stoop gate

Building Notes: One in a row of three buildings (127 through 131 Chauncey Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway

South Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Original stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Altered (transom intact) primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

131 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 66

Date: c. 1895 (NB 216-95)

Architect/Builder: Alfred L. Beasley

Original Owner: David S. Beasley

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec/Renaissance Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone trim; pressed-metal cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced eared and pedimented lintel supported on brackets with
metopes and guttae at main entry; rock-faced window lintels and sill courses; molded cornice with
quarter-round modillions, egg-and-dart molding, and paneled fascia

Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; doorbells at main and basement entries; mailbox on under-stoop
gate; satellite dish on roof

Building Notes: One in a row of three buildings (127 through 131 Chauncey Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch and concrete-edged planting bed in areaway
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South Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

East Facade: Not designed (historic)
Facade Notes: Brick facade

139 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 61

Building Name: Holy Rosary Roman Catholic Church

Date: c. 1889, altered 1934-35 (Plan no. 2431-89)

Architect/Builder: Thomas F. Houghton (1889), Thomas H. Irving (1934-35)

Original Owner: John Loughlin

Type: Religious

Style: Neo-Romanesgue

Stories: 2

Material(s): Buff brick facade; red brick side facades; limestone trim; pressed-metal cornice and slate
roofing and dormer tiles on side facades

Special Windows: Slate-clad jerkinhead dormer windows with multi-pane arch-headed windows and
pressed-metal molding at east and west sides of nave roof; round-arched stained-glass windows on all
facades

Decorative Metal Work: Decorative grilles at arched transoms over main entry and secondary flanking
entries; grillework at slot windows flanking main entry portico

Significant Architectural Features: Round-arched window and door openings; gabled portico at main
entry; corbelled brick Lombard strip at gabled parapet; molded pressed-metal cornice with quarter-round
modillions at east and west facades of nave; jerkinhead dormers at nave roof

Alterations: Altered c. 1934 with the removal of the original facade and the creation of the present
buff-brick facade, following a fire; security lights flanking entry doors; modern metal pin-mounted signage
and crucifix; metal box sign with exposed conduit to right of eastern secondary entry

Building Notes: The church was the first structure erected in the Holy Rosary complex (see below for
church history, and see also entries for 141 Chauncey Street and 180 Bainbridge Street). Source for Plan
number: Real Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, November 23, 1889, 1591.

Site Features: Tree pits; parking lot to west of church with one-story garage, enclosed by non-historic metal
fence; non-historic metal fence to east of church

Other Structures on Site: Utilitarian style brick garage (NB 16192-25, c. 1925) with cast-stone coping at
pedimented parapet; window (sealed) and door on east facade of garage; security lights installed at parapet.

Notable History and Residents: This parish of the Holy Rosary Roman Catholic Church was founded in
1889 and led by Rev. Father D. Monteverde as rector. The first services were held on the second floor of a
frame building at 1747 Fulton Street, which is no longer extant. The cornerstone of the present building was
laid in October of 1889, and the completed church was dedicated five years later, on October 7th, 1894. In
February 1934 two children were playing with matches inside the church and started a fire that destroyed
the front portion of the building. By 1935 approximately $10,000 had been spent on repairs to the church
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and a new facade had been erected, designed by architect Thomas H. Irving, a prolific architect of Roman
Catholic churches, schools, and associated buildings.

References: “Church of the Most Holy Rosary,” New York Times (NYT), October 8, 1894, 9; “Boy and Girl
at Play in Brooklyn Church Set $10,000 Fire with Matches from Shrine,” NYT, February 3, 1934, 30; Holy
Rosary Church [c. 1908 photograph], in [Brooklyn Daily] Eagle Collection, Brooklyn Collection, Brooklyn
Public Library (Accessed online: November 27, 2012); Holy Rosary Church [post card], in [Brooklyn
Daily] Eagle Post Card Series: Series 33, no. 195, Brooklyn Collection, Brooklyn Public Library (Accessed
online: November 27, 2012); and Holy Rosary Church [photograph of a c. 1934 illustration], in [Brooklyn
Daily] Eagle Collection, Brooklyn Collection, Brooklyn Public Library (Accessed online: November 27,
2012).

South Facade: Designed (historic, some limestone trim painted)
Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Historic (upper stories); not visible (basement)
Cornice: Historic

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

West Facade: Designed (historic)

Facade Notes: Brick facade; round-arched windows; pressed-metal cornice with quarter-round modillions;
parapet at rear roof with copper flashing; chimney at rear roof; slate roof with jerkinhead dormers;
one-story brick rear extension with windows and flashing at cornice

East Facade: Designed (historic)

Facade Notes: Brick facade; round-arched windows; pressed-metal cornice with quarter-round modillions;
parapet at rear roof with copper flashing; chimney at rear roof; slate roof with jerkinhead dormers;
one-story brick rear extension with windows and flashing at cornice; stucco-clad vestibule with door,
security light, and asphalt-shingle roof installed at ground story near front of building; basement entry
partially visible; basement windows sealed with plywood; one-story brick rear extension with molded
pressed-metal cornice

141 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 58

Building Name: Holy Rosary Roman Catholic Church
Date: ¢. 1921 (NB 13467-21)

Architect/Builder: Helmle & Corbett

Original Owner: Holy Rosary R. C. Church

Type: Religious (rectory)

Style: Collegiate Gothic

Stories: 3

Material(s): Buff brick; limestone trim

Special Windows: Pointed-arch window on first story of west facade, with stained-glass and wood tracery;
pointed-arch window on second story of east facade

Decorative Metal Work: Decorative gate and surround at arcade on southeastern corner of building
Significant Architectural Features: Molded stringcourses; pointed-arch door opening at first story on west
facade; pointed-arch arcade with buttresses and crenellations at southeast corner of building; three-sided
bay on first story of west facade; panel with escutcheon at center of facade on third story; crenellations at
center of parapet
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Alterations: Under construction at the time of designation, including installation of new six-over-six
windows at the upper stories, wire mesh at basement windows and lintels rebuilt; metal mesh at arcade gate;
metal plague signs on facade

Building Notes: Built as the rectory for Holy Rosary church and part of the same building as the parochial
school on Bainbridge Street (see entry for 180 Bainbridge Street).

Site Features: Tree pit with Belgian block pavers

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); altered (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

East Facade: Designed (historic)
Facade Notes: Design and materials continue from primary facade; four-story rear extension (red-brick
with limestone trim) partially visible

West Facade: Designed (historic)
Facade Notes: Design and materials continue from primary facade; four-story rear extension (red-brick
with limestone trim) partially visible

145 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 57

Date: c. 1884 (Plan no. 1501-84)

Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill (architect); Weeks & Lauer (builder)
Original Owner: Daniel Lauer

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone trim; wood cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Historic stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Stylized incised ornament at window lintels; door lintel with fluted
brackets and sunburst motif; neo-Grec style cornice with angular brackets and deep paneled fascia
Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; non-historic light fixtures and exposed conduit at first story and
basement entry; doorbell at main entry; antenna on roof; mailboxes installed on stoop; grade of areaway
raised with concrete pad

Building Notes: One in a row of three buildings (145, 145A, and 147 Chauncey Street). Source for Plan
number: Real Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, November 22, 1884, 1193.

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway; tree pit

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)
Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original
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Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

West Facade: Not designed (historic)
Facade Notes: Parged and painted brick facade with tar coping

145A Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 56

Date: c. 1884 (Plan no. 1501-84)

Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill (architect); Weeks & Lauer (builder)
Original Owner: Daniel Lauer

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone trim; wood cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings and newel posts

Significant Architectural Features: Stylized incised ornament at window lintels; door lintel with fluted
brackets and sunburst motif; neo-Grec style cornice with angular brackets and deep paneled fascia
Alterations: Utility box at building base; mailboxes installed on stoop; doorbells at main entry; some
cornice details missing; grade of areaway raised with concrete pad

Building Notes: One in a row of three buildings (145, 145A, and 147 Chauncey Street). Source for Plan
number: Real Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, November 22, 1884, 1193.

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway; tree pit (shared with 147 Chauncey Street)

South Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Historic stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

147 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 55

Date: c. 1884 (Plan no. 1501-84)

Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill (architect); Weeks & Lauer (builder)
Original Owner: Daniel Lauer

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone trim; wood cornice

Significant Architectural Features: Stylized incised ornament at window lintels; door lintel with fluted
brackets and sunburst motif; neo-Grec style cornice with angular brackets and deep paneled fascia
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Alterations: Utility box at building base; non-historic stoop railings and newel posts; non-historic light
fixtures at main and basement entries; antenna on roof; grade of areaway raised with concrete pad and
lowered/excavated at basement entry

Building Notes: One in a row of three buildings (145, 145A, and 147 Chauncey Street). Source for Plan
number: Real Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, November 22, 1884, p. 1193.

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway; tree pit (shared with 145A Chauncey Street)

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Painted, partially resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)
Door(s): Replaced primary door; metal security gate at main entry
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; non-historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

149 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 54

Date: c. 1886 (Plan no. 1910-86)

Architect/Builder: W. J. Wilson (architect and builder)
Original Owner: A. M. Maryatt

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone trim; wood cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings and newel posts

Significant Architectural Features: Stylized incised ornament at door and window lintels; neo-Grec style
cornice with angular brackets and geometric motif at fascia

Alterations: Utility meter and box at building base; basement window converted to door; mailboxes
installed on facade to right of under-stoop entry; intercom and non-historic light fixture at secondary
basement entry; non-historic light fixture, address plaque, and intercom box at main entry; grade of
areaway changed and steps and cheek walls added or reconfigured

Building Notes: One in a row of two buildings (149 and 151 Chauncey Street). Source for Plan number:
Real Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, December 11, 1886, 1545.

Site Features: Planter bed, cheek wall, and steps with non-historic fences and railings in areaway

South Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Replaced primary door; metal security gate at main entry and transom

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stucco-finished curb and cheek walls; non-historic fences and gates
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone
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151 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 53

Date: c. 1886 (Plan no. 1910-86)

Architect/Builder: W. J. Wilson (architect and builder)
Original Owner: A. M. Maryatt

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone trim; wood cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings and newel posts

Significant Architectural Features: Stylized incised ornament at door and window lintels; neo-Grec style
cornice with angular brackets and geometric motif at fascia

Alterations: Security light and doorbell at main entry; mailbox installed on side of stoop; doorbell at
basement entry; antenna on roof

Building Notes: One in a row of two buildings (149 and 151 Chauncey Street). Source for Plan number:
Real Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, December 11, 1886, 1545.

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway; curb cut

South Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Altered (paneled returns and transom intact) primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Removed (historic fence and gate in areaway but not installed)
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): None (curb cut)

153 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 51

Date: c. 1906 (NB 1730-06)

Architect/Builder: L[ouis] Danancher

Original Owner: S. Manns

Type: Flats building

Style: Altered Renaissance Revival

Stories: 4

Material(s): Buff ironspot brick; limestone base and trim

Special Windows: Arch-headed window openings at fourth story

Decorative Metal Work: Decorative fire escape at upper stories

Significant Architectural Features: Door hood composed of foliated brackets supporting a molded
entablature with a foliated frieze; brick corbelling and panels; four brick piers with foliated pendant plinths
at upper stories; rock-faced stringcourses; molded lintels; continuous sill courses; arched lintels with
keystones at fourth story; brick denticulation at parapet

Alterations: Cornice removed; windows boarded up; roll-down security gate at main entry; stone at base
painted; non-historic stoop railings

Site Features: Cellar hatch to right of stoop
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South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Resurfaced

Door(s): Not visible (covered by roll-down gate) primary door
Windows: Sealed (upper stories); sealed (basement)

Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Removed

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

East Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Brick wall with stone coping; chimneys toward rear of building

West Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Brick wall with stone coping

North Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Brick facade; windows boarded up; fire escape at upper stories

155 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1686, Lot 50

Date: c. 1875-76

Architect/Builder: John Kearney

Original Owner: John Kearney

Type: Semi-attached house

Style: Altered neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Vinyl siding; faux stone base; concrete stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Pitched roofline

Alterations: Facade re-clad and porch removed,; utility boxes at building base; exposed conduit at basement
entry; non-historic light fixture at main entry; metal awnings at main and basement entries; leader at east
side of facade; satellite dishes on roof

Building Notes: Source for owner and date: Real Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, December 4, 1875,
786; tax assessment records.

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway

South Facade: Designed (resided)

Stoop: Not historic stoop (gate under stoop - not historic)
Porch(es): Removed

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Cornice: Altered

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

East Facade: Not designed (historic, altered) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Vinyl siding; second-story window opening (replacement, non-historic grille); flashing at
roofline; parged chimney
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159 Chauncey Street see 360 Malcolm X Boulevard
CHAUNCEY STREET (EVEN NUMBERS)

70 Chauncey Street (aka 422-440 Stuyvesant Avenue)
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1690, Lot 1

Date: 1908-1909 (NB 2914-08)

Architect/Builder: Helmle & Huberty

Original Owner: City of New York, Brooklyn Parks Department
Type: Comfort Station

Style: Mediterranean Revival

Stories: 1

Material(s): Buff brick; terra-cotta roof tiles; stone trim

Special Windows: Slot windows below eaves

Decorative Metal Work: Decorative window grilles; non-historic metal fence at arcade

Significant Architectural Features: Arcade; brick diaperwork; end pavilions; decorative cupolas; exposed
wood rafters; Spanish tiles; "WOMEN" and "MEN" inscriptions above bathroom entries

Site Features: Masonry landscape pavers and asphalt paving; animal art pavers; metal fencing;
concrete-and-wood-park benches; historic or reproduction lamp posts; reproduction or historic cast-stone
drinking fountains; terrazzo tile North-arrow mosaic; statue of Robert Fulton (see Notable History)
Notable History and Residents: Fulton Park was created through a plan initiated in 1902 by Brooklyn
Borough President J.E. Swanstrom. For creation of the park, an irregularly shaped lot bounded by Fulton
Street on the south, Stuyvesant Avenue on the east, and Chauncey Street on the north was purchased by the
city through condemnation in 1904 at a cost of $308,174.16, and scores of houses were demolished to make
way for the park beginning in May 1905. By the end of that year the park had been planted and seeded. The
park comfort station, designed by Helmle & Huberty and located at the eastern end of the triangular park,
was completed in 1910. In 1930 a statue of Robert Fulton was placed in the park through the efforts of the
Society of Old Brooklynites, who recovered the statue from a storage space after it had been removed from
its original location on the Brooklyn waterfront. Originally commissioned in 1872 by residents of Brooklyn
Heights and installed near the Fulton Ferry House at the terminus of Fulton Street, the zinc statue was
created by Bohemian-born sculptor Caspar Buberl (1834-1899) and depicts Fulton holding a model of the
Nassau, the first steam ferry between Brooklyn and Manhattan. Buberl was a well-known American
sculptor whose prominent works include the Civil War Frieze (1883) on the former Pension Building in
Washington, D.C., the Confederate Memorial (1889) in Alexandria, Virginia, and the bronzework of the
New York State Monument at Gettysburg, Pennsylvania. In 1935 the Parks Department carried out repairs
and restoration of the statue, but by 1955 it had become so deteriorated that a new bronze replica was cast
and the statue reinstalled on a new granite base. The original zinc statue is now held in the collections of the
Museum of the City of New York. The landscaping of Fulton Park was restored and enhanced with new
decorative paving between 1997 and 1998 as part of a Parks Department capital campaign.

References: William Perris, Plan of the City of Brooklyn, L.I. (New York: Perris & Higginson, 1855);
Insurance Maps of Brooklyn (Sanborn, 1888 and 1908); “Fulton Park” and “Robert Fulton,” New York
City Department of Parks and Recreation website (Accessed December 3, 2012); The City of New York,
Department of Parks, Report for the Year 1904 (New York: Martin B. Brown Co., Printers and Stationers,
1905) (Accessed online: December 3, 2012); The City of New York, Department of Parks, Report for the
Year 1905 (New York: Martin B. Brown Co., Printers and Stationers, 1906) (Accessed online: December 3,
2012); “Dead Sculptor’s Noted Works,” NYT, August 24, 1899, 7; Joyce L. McDaniel, “Caspar Buberl: The
Pension Building Civil War Frieze and Other Washington, D.C. Sculpture,” Records of the Columbia
Historical Society, vol. 50 (1980), 309-344 (Accessed online: December 3, 2012); L.H. Robbins, “A City
Statue’s Lot is Not a Happy One,” NYT, August 23, 1936, SM 12; Robert Moses, “Mr. Moses Surveys the
City Statues,” NYT, November 21, 1943, SM18.)
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North, South, East and West Facades: Designed (historic)
Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Possibly historic

Security Grilles: Historic

Cornice: Original

Sidewalk Material(s): Majority concrete

78 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1691, Lot 6

Date: c. 1889 (Plan no. 793-89)

Architect/Builder: A. Hill & Son [likely Amzi Hill]
Original Owner: J. F. Tyler

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; stone; wood cornice

Special Windows: Basket-arched parlor-floor window with curved transoms and molded wood muntins
Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Paired stoops; projecting bay; decorative brick panels at the upper
stories; arched window and door surrounds with keystones; decorative terra-cotta or brick tile with a
foliated motif above the main entry; continuous sill- and lintel-courses; molded and denticulated cornice
with strapwork brackets and a deep paneled fascia

Alterations: Intercom box and address numbers at main entry; address numbers, security lights, and
mailbox at basement entry; satellite dishes/antenna on roof

Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (78 to 82 Chauncey Street). Source for Plan number: Real
Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, April 20, 1889, p. 793.

Site Features: Cellar hatch, planting bed, and lamp post in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Painted stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Altered (molded returns and transom intact) primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (one altered for AC unit) (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Concrete curb; non-historic brick with brick piers
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

West Facade: Not designed (historic, altered) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Parged brick facade; chimney

South Facade: Not designed (historic, altered) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Parged brick facade; segmental-arched window openings; boxed-out cornice; metal
flashing; non-historic security grilles at second-story windows; metal leader
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80 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1691, Lot 7

Date: c. 1889 (Plan no. 793-89)

Architect/Builder: A. Hill & Son [likely Amzi Hill]
Original Owner: J. F. Tyler

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; stone; wood cornice

Special Windows: Basket-arched parlor-floor window with curved transoms and molded wood muntins
Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Paired stoops; projecting bay; decorative brick panels at the upper
stories; arched window and door surrounds with keystones; decorative terra-cotta or brick tile with a
foliated motif above the main entry; continuous sill- and lintel- courses; molded and denticulated cornice
with strapwork brackets and a deep paneled fascia

Alterations: Utility box at building base; doorbells at main and basement entries; stone trim resurfaced;
mailbox installed between basement windows; satellite dishes/antenna on roof

Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (78 to 82 Chauncey Street). Source for Plan number: Real
Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, April 20, 1889, 793.

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway; tree pit with masonry-paver edging

North Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced)

Stoop: Painted stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Not visible primary door; metal security gate at main entry
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; two bluestone flags at cellar hatch
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

South Facade: Not designed (historic, altered) (partially visible)

80A Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1691, Lot 8

Date: c. 1889 (Plan no. 793-89)

Architect/Builder: A. Hill & Son [likely Amzi Hill]
Original Owner: J. F. Tyler

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; stone; wood cornice

Special Windows: Basket-arched parlor-floor window with curved transoms and molded wood muntins
Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Paired stoops; projecting bay; decorative brick panels at the upper
stories; arched window and door surrounds with keystones; decorative terra-cotta or brick tile with a
foliated motif above the main entry; continuous sill- and lintel-courses; molded and denticulated cornice
with strapwork brackets and a deep paneled fascia
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Alterations: Utility boxes at basement facade; intercom box, non-historic light fixture, and address plaque
at main entry; intercom box at basement entry; mailbox installed between basement windows; stone trim
resurfaced; satellite dishes/antenna on roof

Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (78 to 82 Chauncey Street). Source for Plan number: Real
Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, April 20, 1889, 793.

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway; tree pit with masonry-paver edging

North Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Altered (paneled returns and transom intact) primary door; metal security gate at main entry
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; original fence and non-historic gate

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

South Facade: Not designed (historic, altered) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Parged brick facade; segmental-arched window openings; boxed-out cornice; metal
flashing; non-historic security grilles at second-story windows; metal leader

82 Chauncey Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1691, Lot 9

Date: c. 1889 (Plan no. 793-89)

Architect/Builder: A. Hill & Son [likely Amzi Hill]
Original Owner: J. F. Tyler

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; stone; wood cornice

Special Windows: Basket-arched parlor-floor window with curved transoms and molded wood muntins
Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Paired stoops; projecting bay; decorative brick panels at the upper
stories; arched window and door surrounds with keystones; decorative terra-cotta or brick tile with a
foliated motif above the main entry; continuous sill- and lintel-courses; molded and denticulated cornice
with strapwork brackets and a deep paneled fascia

Alterations: Utility box at building base; doorbells at main and basement entries; satellite dishes/antenna on
roof

Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (78 to 82 Chauncey Street). Source for Plan number: Real
Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, April 20, 1889, 793.

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway; tree pit with masonry-paver edging

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Painted stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Altered (paneled returns and transom intact) primary door
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Original (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; non-historic fence and gate
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Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete
Curb Material(s): Stone

East Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Brick facade covered in ivy; chimney at roof

South Facade: Not designed (historic, altered) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Painted brick facade; segmental-arched window openings; boxed-out cornice; brick

DECATUR STREET (ODD NUMBERS)
1-3 Decatur Street see 493 Tompkins Avenue

7 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 78

Date: 1888 (NB 255-1888)
Architect/Builder: Augustus W. Blazo
Original Owner: 1. D. Sullivan

Type: Apartment building

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 4 and basement

Material(s): Brick

Significant Architectural Features: Projecting water table and window sills; bracketed lintels with guttae
above the main entryway and the windows; molded cornice

Alterations: Stoop possibly rebuilt; cornice possibly simplified from the original; non-historic wall lamps;
signage next to the entryway

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Possibly historic

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Cornice: Altered

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic metal fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

West Facade: Not designed (historic)

9 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 77

Date: 1877 (NB 155-1877)

Architect/Builder: P. Sullivan (builder)

Original Owner: 1. D. Sullivan

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with Italianate details and alterations
Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone
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Special Windows: Segmental-arch fenestration at the basement

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated base; brownstone stoop; projecting sills; segmental-arch
main entryway topped by paneled keystone and bracketed gable; bracketed roof cornice with dentils and
frieze panels

Alterations: Replacement stoop railings; simplified window lintels; non-historic light fixture and mailbox
at the basement

South Facade: Designed (painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Original primary door; metal security door at the main entryway
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Bluestone and concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

11 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 76

Date: 1876 (NB 112-1876)

Architect/Builder: Walter C. Russell

Original Owner: W. McKinney

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with Italianate details and alterations
Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Segmental-arch fenestration

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated base; brownstone stoop; projecting sills; segmental-arch
main entryway topped by paneled keystone and bracketed gable; bracketed roof cornice with dentils and
frieze panels

Alterations: Replacement stoop railings; simplified window lintels

South Facade: Designed (historic, patched)

Stoop: Original stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic metal fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Bluestone and concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone
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13 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 75

Date: 1876 (NB 112-1876)

Architect/Builder: Walter C. Russell

Original Owner: W. McKinney

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with Italianate details and alterations
Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated base; brownstone stoop; projecting sills; segmental-arch
main entryway topped by paneled keystone and bracketed gable; bracketed roof cornice with dentils and
frieze panels

Alterations: Replacement stoop railings; simplified window lintels

South Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced)

Stoop: Original stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic metal fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Bluestone

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

15 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 74

Date: 1876 (NB 108-1876)

Architect/Builder: Walter C. Russell

Original Owner: Mrs. M. McKinney

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with Italianate details and alterations
Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated base; brownstone stoop; projecting sills; segmental-arch
main entryway topped by paneled keystone and bracketed gable; bracketed roof cornice with dentils and
frieze panels

Alterations: Replacement stoop railings; window lintels simplified

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fence, gate, and basement railings
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Bluestone; concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone
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17 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 73

Date: 1876 (NB 108-1876)
Architect/Builder: Walter C. Russell
Original Owner: Mrs. M. McKinney
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with Italianate details
Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated base; brownstone stoop; bracketed sills with convex panels;
molded window lintels; segmental-arch main entryway topped by paneled keystone and bracketed gable;
bracketed roof cornice with dentils and frieze panels

Alterations: Replacement stoop railings; non-historic light fixture above basement entryway

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

19 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 72

Date: 1876 (NB 108-1876)

Architect/Builder: Walter C. Russell

Original Owner: Mrs. M. McKinney

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with Italianate details and alterations
Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Segmental-arch fenestration at basement

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated base; brownstone stoop with cast-iron balusters; projecting
sills; segmental-arch main entryway topped by paneled keystone and bracketed gable; bracketed roof
cornice with dentils and frieze panels

Alterations: Window lintels and sills simplified; newel posts removed or covered over

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Altered stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Original cast-iron posts and balusters modified with the addition of
wrought-iron; non-historic wrought-iron gate

Areaway Paving Material(s): Bluestone; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete and bluestone
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Curb Material(s): Bluestone

21 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 71

Date: 1876 (NB 37-1876)
Architect/Builder: John Mumford
Original Owner: Samuel Booth
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Historic cast-iron newel posts and original cast-iron balustrade and railings on the
stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Beveled window lintels at the basement; projecting water table;
round-arch main entryway flanked by flat pilasters and topped by a bracketed pediment and carved
keystone; bracketed window sills (with geometrical panels at the first story); bracketed window lintels;
bracketed roof cornice with frieze panels and dentils

Alterations: Gate removed; non-historic light fixture and mailbox at the basement

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted, patched)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic cast-iron posts and balustraded fence
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

23 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 70

Date: 1876 (NB 37-1876)
Architect/Builder: John Mumford
Original Owner: Samuel Booth
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Beveled sash at the basement

Decorative Metal Work: Historic cast-iron balustrades and railings on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Projecting water table; round-arch main entryway flanked by flat
pilasters and topped by a bracketed pediment and carved keystone; bracketed window sills (with
geometrical panels at the first story); bracketed window lintels; bracketed roof cornice with frieze panels
and dentils

Alterations: Non-historic light fixture at the basement

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted, patched)
Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)
Door(s): Original primary door
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Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

25 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 69

Date: 1876 (NB 37-1876)
Architect/Builder: John Mumford
Original Owner: Samuel Booth
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Beveled sash at the basement

Significant Architectural Features: Projecting water table; round-arch main entryway flanked by fluted
pilasters and topped by a bracketed pediment and carved keystone; bracketed window sills (with
geometrical panels at the first story); bracketed window lintels; bracketed roof cornice with frieze panels
and dentils

Alterations: Replacement stoop railings; under-stoop entryway boxed-out

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Altered stoop (gate under stoop - altered)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

27 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 68

Date: 1876 (NB 37-1876)
Architect/Builder: John Mumford
Original Owner: Samuel Booth
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Beveled fenestration at the basement

Significant Architectural Features: Projecting water table; cast-iron newel posts, balusters, and hand rails
on the stoop; round-arch main entryway flanked by fluted pilasters and topped by a bracketed pediment and
carved keystone; bracketed window sills (with geometrical panels at the first story); bracketed window
lintels; bracketed roof cornice with frieze panels and dentils

92



South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s):Original

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Original cast-iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete and bluestone

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

29 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 67

Date: 1876 (NB 37-1876)
Architect/Builder: John Mumford
Original Owner: Samuel Booth
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Beveled fenestration at the basement

Significant Architectural Features: Projecting water table; round-arch main entryway flanked by flat
pilasters and topped by a bracketed pediment and carved keystone; bracketed window sills (with
geometrical panels at the first story); bracketed window lintels; bracketed roof cornice with frieze panels
and dentils

Alterations: Replacement stoop railings; non-historic light and intercom at the main entryway

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic metal fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Bluestone and concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

31 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 66

Date: 1887 (NB 263-1887)
Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield
Original Owner: John C. Bushfield
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Beveled fenestration at the basement
Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts and railings
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Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; incised decoration at the sills, pilasters, piers,
lintels, spandrels, window surrounds; bracketed sills and entryway hood; bracketed wood cornice with
carved frieze panels

Alterations: Non-historic light fixture at the basement entryway; satellite dishes on the roof

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic cast-iron posts and wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

West Facade: Not designed (historic, altered) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Cement stucco

33 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 65

Date: 1887 (NB 263-1887)
Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield
Original Owner: John C. Bushfield
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Beveled fenestration at the basement

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts and railings

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; incised decoration at the sills, entryway pilasters,
basement piers, first-story spandrels, bracketed sills and entryway hood; bracketed wood cornice with
carved frieze panels

Alterations: Most of the original stonework around the windows removed; under-stoop entryway boxed-out

South Facade: Designed (historic, partially stripped)

Stoop: Altered stoop (gate under stoop - altered)

Door(s):Replaced

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic cast-iron posts and wrought-iron railings and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone
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35 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 64

Date: 1887 (NB 263-1887)
Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield
Original Owner: John C. Bushfield
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Beveled fenestration at the basement

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel railings

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; incised decoration at the sills, entryway pilasters,
basement piers, first-story spandrels, bracketed sills and entryway hood; bracketed wood cornice with
carved frieze panels

Alterations: Newel posts removed from the stoop; most of the incised ornament stripped off; wrought-iron
fire escape; metal mail boxes attached to the stoop

South Facade: Designed (painted, resurfaced)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - removed)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic cast-iron posts and wrought-iron fence
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

37 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 63

Date: 1887 (NB 263-1887)
Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield
Original Owner: John C. Bushfield
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Beveled fenestration at the basement

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron railings

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; incised decoration at the sills, entryway pilasters,
basement piers, first-story spandrels, bracketed sills and entryway hood; bracketed wood cornice with
carved frieze panels

Alterations: Most or the incised ornament removed; newel posts removed from the stoop; metal mailboxes
attached to the side of the stoop

South Facade: Designed (painted)

Stoop: Altered stoop (gate under stoop - altered)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
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Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic cast-iron posts, wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

39 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 62

Date: 1887 (NB 263-1887)
Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield
Original Owner: John C. Bushfield
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Beveled fenestration at the basement

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron railings

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; incised decoration at the entryway pilasters,
basement piers and lintels, first-story spandrels, bracketed sills and entryway hood; bracketed wood cornice
with carved frieze panels

Alterations: Most of the original incised ornament on the upper stories removed; mailboxes attached to the
side of the stoop; non-historic light fixture at the basement

South Facade: Designed (painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Possibly historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed; metal chute cover
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

41 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 61

Date: 1887 (NB 263-1887)
Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield
Original Owner: John C. Bushfield
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Beveled fenestration at the basement

Decorative Metal Work: Iron crestwork above the main entryway lintel; original cast-iron railings on the
stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; incised decoration at the sills, entryway pilasters,
basement piers, first-story spandrels, bracketed sills and entryway hood; bracketed wood cornice with
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carved frieze panels
Alterations: Most of the original incised ornament removed

South Facade: Designed (painted, resurfaced)

Stoop: Altered stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts and fence with non-historic metal gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

43 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 60

Date: 1887 (NB 263-1887)
Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield
Original Owner: John C. Bushfield
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Beveled fenestration at the basement

Decorative Metal Work: Iron crestwork above the main entryway lintel; original cast-iron newel posts and
railings on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; incised decoration at the entryway pilasters,
basement piers and lintels, first-story spandrels, bracketed sills and entryway hood; bracketed wood cornice
with carved frieze panels

Alterations: Most of the original incised ornament removed; utility meters attached to the basement facade

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Original cast-iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete

97



45 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 59

Date: 1887 (NB 263-1887)
Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield
Original Owner: John C. Bushfield
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Beveled fenestration at the basement

Decorative Metal Work: Iron crestwork above the main entryway lintel; original cast-iron railings on the
stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; incised decoration at the sills, pilasters, piers,
lintels, spandrels, window surrounds; bracketed sills and entryway hood; bracketed wood cornice with
carved frieze panels

Alterations: Original cast-iron newel posts removed from the stoop; wrought-iron fire escape; door bell
panel attached to the basement facade

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Altered stoop (gate under stoop - altered)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Original cast-iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

47 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 58

Date: 1887 (NB 65-1887)

Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield (possibly)
Original Owner: John C. Bushfield

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Beveled fenestration at the basement

Decorative Metal Work: Iron crestwork above the main entryway lintel

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; incised decoration at the sills, pilasters, piers,
lintels, spandrels, window surrounds; bracketed sills and entryway hood; bracketed wood cornice with
carved frieze panels

Alterations: Replacement stoop railings; mailboxes attached to the under-stoop gate

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - altered)
Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
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Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

49 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 57

Date: 1887 (NB 65-1887)

Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield (possibly)
Original Owner: John C. Bushfield

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Beveled fenestration at the basement

Decorative Metal Work: Iron crestwork above the main entryway lintel (sections removed)

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; incised decoration at the sills, pilasters, piers,
lintels, spandrels, window surrounds; bracketed sills and entryway hood; bracketed wood cornice with
carved frieze panels

Alterations: Metal awnings at the basement; ironwork removed from the stoop; some of the incised window
ornamentation removed

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - altered)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Original cast-iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

51 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 56

Date: 1887 (NB 65-1887)

Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield (possibly)
Original Owner: John C. Bushfield

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Beveled fenestration at the basement

Decorative Metal Work: Iron crestwork above the main entryway lintel

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; incised decoration at the sills, pilasters, piers,
lintels, spandrels, window surrounds; bracketed sills and entryway hood; bracketed wood cornice with
carved frieze panels
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Alterations: Original ironwork removed from the stoop; security lamps at the basement; mailbox attached
to the stoop

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

53 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 55

Date: 1887 (NB 65-1887)

Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield (possibly)
Original Owner: John C. Bushfield

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Beveled fenestration at the basement

Decorative Metal Work: Iron crestwork above the main entryway lintel

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; incised decoration at the sills, pilasters, piers,
lintels, spandrels, window surrounds; bracketed sills and entryway hood

Alterations: Original ironwork removed from the stoop; cornice removed; antenna on the roof

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)

Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Original cast-iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

55 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 54

Date: 1887 (NB 65-1887)

Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield (possibly)
Original Owner: John C. Bushfield

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone
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Special Windows: Beveled fenestration at the basement

Decorative Metal Work: Iron crestwork above the main entryway lintel

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; incised decoration at the sills, pilasters, piers,
lintels, spandrels, window surrounds; bracketed sills and entryway hood; bracketed wood cornice with
carved frieze panels

Alterations: Original ironwork removed from the stoop; non-historic light fixture at the basement entryway

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Original cast-iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

57 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 53

Date: 1886 (NB 141-1886)
Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill
Original Owner: John J. Curren
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron newel posts, balusters, and railing on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; incised decoration at the water table, window sills,
pilasters, lintels, and window surrounds; bracketed sills and entryway hood; beveled lintels; carved panels
beneath the first-story sills; bracketed wood cornice with carved frieze panels

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone
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59 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 52

Date: 1891 (NB 527-1891)
Architect/Builder: Robert Dixon
Original Owner: John Gordon
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne/neo-Grec
Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron newel posts and railings on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone stoop and facade ornament; incised stone
decoration at the spandrels, lintels, and band courses; fluted pilasters and bracketed lintels at the main
entryway; beveled and beaded lintels at the first story; molded crown above the first story; projecting
window sills in continuous bands; bracketed, galvanized iron cornice incorporating the attic-story
fenestration

Alterations: Non-historic light fixture at the basement entryway; antenna on the roof

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete with planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

61 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 51

Date: 1891 (NB 527-1891)
Architect/Builder: Robert Dixon
Original Owner: John Gordon
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne/neo-Grec
Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron newel posts and railings on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone stoop and facade ornament; incised stone
decoration at the spandrels, lintels, and band courses; fluted pilasters and bracketed lintels at the main
entryway; beveled and beaded lintels at the first story; molded crown above the first story; projecting
window sills in continuous bands; bracketed, galvanized-iron cornice incorporating the attic-story
fenestration

Alterations: Mail boxes attached to the side of the stoop

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
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Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

63 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 50

Date: 1891 (NB 527-1891)
Architect/Builder: Robert Dixon
Original Owner: John Gordon
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne/neo-Grec
Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original ironwork on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone stoop and facade ornament; incised stone
decoration at the spandrels, lintels, and band courses; fluted pilasters and bracketed lintels at the main
entryway; beveled and beaded lintels at the first story; molded crown above the first story; projecting
window sills in continuous bands; bracketed, galvanized-iron cornice incorporating the attic-story
fenestration

Alterations: Sections of original rough-faced stonework smoothed over; mailboxes attached to the stoop;
non-historic light fixture at the basement entryway

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

65 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 49

Date: 1891 (NB 527-1891)
Architect/Builder: Robert Dixon
Original Owner: John Gordon
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne/neo-Grec
Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original ironwork on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone stoop and facade ornament; incised stone
decoration at the spandrels, lintels, and band courses; fluted pilasters and bracketed lintels at the main
entryway; beveled and beaded lintels at the first story; molded crown above the first story; projecting
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window sills in continuous bands; bracketed, galvanized iron cornice incorporating the attic-story
fenestration

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Original iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

67 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 48

Date: 1886 (NB 515-1886)
Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill
Original Owner: H. B. Moore
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations
Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Beveled fenestration at the basement

Decorative Metal Work: Original ironwork on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Incised stonework at the lintels, piers, spandrels, door and window
surrounds; bracketed lintel at the main entryway; molded crown above the first story, featuring an
egg-and-dart course

Alterations: Stonework at the stoop modified and smoothed over; incised stonework at some of the
spandrels smoothed over; brackets and cornice removed from the attic, which has been resurfaced

South Facade: Designed (historic, patched)

Stoop: Altered stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone
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69 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 47

Date: 1886 (NB 515-1886)
Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill
Original Owner: H. B. Moore
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations
Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Beveled fenestration at the basement

Decorative Metal Work: Original ironwork on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Incised stonework at the lintels, piers, spandrels, door and window
surrounds; bracketed lintel at the main entryway; molded crown above the first story, featuring an
egg-and-dart course

Alterations: Newel posts removed from the stoop; brackets and cornice removed from the attic and
resurfaced

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

71 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 46

Date: 1886 (NB 515-1886)
Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill
Original Owner: H. B. Moore
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Beveled fenestration at the basement

Decorative Metal Work: Original ironwork on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Incised stonework at the lintels, piers, spandrels, door and window
surrounds; bracketed lintel at the main entryway; molded crown above the first story, featuring an
egg-and-dart course; bracketed wood cornice, incorporating the attic-story sash

Alterations: Newel posts removed from the stoop; metal mailboxes attached to the side of the stoop; non
historic light fixtures at the basement entryways

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Altered stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)
Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
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Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

73 Decatur Street (aka 636-642 Throop Avenue)
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1855, Lot 45

Date: 1886 (Plan 1159-1886)

Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill

Original Owner: Henry B. Moore

Type: Apartment building

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations

Stories: 4

Material(s): Brownstone (Decatur Street); brick (Throop Avenue)

Decorative Metal Work: Wrought-iron fire escape facing Throop Avenue

Significant Architectural Features: Incised stonework (facing Decatur Street) at the window surrounds and
spandrels; projecting window sills; molded window lintels; bracketed wood cornice; projecting chimneys
(facing Throop Avenue) on corbelled bases

Alterations: First-story windows facing Throop Avenue infilled with brick; entryway lintel facing Throop
Avenue removed; non-historic signage and lighting; non-historic storefront infill

Other Structures on Site: Non-historic, one-story rear extension facing Throop Avenue

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)
Door(s): No primary door

Windows: Replaced

Storefront(s): Replaced

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): None
Areaway Paving Material(s): Not applicable
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

East Facade: Designed (historic, altered)
Facade Notes: Entryway to upper stories with non historic concrete steps and wrought-iron railings,
replacement doors, and historic lintel brackets (lintel removed); painted first story; cornice removed

West Facade: Not designed (historic, altered) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Sections covered with cement stucco

North Facade: Not designed (historic, altered) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Covered with cement stucco

79 Decatur Street (aka 79-81 Decatur Street)
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 74

Building Name: Clermont

Date: 1891 (NB 672-1891)
Architect/Builder: Montrose W. Morris
Original Owner: William W. Smith
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Type: Apartment building
Style: Chateauesque

Stories: 4 and basement
Material(s): Brick; limestone

Special Windows: Segmental arch openings at the first story with round-arch center transoms and flanking
narrow sash

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced stone at the basement, first story, and stoop; segmental
main entryway with ogee lintel and label, rosettes, incised lettering spelling out the building name, and
surmounting finial; ogee window lintels and labels topped by finials at the first story; round, multi-story
corner oriel towers (topped by conical roofs and turrets) with foliated decoration, label moldings,
geometrical brackets on foliated bases, and surmounting gables with finials; beveled lintels at the second
story; bracketed lintels at the third story; wall dormers (above foliated panels at the level of bracketed
cornice) topped by gables featuring sunbursts and finials; mansard roof

Alterations: Balusters removed from the stoop and replaced with a metal fence; non-historic light fixture at
the main entryway; fire alarm and conduit

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Altered

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Mixed (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Roof: Original (Pitched - slate)

Notable Roof Features: Dormers, finials, metal cornice

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic metal fence and gates
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

West Facade: Partially designed (historic)
Facade Notes: Corner oriel carries around; plain brick (painted) on the remainder of the facade

East Facade: Partially designed (historic)
Facade Notes: Corner oriel carries around; plain brick (painted) on the remainder of the facade

83 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 73

Date: c. 1880

Architect/Builder: Not determined
Original Owner: Not determined
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Segmental fenestration

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; rusticated basement; round-arch main entryway
flanked by flat pilasters and topped by a molded lintel on brackets; molded window lintels on brackets;
bracketed cornice with dentils and frieze panels

Alterations: Original ironwork removed from the stoop
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South Facade: Designed (historic, painted, patched)

Stoop: Original stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

West Facade: Not designed (historic)

85 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 72

Date: ¢.1880

Architect/Builder: Not determined
Original Owner: Not determined
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Segmental fenestration

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; rusticated basement; round-arch main entryway
flanked by flat pilasters; molded window lintels on brackets; bracketed cornice with dentils and frieze
panels

Alterations: Original ironwork removed from the stoop; basement entryway boxed out; main entryway
surround partially removed; some of the window lintels shaved

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

87 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 71

Date: ¢.1880

Architect/Builder: Not determined
Original Owner: Not determined
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone
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Special Windows: Segmental fenestration

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; rusticated basement; round-arch main entryway
flanked by flat pilasters; molded window lintels on brackets; bracketed cornice with dentils and frieze
panels

Alterations: Original ironwork removed from the stoop; main entryway surround partially removed

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Altered stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Original iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

89 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 70

Date: ¢.1880

Architect/Builder: Not determined
Original Owner: Not determined
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations
Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Segmental fenestration

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; rusticated basement; round-arch main entryway;
molded window lintels on brackets; bracketed cornice with dentils and frieze panels

Alterations: Original ironwork removed from the stoop; entryway surround simplified

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal
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91 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 69

Date: ¢.1880

Architect/Builder: Not determined
Original Owner: Not determined
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations
Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Segmental fenestration

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; rusticated basement; round-arch main Alterations:
Under-stoop entryway boxed out; original ironwork removed from the stoop; main entryway surround
simplified

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

93 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 68

Date: ¢.1880

Architect/Builder: Not determined
Original Owner: Not determined
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations
Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Segmental fenestration

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; rusticated basement; molded window lintels on
brackets; bracketed cornice with dentils and frieze panels

Alterations: Original ironwork removed from the stoop; original round-arch main entryway with molded
lintel removed (after ¢.1939) and replaced with rectangular opening with raised surround

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)
Cornice: Original
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Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

95 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 67

Date: ¢.1880

Architect/Builder: Not determined
Original Owner: Not determined
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations
Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Segmental fenestration

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; rusticated basement; round-arch main entryway;
molded window lintels on brackets; bracketed cornice with dentils and frieze panels

Alterations: Original ironwork removed from the stoop; main entryway surround simplified; mailboxes
installed in the side of the stoop

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Altered stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

97 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 66

Date: ¢.1880

Architect/Builder: Not determined
Original Owner: Not determined
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations
Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Segmental fenestration

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; rusticated basement; round-arch main entryway;
window lintels on brackets; bracketed cornice with dentils and frieze panels

Alterations: Original ironwork removed from the stoop; main entryway surround simplified; molded
window lintels partially removed; non-historic light and intercom at the basement entryway
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South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Altered stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

99 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 65

Date: ¢.1880

Architect/Builder: Not determined
Original Owner: Not determined
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Segmental fenestration

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts, balusters, and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; rusticated basement; round-arch main entryway
flanked by flat pilasters and topped by a molded lintel on brackets; molded window lintels on brackets;
bracketed cornice with dentils and frieze panels

Alterations: Non-historic light fixture at the basement entryway

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)
Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Metal and concrete

101 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 64

Date: ¢.1880

Architect/Builder: Not determined
Original Owner: Not determined
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations
Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Segmental fenestration
Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts, balusters, and hand rails on the stoop
Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; rusticated basement; round-arch main entryway;
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molded window lintels on brackets; bracketed cornice with dentils and frieze panels
Alterations: Main entryway surround simplified; mailbox at the stoop

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

103 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 63

Date: 1889 (NB 140-1889)

Architect/Builder: Rulef VVan Brunt

Original Owner: William Sheridan

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with Romanesque Revival details
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts, balusters, and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone stoop; rough-faced brownstone ashlar at the
basement and first story; fluted pilasters and bracketed lintels at the main entryway; projecting water table;
first-story window sills in a continuous band above incised, rectangular panels; molded crown above the
first story; bracketed window sills and molded lintels at the second and third stories; brick, rectangular
panels below the third-story sills; bracketed cornice with dentils and frieze panels

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence and gate on a low brownstone wall
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

105 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 62

Date: 1889 (NB 140-1889)

Architect/Builder: Rulef VVan Brunt

Original Owner: William Sheridan

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with Romanesque Revival details
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone
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Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts, balusters, and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone stoop; rough-faced brownstone ashlar at the
basement and first story; fluted pilasters and bracketed lintels at the main entryway; projecting water table;
first-story window sills in a continuous band above incised, rectangular panels; molded crown above the
first story; bracketed window sills and molded lintels at the second and third stories; brick, rectangular
panels below the third-story sills; bracketed cornice with dentils and frieze panels

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence and gate on a low brownstone wall
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

107 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 61

Date: 1889 (NB 140-1889)

Architect/Builder: Rulef VVan Brunt

Original Owner: William Sheridan

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with Romanesque Revival details
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts, balusters, and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone stoop; rough-faced brownstone ashlar at the
basement and first story; fluted pilasters and bracketed lintels at the main entryway; projecting water table;
first-story window sills in a continuous band above incised, rectangular panels; molded crown above the
first story; bracketed window sills and molded lintels at the second and third stories; brick, rectangular
panels below the third-story sills; bracketed cornice with dentils and frieze panels

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence and gate on a low brownstone wall
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

109 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 60

Date: 1890 (NB 238-1890)
Architect/Builder: Rulef Van Brunt
Original Owner: William Sheridan
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Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne
Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone stoop; rough-faced brownstone ashlar at the
basement and first story; incised and bracketed lintels at the main entryway; projecting water table;
projecting window sills in a continuous band; molded crowns above the first, second, and third stories;
beveled lintels with incised rosettes at the second and third stories; incised piers at the second story;
rough-faced bands at the third story; bracketed cornice with dentils and decorated frieze panels
Alterations: Original ironwork removed from the stoop; non-historic light fixture at the basement

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Possibly historic primary door; metal storm doors in front of the main entry doors
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); mixed (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate on a low brownstone wall
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

111 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 59

Date: 1890 (NB 238-1890)
Architect/Builder: Rulef VVan Brunt
Original Owner: William Sheridan
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts, balusters, and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone stoop; rough-faced brownstone ashlar at the
basement and first story; incised and bracketed lintels at the main entryway; projecting water table;
projecting window sills in a continuous band; molded crowns above the first, second, and third stories;
beveled lintels with incised rosettes at the second and third stories; incised piers at the second story;
rough-faced bands at the third story; bracketed cornice with dentils and decorated frieze panels

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence and gate on a low brownstone wall
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal
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113 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 58

Date: 1890 (NB 238-1890)
Architect/Builder: Rulef VVan Brunt
Original Owner: William Sheridan
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts, balusters, and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone stoop; rough-faced brownstone ashlar at the
basement and first story; incised and bracketed lintels at the main entryway; projecting water table;
projecting window sills in a continuous band; molded crowns above the first, second, and third stories;
beveled lintels with incised rosettes at the second and third stories; incised piers at the second story;
rough-faced bands at the third story; bracketed cornice with dentils and decorated frieze panels

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence and gate on a low brownstone wall
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

115 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 57

Date: 1891 (NB 408-1891)
Architect/Builder: Rulef VVan Brunt
Original Owner: William Sheridan
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts, balusters, and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone stoop; rough-faced and smooth banding at the
basement; incised, bracketed lintels with a convex frieze at the main entryway; projecting water table;
projecting window sills in a continuous band (above incised panels and rough-faced stone at the first story);
molded crowns above the first, second, and third stories; beveled window lintels; incised piers with
geometrical patterns at the first story; rough-faced bands at the second and third stories; bracketed cornice
with dentils and decorated frieze panels

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Historic (basement)
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Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence and gate on a low brownstone wall
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

117 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 56

Date: 1891 (NB 408-1891)
Architect/Builder: Rulef VVan Brunt
Original Owner: William Sheridan
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts, balusters, and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone stoop; rough-faced and smooth banding at the
basement; incised, bracketed lintels with a convex frieze at the main entryway; projecting water table;
projecting window sills in a continuous band (above incised panels and rough-faced stone at the first story);
molded crowns above the first, second, and third stories; beveled window lintels; incised piers with
geometrical patterns at the first story; rough-faced bands at the second and third stories; bracketed cornice
Alterations: Cornice simplified

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Altered

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence and gate on a low brownstone wall
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

119 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 55

Date: 1891 (NB 408-1891)
Architect/Builder: Rulef VVan Brunt
Original Owner: William Sheridan
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts, balusters, and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone stoop; rough-faced and smooth banding at the
basement; incised, bracketed lintels with a convex frieze at the main entryway; projecting water table;
projecting window sills in a continuous band (above incised panels and rough-faced stone at the first story);
molded crowns above the first, second, and third stories; beveled window lintels; incised piers with
geometrical patterns at the first story; rough-faced bands at the second and third stories; bracketed cornice
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Alterations: Cornice simplified

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Altered

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts and fence on a brownstone curb; historic iron posts,
fence and gate on a low brownstone wall

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

121 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 54

Date: 1891 (NB 408-1891)
Architect/Builder: Rulef VVan Brunt
Original Owner: William Sheridan
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne with alterations
Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts, balusters, and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone stoop; rough-faced and smooth banding at the
basement; incised, bracketed lintels with a convex frieze at the main entryway; projecting water table;
projecting window sills in a continuous band (above incised panels and rough-faced stone at the first story);
molded crowns above the first, second, and third stories; beveled window lintels; incised piers with
geometrical patterns at the first story; rough-faced bands at the second and third stories

Alterations: Satellite dish on the roof

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)

Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence and gate on a low brownstone wall
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

125 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 53

Date: 1885 (NB 512-1885)
Architect/Builder: Robert H. Hoile
Original Owner: Mrs. Lucy E. Edwards
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec/Queen Anne
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Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brick; brownstone

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop (painted); projecting water table; projecting window
sills above geometrical brick panels; bracketed wood cornice (above geometrical brick panels) with dentils
and incorporating the attic windows

Alterations: Original ironwork removed from the stoop; rough-faced brownstone entryway and window
lintels smoothed over and painted

South Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

127 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 52

Date: 1885 (NB 512-1885)
Architect/Builder: Robert H. Hoile
Original Owner: Mrs. Lucy E. Edwards
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec/Queen Anne

Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brick; brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts, balusters, and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop (painted); projecting water table; projecting window
sills above geometrical brick panels; rough-faced lintel above the main entryway; bracketed wood cornice
(above geometrical brick panels) with dentils and incorporating the attic windows

Alterations: Original rough-faced window lintels either smoothed-over and painted or deteriorated and
crumbling

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Notable Roof Features: Stair bulkhead

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts and fence
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal
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129 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 51

Date: 1885 (NB 512-1885)
Architect/Builder: Robert H. Hoile
Original Owner: Mrs. Lucy E. Edwards
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec/Queen Anne

Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brick; brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts, balusters, and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop (painted); projecting, rough-faced water table;
rough-faced lintel at the main entryway; projecting window sills above geometrical brick panels; bracketed
wood cornice (above geometrical brick panels) with dentils and incorporating the attic windows
Alterations: Original rough-faced window lintels smoothed-over and painted

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts fence and gate; non-historic metal fence and gate
within the areaway

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

131 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 50

Date: 1885 (NB 512-1885)
Architect/Builder: Robert H. Hoile
Original Owner: Mrs. Lucy E. Edwards
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec/Queen Anne

Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brick; brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron balusters and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop (painted); projecting water table; rough-faced lintel
at the main entryway; projecting window sills above geometrical brick panels; bracketed wood cornice
(above geometrical brick panels) with dentils and incorporating the attic windows

Alterations: Original cast-iron newel posts removed from the stoop; original rough-faced window lintels
smoothed over and painted; mailbox attached to the side of the stoop; intercom at basement entryway

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Altered stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Altered (upper stories); historic (basement)
Cornice: Original
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Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Bluestone; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Bluestone; concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete

133 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 49

Date: 1885 (NB 512-1885)
Architect/Builder: Robert H. Hoile
Original Owner: Mrs. Lucy E. Edwards
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec/Queen Anne

Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brick; brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts, balusters, and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop (painted); projecting water table; projecting window
sills above geometrical brick panels; bracketed wood cornice (above geometrical brick panels) with dentils
and incorporating the attic windows

Alterations: Original rough-faced main entryway and window lintels smoothed over and painted; satellite
dish attached to the facade

Site Features: Non-historic freestanding mailbox

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Bluestone

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

135 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 48

Date: 1890 (NB 392-1890)
Architect/Builder: John L. Young
Original Owner: Hannah E. Stoutenburg
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brick; brownstone

Special Windows: Segmental fenestration; transom sash above wide stone mullions

Decorative Metal Work: Original iron newel posts and railings on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone stoop; angled bay; rough-faced ashlar at the
first and second stories; molded water table; molded window sills in continuous bands (above rectangular
panels at the second story); denticulated crown molding above the first story; vertical panels flanking the
second-story window above the main entryway; rough-faced crown molding above the second story;
bracketed cornice (incorporating the attic windows) with dentils and egg-and-dart moldings
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Alterations: Metal downspout

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Painted stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

137 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 47

Date: 1890 (NB 392-1890)
Architect/Builder: John L. Young
Original Owner: Hannah E. Stoutenburg
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brick; brownstone

Special Windows: Segmental fenestration; transom sash above wide stone mullions

Decorative Metal Work: Original iron newel posts and railings on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone stoop; rough-faced ashlar at the first and
second stories; molded water table; continuous, molded window sills; denticulated crown molding above
the first story; patterned brickwork at the second story; vertical panels flanking the second-story windows;
rough-faced crown molding above the second story; bracketed cornice (incorporating the attic windows)
with dentils and egg-and-dart moldings, topped by a gable containing a sunburst

Alterations: Metal downspout; non-historic light fixtures at the main and basement entryways

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

139 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1856, Lot 46

Date: 1890 (NB 392-1890)
Architect/Builder: John L. Young
Original Owner: Hannah E. Stoutenburg
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 with basement and attic
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Material(s): Brick brownstone

Special Windows: Segmental fenestration; transom sash above wide stone mullions

Decorative Metal Work: Original iron newel posts and railings on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone stoop; angled bay; rough-faced ashlar at the
first and second stories; molded water table; molded window sills in continuous bands (above rectangular
panels at the second story); denticulated crown molding above the first story; vertical panels flanking the
second-story window above the main entryway; rough-faced crown molding above the second story;
bracketed cornice (incorporating the attic windows) with dentils and egg-and-dart moldings

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; metal chute cover

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Metal and concrete

141-147 Decatur Street see 456 Marcus Garvey Boulevard
149 Decatur Street see 469 Marcus Garvey Boulevard

151 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1674, Lot 78

Date: c. 1888 (Plan no. 1157-88)
Architect/Builder: George B. Stoutenburg (builder)
Original Owner: Hannah E. Stoutenburg

Type: Flats building

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 4

Material(s): Brownstone; pressed metal cornice

Special Windows: Arch-headed windows at ground story

Decorative Metal Work: Historic decorative fire escape at upper stories

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced quoins at windows; arched keystone lintels at ground-story
window openings; bracketed sills; segmental-arched rock-faced voussoirs at upper stories; molded lintel
courses; molded cornice with dentil course and foliated frieze

Alterations: Security lights and doorbells at main entry

Building Notes: Source for Plan number: Real Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, June 30, 1888, 852.
Site Features: Below-grade areaway

South Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - removed)
Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Mixed (upper stories); altered (basement)
Security Grilles: Not historic (basement)

Cornice: Original
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Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

153 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1674, Lot 77

Date: c. 1895 (NB 499-95)
Architect/Builder: Walter F. Clayton
Original Owner: Walter F. Clayton
Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Stone; pressed-metal cornice

Special Windows: Stained-glass transoms at parlor-floor windows

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated base; molded and foliated stringcourses; garlands above
parlor-floor window and main entry; cornice with acanthus-leaf modillions, egg-and-dart molding, and
fascia frieze of garlands

Alterations: Utility box at building base; intercom box and security light at basement entry; non-historic
cast-stone stoop railings; intercom box and security camera at main entry

Building Notes: One in a row of seven buildings (153 to 165 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Tree pit with metal edging; pole-mounted bracket sign in areaway

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced, with panning (upper stories); replaced, with panning (basement)
Security Grilles: Mixed (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic concrete and cast-stone curbing, piers, and balustrades;
non-historic metal fence and gate

Areaway Paving Material(s): Tile

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

North Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Painted or parged brick; segmental-arched window openings; block sills and lintels; molded
cornice

155 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1674, Lot 76

Date: c. 1895 (NB 499-95)
Architect/Builder: Walter F. Clayton
Original Owner: Walter F. Clayton
Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Stone; pressed-metal cornice

Special Windows: Stained-glass transoms at parlor-floor windows
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Decorative Metal Work: Historic stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated base; molded and foliated stringcourses; garlands above
parlor-floor window and main entry; cornice with acanthus-leaf modillions, egg-and-dart molding, and
fascia frieze of garlands

Alterations: Doorbells at basement and main entries; non-historic light fixture at main entry; facade and
cornice covered in non-historic coating

Building Notes: One in a row of seven buildings (153 to 165 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway

South Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)
Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; non-historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

North Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Painted or parged brick; segmental-arched window openings; block sills and lintels; molded
cornice

157 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1674, Lot 75

Date: c. 1895 (NB 499-95)

Architect/Builder: Walter F. Clayton

Original Owner: Walter F. Clayton

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque/Renaissance Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; limestone or sandstone; pressed-metal cornice

Special Windows: Double window with fluted pilaster, carved wood spandrel, and arch-headed
stained-glass transoms at parlor floor

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Stringcourse with stylized foliated motif; stippled tooling and
rustication at parlor floor; rock-faced banding at second story; cornice with acanthus-leaf modillions,
egg-and-dart molding, and fascia frieze of stylized foliated ornament

Alterations: Utility box at building base; exterior vestibule installed at basement entry; doorbells at main
entry; building base resurfaced

Building Notes: One in a row of seven buildings (153 to 165 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway; tree pit with metal edging

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - altered)

Door(s): Altered, arched transom intact primary door

Windows: Replaced, with panning (upper stories); replaced, with panning (basement)
Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)

Cornice: Original
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Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; chain-link fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

North Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Painted or parged brick; segmental-arched window openings; block sills and lintels; molded
cornice

159 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1674, Lot 74

Date: c. 1895 (NB 499-95)
Architect/Builder: Walter F. Clayton
Original Owner: Walter F. Clayton
Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque/Renaissance Revival
Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Stone; pressed-metal cornice

Special Windows: Arch-headed stained-glass transoms at parlor floor windows

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Stringcourse with stylized foliated motif; stippled tooling and
rustication at parlor floor; rock-faced banding at second story; cornice with acanthus-leaf modillions,
egg-and-dart molding, and fascia frieze of stylized foliated ornament

Alterations: Doorbells at main and basement entries; base resurfaced; non-historic metal awnings at
windows and main entry door

Building Notes: One in a row of seven buildings (153 to 165 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch, lamp post, and planting bed in areaway

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Altered, arched transom intact primary door

Windows: Replaced, with panning (upper stories); replaced, with panning (basement)
Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; chain-link fence and gate

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

North Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Painted or parged brick; segmental-arched window openings; block sills and lintels; molded
cornice

161 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1674, Lot 73

Date: c. 1895 (NB 499-95)
Architect/Builder: Walter F. Clayton
Original Owner: Walter F. Clayton
Type: Row house
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Style: Romanesque/Renaissance Revival
Stories: 2 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone; pressed-metal cornice

Special Windows: Stained-glass transoms at parlor-floor windows

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced rusticated banding; rock-faced quoins at second-story
windows; door hood of rounded pilasters with foliated capitals and pendants; foliated carving at
parlor-floor lintels; cornice with acanthus-leaf modillions, egg-and-dart molding, and fascia frieze of
wreaths

Alterations: Security light and doorbell at main entry; non-historic light fixture at main entry; one pilaster
removed from door hood

Building Notes: One in a row of seven buildings (153 to 165 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Cellar grate in areaway

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Altered (wood-framed transom intact) primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb with some concrete portions; historic fence; non-historic gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

North Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Painted or parged brick; segmental-arched window openings; block sills and lintels; molded
cornice

163 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1674, Lot 72

Date: c. 1895 (NB 499-95)

Architect/Builder: Walter F. Clayton

Original Owner: Walter F. Clayton

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; pressed-metal cornice

Special Windows: Historically, stained-glass transoms at parlor-floor windows (not present at the time of
designation)

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Three-sided bay; foliated and molded stringcourses; door hood with
scrolled pediment and swag, molded entablature, and foliated brackets; cornice with acanthus-leaf
modillions, egg-and-dart molding, and fascia frieze of wreaths

Alterations: Utility box at building base; security lights and intercom boxes at basement entry; mailbox
installed on side of stoop; non-historic light fixture, doorbell, and intercom box at main entry

Building Notes: One in a row of seven buildings (153 to 165 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch, lamp post, and metal-edged planting bed in areaway; tree pit with metal edging
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South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Altered (transom intact) primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; non-historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

North Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Painted or parged brick; segmental-arched window openings; block sills and lintels; molded
cornice; two-story rear addition

165 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1674, Lot 71

Date: c. 1895 (NB 499-95)

Architect/Builder: Walter F. Clayton

Original Owner: Walter F. Clayton

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque/Renaissance Revival
Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; pressed-metal cornice

Special Windows: Arch-headed stained-glass transoms at parlor-floor windows

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced base; rock-faced banding at upper stories; door hood with
rock-faced entablature supported on foliated ornament; arched lintels with grotesque keystones at parlor
floor; cornice with acanthus-leaf modillions, egg-and-dart molding, and foliated fascia frieze

Alterations: Utility box at building base; doorbells at basement and main entries

Building Notes: One in a row of seven buildings (153 to 165 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Altered (transom intact) primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; partially historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

North Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Painted brick; segmental-arched window openings; block sills and lintels; molded cornice
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167 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1674, Lot 70

Date: ¢. 1890 (NB 303-90)

Architect/Builder: John L. Young (architect); George B. Stoutenburg (builder)
Original Owner: George B. Stoutenburg

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; brick; pressed-metal cornice

Special Windows: Stained-glass transom at main entry

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Three-sided bay; rock-faced base and first story; stone transom bars;
denticulated stringcourse at parlor floor; cornice with pedimented bay containing coffered design; cornice
with egg-and-dart molding, dentils, foliated fascia frieze, and triangular molding course

Alterations: Utility box at building base; metal awnings installed at basement and main entries; security
lights and doorbells at main and basement entries

Building Notes: Originally one in a row of five buildings, the other four of which were demolished c.
1941-42 to make way for Decatur Playground. Source: "Decatur Playground,”" New York City Department
of Parks and Recreation website (accessed January 7, 2013).

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway; non-historic fence at eastern alleyway

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Painted stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Altered (transom intact) primary door; metal security gate at main entry

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Mostly concrete curb, some stone; non-historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

East Facade: Not designed (historic, altered)
Facade Notes: Parged brick wall with tarred coping; parged chimneys; antenna at rear chimney; one
window opening at parlor floor (window replaced)

North Facade: Not designed (historic, altered) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Parged brick; segmental-arched window openings; block sills and lintels; molded cornice

169 Decatur Street see 272 Mac Donough Street
191-223 Decatur Street see 272 Mac Donough Street
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305 Decatur Street (aka 359 Stuyvesant Avenue)
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 1

Date: 1893 (NB 230-1893)

Architect/Builder: E. F. Gaylor (architect); J. A. Lawrence (builder)
Original Owner: J. A. Lawrence

Type: Apartment building

Style: Romanesque Revival

Stories: 4 and basement

Material(s): Brick; stone

Special Windows: Arched windows at the first and third floors; segmental-arched windows at the fourth
floor

Significant Architectural Features: Brick facade with recessed planes and wide stone water table that runs
the width of the facade; projected covered porch with pyramidal roof with flanking stone stairs with
non-historic metal-and-glass door with sidelights; two-story projecting bay at corner of building featuring
slightly pitched roof with deep eaves with decorative corbelled brickwork above; alternating at each floor
are round-arched lintel, segmental-arched lintel, and flat header lintel windows with stone sills; intersecting
roofline with shallow slopes and deep eves covered in clay tile

Alterations: Windows replaced

Site Features: Decatur Street: Tall metal gate and fencing at the areaway that runs the length of the facade;
Stuyvesant Ave: Deeply recessed courtyard with flanking brick pillars feature metal fencing and gate;
concrete paved courtyard; two projecting entrances on either side of courtyard with raised stone stoops and
metal railings; two recessed entrances accessed by stairs, surrounded by iron railings and featuring metal
security doors flank the courtyard.

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Possibly historic

Porch(es): Historic

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); not visible (basement)
Security Grilles: Not visible (basement)

Roof: Possibly historic (Pitched - clay tile and metal)
Notable Roof Features: Intersecting shallow slopes
Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Metal

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

East Facade: Designed (historic) (partially visible)

Facade Notes: Two-story projecting bay at corner of building featuring slightly pitched roof with deep
eaves with decorative corbelled brickwork above; flat headed lintel windows with stone sills; intersecting
roofline; corbelled brick cornice at roofline; metal fence on roof

West Facade: Designed (historic)

Facade Notes: Brick facade with recessed planes and a wide stone water table that runs the width of the
facade; deeply recessed courtyard with flanking brick pillars feature metal fencing and gate; concrete-paved
courtyard leads to two projecting entrances on either side of courtyard with raised stone stoops and metal
railings; two recessed entrances accessed by stairs, surrounded by iron railings and feature metal security
doors flanking the courtyard; alternating at each floor are round-arched lintel, segmental-arched lintel, and
flat header lintel windows with stone sills; shallow sloped roof with deep eves and partially flat roofline
with iron railings
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307 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 81

Date: 1895 (NB 261-1895)

Architect/Builder: William O. Forrester (architect); Lewis Acor (builder)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival/Renaissance Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Limestone

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railings, newel posts, fencing, and basement window security grilles and
door

Significant Architectural Features: Angled projecting bay; rusticated brown stone base featuring L-shaped
stoop; historic wood-and-glass double leaf doors with transom; divided by pilasters at first and second
floors, windows with stone banding that acts as sills; denticulated cornice runs the width of the building
between first and second floor; denticulated bracketed cornice

Alterations: Facade painted; windows replaced throughout; non-historic metal mailbox; remote utility
meter, and junction box attached to basement facade

Building Notes: First of five row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with non-historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway; recessed
secondary entrance; metal access hatch; non-historic light fixture in areaway

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)
Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

West Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Brick facade

309 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 80

Date: 1895 (NB 261-1895)

Architect/Builder: William O. Forrester (architect); Lewis Acor (builder)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival/Renaissance Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Limestone

Special Windows: Arched stained-glass transom above first floor windows

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railings, newel posts, gate and fencing security grilles and door at
basement

Significant Architectural Features: Limestone facade with rusticated brownstone base and stoop; historic
wood-and-glass door with transom and slightly projecting rusticated stone bracketed hood; first floor
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windows are separated by rusticated stone band that runs the width of the facade; random ashlar between
first and second stories with stone banding acting as sills for second-story tripartite bay window and single
window both with rustic quoin enframements; metal denticulated bracketed cornice with an ornately
detailed frieze

Alterations: Facade painted; windows replaced throughout; non-historic metal mail box; remote utility
meter, and junction box attached to basement facade

Building Notes: Second of five row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway; metal access
hatch; remote utility meter attached to basement facade

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

311 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 79

Date: 1895 (NB 261-1895)

Architect/Builder: William O. Forrester (architect); Lewis Acor (builder)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival/Renaissance Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Limestone

Special Windows: Stained-glass transom over first floor windows

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railings, newel posts, gate and fencing security grilles and door at
basement

Significant Architectural Features: Limestone facade with rusticated brownstone base featuring L-shaped
stoop; historic wood-and-glass double-leaf doors with transom with stone enframements featuring
denticulated cornice; first floor windows separated by a stone band; followed by thin denticulated molding
and a rough-cut ashlar courses between first and second floors; metal denticulated bracketed cornice with
an ornately detailed frieze.

Alterations: Facade painted; windows replaced throughout; non-historic metal mailbox

Building Notes: Third of five row houses

Site Features: Low stone curb with non-historic metal fencing surrounds concrete-paved areaway; recessed
secondary entrance; historic cast-iron grilles at basement windows; metal access hatch; non-historic light
fixture in areaway; remote utility meter attached to basement facade

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Historic stoop (historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original
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Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

313 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 78

Date: 1895 (NB 261-1895)

Architect/Builder: William O. Forrester (architect); Lewis Acor (builder)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival/Renaissance Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Limestone

Special Windows: Stained-glass transom over first floor windows

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railings, newel posts, gate and fencing security grilles and door at
basement

Significant Architectural Features: Limestone facade with rusticated brownstone base featuring L-shaped
stoop; historic wood-and-glass double leaf doors with transom; tripartite bay window divided by geometric
and fluted pilasters; stone banding that acts as sills; rusticated stone banding runs the width of the building
at first and second floors; second floor features three possibly historic arched windows; metal denticulated
bracketed cornice with an ornately detailed frieze

Alterations: Facade painted; some windows replaced

Building Notes: Fourth of five row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with non-historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway; metal
access hatch; remote utility meter attached to basement facade

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Mixed (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

315 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 77

Date: 1895 (NB 261-1895)

Architect/Builder: William O. Forrester (architect); Lewis Acor (builder)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival/Renaissance Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone
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Decorative Metal Work: Historic cast-iron railings, newel posts, gate and fencing; security grilles and door
at basement; non-historic security door and transom at main entrance and security grilles at first floor
windows.

Significant Architectural Features: Two-story projecting bay; rusticated brownstone base featuring
L-shaped stoop historic wood-and-glass double-leaf doors with transom; windows divided by pilasters at
first and second floors with stone banding that acts as sills; denticulated molding runs the width of the
building between first and second floor; metal denticulated bracketed cornice

Alterations: Windows replaced

Building Notes: Last of five row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with non-historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway; metal
access hatch; non-historic light fixture in areaway; remote utility meter attached to basement facade

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Stone

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

317 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 76

Date: 1892 (NB 239-1892)

Architect/Builder: G. Harry Madigan (architect)
Original Owner: J. A. Lawrence

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival/Renaissance Revival
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron newel posts, gate and fencing security grilles and door at basement
Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop with historic brownstone newel posts; windows featuring
wide stone lintels and stone banding that acts as sills for windows at the first through third floors; second
floor windows feature flat lintels with keystones; third floor windows feature slightly projecting stone
lintels; metal denticulated cornice with an ornately detailed frieze

Alterations: Main entrance door replaced; windows replaced; security door removed at basement

Building Notes: First of four row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway; recessed
secondary entrance; raised planting box; metal access hatch; remote utility meter attached to basement
facade

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (gate under stoop - removed)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron
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Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete
Curb Material(s): Stone

West Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Third floor partially visible

319 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 75

Date: 1892 (NB 239-1892)

Architect/Builder: G. Harry Madigan (architect)
Original Owner: J. A. Lawrence

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival/Renaissance Revival/
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone

Special Windows: Arched windows at second floor

Decorative Metal Work: Historic fencing, gates and newel posts

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop with historic brownstone newel posts; windows featuring
wide stone lintels and stone banding that acts as sills for windows at the first through third floors; second
floor windows feature flat lintels with keystones; third floor windows feature slightly projecting stone
lintels; metal denticulated cornice with an ornately detailed frieze

Alterations: Windows replaced; non-historic light fixture at areaway entrance; non-historic metal mailbox
at areaway

Building Notes: Second of four row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway; raised
planting box; metal access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Bluestone/Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

321 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 74

Date: 1892 (NB 239-1892)

Architect/Builder: G. Harry Madigan (architect)
Original Owner: J. A. Lawrence

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival/Renaissance Revival
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brick, brownstone
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Special Windows: Arched windows with keystone at second floor

Decorative Metal Work: Fencing, gates and newel posts; security grilles at basement windows

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop with historic brownstone newel posts; windows featuring
wide stone lintels and stone banding that acts as sills for windows at the first through third floors; second
floor windows feature flat lintels with keystones; third floor windows feature slightly projecting stone
lintels; metal denticulated cornice with an ornately detailed frieze

Alterations: Windows replaced; built out basement vestibule; non-historic security door at main entrance
Building Notes: Third of four row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with historic metal fencing surrounds terra-cotta tile paved areaway;
non-historic metal security door and historic grilles at basement windows; metal access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - altered)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Terra-cotta tile

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

323 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 73

Date: 1892 (NB 239-1892)

Architect/Builder: G. Harry Madigan (architect)
Original Owner: J. A. Lawrence

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival/Renaissance Revival
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone; wood

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railings, fencing, gates and newel posts; security grilles at basement
windows

Significant Architectural Features: Brick and stone stoop with historic brownstone newel posts; four-story,
three-bay round turret with windows featuring flat stone lintels; wide rusticated brownstone banding runs
the width of the facade between the first-and second-floor windows; brownstone molding acts as sills for
windows at the first through third floors; third floor windows feature slightly projecting stone lintels; metal
denticulated cornice with an ornately detailed frieze

Alterations: Historic double-leaf door replaced; windows replaced; brownstone portions of facade
resurfaced; second pair of cast-iron newel posts removed; cornice painted; non-historic light fixture at
basement entrance

Building Notes: Fourth of four row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with historic metal fencing surrounds tinted concrete paved areaway; historic
metal security door and grilles at basement windows; metal access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)
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Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

East Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)

325 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 72

Date: 1889 (NB 351-1889)

Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill & Son (architect)
Original Owner: John Gregory

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 1/2 and basement

Material(s): Rusticated brownstone; brick

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railings, fencing, gate, and security door and grilles at basement
Significant Architectural Features: Angled bay; stone stoop; historic wood-and-glass double-leaf door with
transom; rusticated brownstone base and first floor; second floor brick facade features rusticated
brownstone banding that incorporates lintels and sills that runs the width of the facade; decorative stone
plaques flank windows at this level; wood frieze with incorporating third-story windows with geometric
pilasters; denticulated metal cornice.

Alterations: Facade repointed and painted; windows replaced; non-historic light fixture in areaway; remote
utility meter, and junction box attached to basement facade

Building Notes: First of four row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with historic metal fencing surrounds tinted concrete paved areaway; metal
access hatch; non-historic light fixture

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted, repointed)

Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

327 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 71

Date: 1889 (NB 349-1889)

Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill & Son (architect)
Original Owner: John Gregory

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 1/2 and basement

Material(s): Rusticated brownstone; brick
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Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railings, fencing, gate, and security door and grilles at basement
Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; historic wood-and-glass double-leaf door with transom;
rusticated brownstone base and first floor; second floor brick facade features rusticated brownstone banding
that incorporates lintels and sills that runs the width of the facade; decorative stone plaques flank windows
at this level; wood frieze with incorporating third-story windows with geometric pilasters topped by a metal
denticulated cornice

Alterations: Facade repointed and painted; windows replaced; non-historic light fixture in areaway; remote
utility meter, and junction box attached to basement facade

Building Notes: Second of four row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with historic metal fencing surrounds tinted concrete paved areaway; metal
access hatch; raised planting bed; non-historic light fixture

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

329 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 70

Date: 1889 (NB 349-1889)

Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill & Son (architect)
Original Owner: John Gregory

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne with alterations

Stories: 2 1/2 and basement

Material(s): Rusticated brownstone; brick

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railings, fencing, gate, and security door and grilles at basement
Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; historic wood-and-glass double-leaf door with transom;
rusticated brownstone base and first floor; second floor brick facade features rusticated brownstone banding
that incorporates lintels and sills that runs the width of the facade; decorative stone plaques flank windows
at this level; wood frieze with incorporating third-story windows with geometric pilasters topped by a metal
denticulated cornice

Alterations: Facade painted; windows replaced; rooftop addition; address plaque; non-historic light fixture
and metal mailbox at basement entrance; remote utility meter, and junction box attached to basement facade
Building Notes: Third of four row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with historic metal fencing surrounds tinted concrete paved areaway; metal
access hatch; non-historic light fixture

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original
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Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

331 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 69

Date: 1889 (NB 349-1889)

Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill & Son (architect)
Original Owner: John Gregory

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 1/2 and basement

Material(s): Rusticated brownstone; brick

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron fencing, gate, and security door and grilles at basement

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; historic wood-and-glass double-leaf door with transom;
rusticated brownstone base and first floor; second floor brick facade features rusticated brownstone banding
that incorporates lintels and sills that runs the width of the facade; decorative stone plaques flank windows
at this level; wood frieze with incorporating third-story windows with geometric pilasters topped by a metal
denticulated cornice

Alterations: Windows replaced; aluminum awning above main entrance; railings replaced; aluminum
mailbox at basement entrance; remote utility meter, and junction box attached to basement facade; two
satellite dishes at roofline

Building Notes: Last of four row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with historic metal fencing surrounds tinted concrete paved areaway; metal
access hatch; raised planting bed; non-historic light fixture

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Bluestone/concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

East Facade: Not designed (historic)
Facade Notes: Facade parged; terra-cotta coping

333 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 68

Date: c. 1858

Architect/Builder: Not determined
Original Owner: Not determined
Type: Semi-attached house

Style: Stripped Italianate

Stories: 2 and basement
Material(s): Brick; aluminum siding
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Significant Architectural Features: Brick base; one-over-one windows throughout.

Alterations: Facade resided; stoop removed; main entrance relocated to the basement; windows replaced;
stone window enframements removed; cornice removed

Site Features: Low stone curb with non-historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway; recessed
main entrance relocated to basement; metal access hatch; non-historic light fixture.

Other Structures on Site: Brick garage (1921, architect: James W. McGrath)

South Facade: Designed (resided)

Stoop: Removed stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Metal

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

West Facade: Not designed (historic)

335 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 67

Date: 1882 (NB 207-1882)
Architect/Builder: R. H. Heasman (carpenter)
Original Owner: R. H. Heasman

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Segmental-arched basement windows

Decorative Metal Work: Possibly historic cast-iron railings and fencing

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; historic arched wood-and-glass double-leaf door with
transom and projecting stone bracketed hood with incised decorative details above main entrance; windows
featuring stone lintels with identical incised decorative details and bracketed stone sills; incised decorative
details over segmental-arched basement windows; denticulated cornice with stylized brackets

Alterations: Facade painted; cast-iron newel posts replaced; historic basement entrance door and security
grille replaced; non-historic metal security grilles at first floor windows; remote utility meter, and junction
box attached to basement facade

Building Notes: First of three row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway;
historic metal grilles at basement windows; metal access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted, paint peeling)

Stoop: Replaced stoop (gate under stoop - removed)

Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Metal

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete
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Curb Material(s): Stone

335A Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 66

Date: 1882 (NB 207-1882)
Architect/Builder: R. H. Heasman (carpenter)
Original Owner: R. H. Heasman

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Segmental-arched basement windows

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; projecting stone bracketed hood with incised decorative
details above main entrance; windows featuring stone lintels with identical incised decorative details and
bracketed stone sills; incised decorative details over segmental-arched basement windows

Alterations: Facade painted; cornice removed; windows replaced; main entrance door replaced; cast-iron
railings and newel post replaced; non-historic light fixtures at main entrance; non-historic metal security
grilles at first floor windows

Building Notes: Second of three row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway; metal access
hatch; non-historic light fixture

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not visible (basement)
Notable Roof Features: Chimney

Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Metal

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

337 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 65

Date: 1882 (NB 207-1882)
Architect/Builder: R. H. Heasman (carpenter)
Original Owner: R. H. Heasman

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; faux stone

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; projecting stone bracketed hood with incised decorative
details above main entrance; windows featuring stone lintels with identical incised decorative details and
bracketed stone sills; incised decorative details over segmental-arched basement windows

Alterations: Lower portion of facade including stoop clad in faux stone; built out vestibule at basement;
main entrance door and transom replaced; windows replaced throughout; iron security grilles at first floor
windows; satellite dish, television antenna, and flanking chimneys at roofline
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Building Notes: Last of three row houses.
Site Features: Low stone curb with non-historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway; metal
access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted, resurfaced, faux stone at basement)
Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Notable Roof Features: Two chimneys

Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Metal

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

East Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)

339 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 64

Date: 1878 (NB 438-1878)

Architect/Builder: Lewis Acor (architect); George Prior (carpenter)
Original Owner: Lewis Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Stripped Italianate

Stories: 2

Material(s): Wood; stone

Significant Architectural Features: Wood facade featuring asymmetrical arrangement with stone stoop and
main entrance on the left; projecting covered porch supported by four stone piers that rest on stone
pedestals; two floor-to ceiling windows at first floor; three smaller windows at second floor

Alterations: Porch replaced; decorative capitals on piers removed; stone lintels and shutters removed from
second story windows; decorative wood brackets removed from porch; windows replaced throughout;
cornice covered in aluminum siding

Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway;
metal bulkhead

South Facade: Designed (resided)

Stoop: Possibly historic

Porch(es): Replaced

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); not visible (basement)
Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories)
Cornice: Altered

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Iron
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

341 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 63
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Date: 1879 (NB 438-1878)

Architect/Builder: Lewis Acor (architect); George Prior (carpenter)
Original Owner: Lewis Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Stripped Italianate

Stories: 2

Material(s): Vinyl siding; wood; stone

Decorative Metal Work: Possibly historic fencing and gate

Significant Architectural Features: Asymmetrical arrangement with stone stoop and main entrance on the
right; projecting covered porch supported by four stone piers that rest on stone pedestals

Alterations: Facade resided; porch and stoop replaced; main entrance door replaced; windows replaced
throughout; new recessed entrance added at basement; stone lintels and shutters removed at all windows;
cornice removed; non-historic light fixture above main entrance; non-historic iron security grilles at first
floor windows; non-historic metal mailbox at main entrance; two TV antenna at roofline; satellite dish at
second floor

Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway;
recessed entrance to basement at areaway

South Facade: Designed (resided)

Stoop: Replaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)
Porch(es): Replaced

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); not visible (basement)
Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not visible (basement)
Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

343 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 62

Date: 1878 (NB 222-1877)

Architect/Builder: George H. Prior (carpenter)
Original Owner: Lewis Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Stripped Italianate

Stories: 2

Material(s): Not determined

Special Windows: Segmental-arched transom above main entrance

Decorative Metal Work: Possibly historic fencing and gate

Significant Architectural Features: Asymmetrical arrangement with stone stoop and main entrance on the
right; possibly historic wood-and-glass segmental-arched transom; projecting covered porch supported by
four wood piers that rest on concrete base; two floor to ceiling windows at first floor; three smaller windows
at second floor; possibly historic bracketed metal cornice

Alterations: Facade resided; porch and stoop replaced; main entrance door replaced; windows replaced
throughout; non-historic light fixture at main entrance and in areaway; stone lintels and wood shutters
removed from second-story windows; two television antenna and metal chimney pipe at roofline
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Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway;
metal bulkhead

South Facade: Designed (painted, resided)
Stoop: Replaced

Porch(es): Altered

Door(s): Replaced

Windows: Replaced

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories)
Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Iron
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

345 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 61

Date: 1878 (NB 222-1877)

Architect/Builder: George H. Prior (carpenter)
Original Owner: Lewis Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Stripped Italianate

Stories: 2

Material(s): Faux stone

Decorative Metal Work: Possibly historic fencing and gate

Significant Architectural Features: Asymmetrical arrangement with stone stoop and main entrance on the
left

Alterations: Facade resurfaced with faux stone; covered porch removed and stoop replaced; windows
replaced throughout; aluminum awning over main entrance; main entrance door replaced and transom
removed; stone lintels and shutters removed from second story windows; cornice replaced

Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway;
metal access hatch; non-historic light fixture in areaway

South Facade: Designed (resurfaced)
Stoop: Replaced

Porch(es): Removed

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories)
Cornice: Altered

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

347 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 60

Date: 1878 (NB 200-1877)
Architect/Builder: Gilbert De Revere (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Mary A. De Revere
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Type: Row house

Style: Stripped Neo-Grec
Stories: 2 and basement
Material(s): Stucco

Alterations: Facade resurfaced; stoop replaced; main entrance door replaced; windows replaced
throughout; new recessed entrance at basement; stone lintels removed at all windows; stone hood removed
and replaced by metal and acrylic awning over main entrance door and over basement windows; cornice
covered in vinyl siding

Site Features: Non-historic railings, fencing and gate; non-historic light fixture at areaway; non-historic
mailbox at secondary entrance; metal access hatch; stone curbing removed at areaway

South Facade: Designed (resurfaced)

Stoop: Replaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Mixed (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Cornice: Covered in vinyl siding

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

West Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Facade painted

349 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 59

Date: 1878 (NB 200-1877)

Architect/Builder: Gilbert De Revere (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Mary A. De Revere

Type: Row house

Style: Stripped neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Faux stone

Decorative Metal Work: Possibly historic fencing and gate

Alterations: Facade resurfaced; porch and stoop removed; main entrance reconfigured to basement;
windows replaced throughout; new recessed entrance added at basement; stone lintels removed at all
windows; cornice covered with vinyl siding

Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway;
metal access hatch.

South Facade: Designed (resurfaced)

Stoop: Removed stoop (gate under stoop - altered)

Door(s): Altered primary door; main entrance moved to basement
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone
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351 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 58

Date: 1878 (NB 219-1878)

Architect/Builder: Gilbert De Revere (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Mary A. De Revere

Type: Row house

Style: Altered neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; vinyl siding

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; stone lintels and sills at basement windows; possibly
historic wood cornice with stylized brackets

Alterations: Facade resurfaced at upper floors; cast-iron railings replaced; main entrance door replaced;
windows replaced throughout; stone lintels removed at all windows; stone hood removed and replaced by
aluminum awning over main entrance door; remote utility meter, and junction box attached to basement
facade

Site Features: Low stone curb with non-historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway; metal
access hatch; non-historic light fixture in areaway;

South Facade: Designed (resided)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Mixed (basement)

Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

353 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 57

Date: 1880 (NB 465-1879)

Architect/Builder: Lewis Acor (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; possibly historic arched wood-and-glass double-leaf door
with transom and projecting stone bracketed hood with incised decorative details; windows with transoms
and stone lintels sills; historic wood cornice with stylized brackets with incised details

Alterations: Windows replaced throughout; non historic light fixture below second story windows;
non-historic metal railings and gate; stoop resurfaced and newel posts replaced; remote utility meter and
junction box attached to basement facade

Site Features: Low stone curb with non-historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway; metal
access hatch; non-historic light fixture in areaway

South Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)
Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)
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Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete/bluestone

Curb Material(s): Stone

355 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 56

Date: 1880 (NB 465-1879)

Architect/Builder: Lewis Acor (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Kate Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; possibly historic projecting stone bracketed hood with
incised decorative details; windows with transoms and stone lintels sills; historic wood cornice with
stylized brackets with incised details

Alterations: Facade painted; windows replaced; non-historic light fixture and metal mailbox at under-stoop
entrance; non-historic metal security grilles at first floor windows; remote utility meter, and junction box
attached to basement facade

Site Features: Low stone curb with non-historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Metal

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete/bluestone

Curb Material(s): Stone

357 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 55

Date: 1880 (NB 305-1880)

Architect/Builder: Lewis Acor (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Lewis Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Iron security grilles at basement windows
Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; possibly historic projecting stone bracketed hood with
incised decorative details; windows with transoms and stone lintels and bracketed sills; historic wood
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cornice with stylized brackets with incised details

Alterations: Main entrance door replaced; aluminum awning over main entrance; windows replaced
throughout; historic cast-iron railings and fencing replaced; non-historic light fixture at main and basement
entrances; non-historic security grilles at first floor windows; remote utility meter, and junction box
attached to basement facade

Building Notes: First of three row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with non-historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway; metal
access hatch; non-historic light fixture in areaway

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Possibly historic (upper stories); historic (basement)
Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Metal

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete/bluestone

Curb Material(s): Stone

359 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 54

Date: 1880 (NB 305-1880)

Architect/Builder: Lewis Acor (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Lewis Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; brick

Decorative Metal Work: Possibly historic cast-iron fencing and security grilles at basement windows
Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; possibly historic projecting stone bracketed hood with
incised decorative details; windows with transoms and stone lintels and bracketed sills; historic wood
cornice with stylized brackets with incised details

Alterations: Stone entrance enframements and hood brackets clad in brick; facade resurfaced; main
entrance door replaced; aluminum awning above main entrance door; non-historic metal mail box at
under-stoop entrance; non-historic light fixture at areaway; non-historic metal security grilles at first floor
windows

Site Features: Low stone curb with non-historic metal fencing surrounds bluestone paved areaway; metal
access hatch; non-historic light fixture in areaway

South Facade: Designed (historic, painted, resurfaced, paint peeling)

Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Possibly historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Bluestone

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone
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361 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 53

Date: 1880 (NB 305-1880)

Architect/Builder: Lewis Acor (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Lewis Acor

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Possibly historic railings, newel posts, fencing, and gate

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; possibly historic projecting stone bracketed hood with
incised decorative details and at lintels above first floor windows; windows with transoms and stone lintels
and bracketed sills; historic wood cornice with stylized brackets with incised details

Alterations: Main entrance door replaced; windows replaced

Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic metal fencing surrounds concrete paved areaway;
metal access hatch; non-historic light fixture in areaway

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

East Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)

363 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 52

Date: 1880

Architect/Builder: Thomas Miller (architect)
Original Owner: Abel Miller

Type: Row house

Style: Italianate details

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Historic railings, newel posts, fencing, and gate

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; slightly projecting stone hood with incised decorative
details; a detail repeated at lintels above first floor windows; possibly historic wood-and-glass double-leaf
door with transom at main entrance; windows with stone lintels and sills; historic metal denticulated
cornice with stylized brackets with paneled frieze

Alterations: Facade repointed; windows replaced throughout; non-historic light fixtures at areaway
entrance; non-historic metal mailbox at secondary entrance; remote utility meter, and junction box attached
to basement facade

Building Notes: First of five row houses.
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Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic cast-iron gate and fencing surrounds concrete paved
areaway; metal access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Bluestone

Curb Material(s): Stone

365 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 51

Date: 1880

Architect/Builder: Thomas Miller (architect)
Original Owner: Abel Miller

Type: Row house

Style: Italianate details

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Historic railings, newel posts, fencing, and gate

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; slightly projecting stone hood with incised decorative
details; a detail repeated at lintels above first floor windows; windows with stone lintels and sills; historic
metal denticulated cornice with stylized brackets with paneled frieze

Alterations: Main entrance door replaced; stoop resurfaced; windows replaced throughout; non-historic
light fixtures in areaway; non-historic metal mailbox in areaway; remote utility meter, and junction box
attached to basement facade

Building Notes: Second of five row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic cast-iron gate and fencing surrounds concrete paved
areaway; metal access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Bluestone

Curb Material(s): Stone

367 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 50

Date: 1880
Architect/Builder: Thomas Miller (architect)
Original Owner: Abel Miller
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Type: Row house

Style: Italianate details
Stories: 2 and basement
Material(s): Brick; brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Historic railings, newel posts, fencing, and gate

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; slightly projecting stone hood with incised decorative
details at main entrance detail repeated at lintels above first floor windows; historic metal denticulated
cornice with stylized brackets with paneled frieze

Alterations: Main entrance door replaced; windows replaced; metal address plaque; non-historic metal
security door at main entrance and grilles at first floor windows; non-historic light fixture and
metal-and-canvas awning above a stone retaining wall surrounded by non-historic metal railings, gate and
fencing that leads to recessed third entrance in areaway

Building Notes: Third of five row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic cast-iron gate and fencing surrounds concrete paved
areaway; metal access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door; non-historic metal door at third entrance at areaway
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron/metal

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

369 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 49

Date: 1881 (NB 9-1881)

Architect/Builder: Thomas Miller (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Abel Miller

Type: Row house

Style: Italianate details

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Historic newel posts, fencing, and gate

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; slightly projecting stone hood with incised decorative
details at main entrance; detail repeated at lintels above first floor windows; historic wood-and-glass door
double-leaf door with transom at main entrance; historic metal denticulated cornice with stylized brackets
with paneled frieze

Alterations: Windows replaced; non-historic light fixture at main entrance; metal mailbox at basement
entrance; non-historic metal railings and newel posts

Building Notes: Fourth of five row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic cast-iron gate and fencing surrounds concrete paved
areaway; metal access hatch
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South Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Mixed (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

371 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 48

Date: 1881 (NB 9-1881)

Architect/Builder: Thomas Miller (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Abel Miller

Type: Row house

Style: Italianate details

Stories: 2 and Basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Historic railings, newel posts, fencing, and gate

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; slightly projecting stone hood with incised decorative
details at main entrance; detail repeated at lintels above first floor windows; historic metal denticulated
cornice with stylized brackets with paneled frieze

Alterations: Facade painted; windows replaced; main entrance door replaced; satellite dish and antenna at
roofline; two metal mailboxes at areaway entrance; remote utility meter, and junction box attached to
basement facade

Building Notes: Last of five row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic cast-iron gate and fencing surrounds concrete paved
areaway; metal access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

North Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)

373 Decatur Street (aka 310-318 Malcolm X Boulevard)
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1676, Lot 47

Date: 1881 (NB 9-1881)

Architect/Builder: Thomas Miller (architect and builder)
Original Owner: Abel Miller

Type: Flats building
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Style: Altered Renaissance Revival
Stories: 3
Material(s): Brick

Decorative Metal Work: Historic railings

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; possibly historic transom above door, slightly projecting
ornately carved-stone pedimented lintel above entrance; paired windows at second floor above storefront;
metal cornice with ornately detailed frieze

Alterations: Facade painted; first-floor storefront and second-floor display window additions removed;
several windows reconfigured and infilled with brick; windows replaced throughout; non-historic metal
security grilles at storefront windows; non-historic metal security roll-down grille and door at secondary
display window and door; wood signage

Site Features: Historic stone stoop with possibly historic cast-iron railings; two metal access hatches at
both facades

South Facade: Designed (painted, reconfigured first floor storefront)
Stoop: Possibly historic

Door(s): Replaced primary door; metal-and-glass storefront entrance
Windows: Mixed

Storefront(s): Replaced

Cornice: Historic

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

East Facade: Designed (historic, altered)

Facade Notes: Three-story painted brick facade, first floor non-historic metal-and-glass storefront display
window that wraps the corner of building; secondary display window; secondary entrance obscured by
metal roll-down door; windows at second and third floors; stepped roofline with three brick chimneys. 310
Malcolm X Boulevard: One-story brick building with reconfigured storefront that runs the length of
building; metal-and-glass doors and windows obscured by metal security roll-down doors and gates; canvas
awning with signage run the length of storefront topped by metal cornice

West Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Painted brick facade visible at third floor

North Facade: Not designed (historic, altered) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Painted brick facade visible at second and third floors; two segmental-arched one-over-one
windows with stone lintels and sills at each floor; topped by a denticulated metal cornice

DECATUR STREET (EVEN NUMBERS)

36 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1857, Lot 48

Date: 1907 (NB 1914-1907)

Architect/Builder: Louis Berger & Co. Architects
Original Owner: William Berlinger

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival/Romanesque Revival
Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; limestone
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Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop and sidewalls; brownstone water table; projecting
window sills in continuous bands; projecting lintel above the main entryway with incised decoration,
rosette, curved brackets, and molded crown; molded window lintels (springing from limestone bands) with
labels, foliation and scrolled keystones; bracketed, pressed metal cornice decorated with swags, wreaths,
and egg-and-dart moldings

Alterations: Transom at the main entryway replaced with wood panel; attached mailbox; non-historic lamps
above the main entryway; address panel

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Altered stoop (gate under stoop - removed)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic metal fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

West Facade: Not designed (historic)
Facade Notes: Cement stucco

38 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1857, Lot 49

Date: 1907 (NB 1914-1907)

Architect/Builder: Louis Berger & Co. Architects
Original Owner: William Berlinger

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival/Romanesque Revival
Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; limestone

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone water table; projecting window sills in continuous bands;
projecting lintel above the main entryway with incised decoration, rosette, curved brackets, and molded
crown; molded window lintels (springing from limestone bands) with labels, foliation and scrolled
keystones; bracketed, pressed metal cornice decorated with swags, wreaths, and egg-and-dart moldings
Alterations: Stoop covered with cement stucco and paint

Building Notes: Built as part of a row from 38 to 44 Decatur Street

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Altered stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic metal fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone
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40 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1857, Lot 50

Date: 1907 (NB 1914-1907)

Architect/Builder: Louis Berger & Co. Architects
Original Owner: William Berlinger

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival/Romanesque Revival
Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; limestone

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop and sidewalls; brownstone water table; projecting
window sills in continuous bands; projecting lintel above the main entryway with incised decoration,
rosette, curved brackets, and molded crown; molded window lintels (springing from limestone bands) with
labels, foliation and scrolled keystones; bracketed, pressed metal cornice decorated with swags, wreaths,
and egg-and-dart moldings

Alterations: Box awnings at the main entryway and the windows; tube-railing on the stoop; non-historic
wall lamp next to door

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

42 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1857, Lot 51

Date: 1907 (NB 1914-1907)

Architect/Builder: Louis Berger & Co. Architects
Original Owner: William Berlinger

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival/Romanesque Revival
Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; limestone

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop and sidewalls; brownstone water table; projecting
window sills in continuous bands; projecting lintel above the main entryway with incised decoration,
rosette, curved brackets, and molded crown; molded window lintels (springing from limestone bands) with
labels, foliation and scrolled keystones; bracketed, pressed metal cornice decorated with swags, wreaths,
and egg-and-dart moldings

Alterations: Painted stoop; plastic awning above the main entryway; address panel; metal railing on the
stoop

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Painted stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)
Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
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Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic metal fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

44 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1857, Lot 52

Date: 1907 (NB 1914-1907)

Architect/Builder: Louis Berger & Co. Architects
Original Owner: William Berlinger

Type: Row house

Style: Renaissance Revival/Romanesque Revival
Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; limestone

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop and sidewalls; brownstone water table; projecting
window sills in continuous bands; projecting lintel above the main entryway with incised decoration,
rosette, curved brackets, and molded crown; molded window lintels (springing from limestone bands) with
labels, foliation and scrolled keystones; bracketed, pressed metal cornice decorated with swags, wreaths,
and egg-and-dart moldings

Alterations: Metal railings on the stoop; plastic awning over the areaway steps; non-historic wall lamp at
the areaway steps

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Painted stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic metal posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

46 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1857, Lot 52

Date: c.2012

Architect/Builder: Not determined
Original Owner: Not determined
Type: Apartment building

Style: None

Stories: 4

Material(s): Brick

Building Notes: This building is newly-erected; no construction information has been located.

North Facade: Designed (new)
Door(s): New primary door
Windows: New

Storefront(s): New

156



Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete
Curb Material(s): Bluestone

East Facade: Not historic
Facade Notes: Cement stucco and cement block

West Facade: Not historic (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Cement stucco

South Facade: Not historic
Facade Notes: Cement stucco

48-50 Decatur Street (aka 1497 Fulton Street)
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1857, Lot 13 in part

Type: Unimproved lot

Building Notes: Presently in use as a parking lot; this entry is for the northern half of the lot; the southern
half of the lot facing Fulton Street is excluded from the historic district.

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Metal fence and gate

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

52 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1857, Lot 56

Date: 1884 (NB 568-1884)
Architect/Builder: William C. Booth
Original Owner: Samuel S. Booth
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brick

Special Windows: Segmental-arch fenestration

Decorative Metal Work: Wrought-iron grilles on the window sills; cast-iron newel posts and tube railings at
the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; projecting window sills on corbelled brick brackets;
round-arch entryway with transom light and brick label molding; patterned brickwork below the third-story
sill; corbelled brick cornice; paneled brick parapet at the roofline

Alterations: Repointed brickwork; electrical meters

North Facade: Designed (repointed)

Stoop: Painted stoop (historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Not historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Original cast-iron posts and fence with historic wrought-iron gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete

West Facade: Not designed (historic, altered)

Facade Notes: Cement stucco, painted
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54 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1857, Lot 57

Date: 1884 (NB 568-1884)
Architect/Builder: William C. Booth
Original Owner: Samuel S. Booth
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brick

Special Windows: Segmental-arch fenestration

Decorative Metal Work: Wrought-iron decoration on the window sills; cast-iron newel posts and tube
railings on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; projecting window sills on corbelled brick brackets;
round-arch entryway with transom light and brick label molding; patterned brickwork below the third-story
sill; corbelled brick cornice; paneled brick parapet at the roofline

Alterations: Satellite dish on roof

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Historic stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Original cast-iron newel posts and fence with historic wrought-iron gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

East Facade: Not designed (historic, altered)
Facade Notes: Cement stucco

54A Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1857, Lot 58

Type: Unimproved lot

56 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1857, Lot 59

Date: 1884 (NB 568-1884)
Architect/Builder: William C. Booth
Original Owner: Samuel S. Booth
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brick

Special Windows: Segmental-arch fenestration

Decorative Metal Work: Wrought-iron decoration on the window sills; cast-iron newel railings at the stoop
Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; projecting window sills on corbelled brick brackets;
round-arch entryway with transom light and brick label molding; patterned brickwork below the third-story
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sill; corbelled brick cornice; paneled brick parapet at the roofline
Alterations: Newel posts removed from the stoop

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Altered stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic metal fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

West Facade: Not designed (historic, altered)
Facade Notes: Cement stucco, painted

58 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1857, Lot 60

Date: 1886 (Plan 818-1886)
Architect/Builder: Augustus W. Blazo
Original Owner: Blazo & Sands

Type: Row house

Style: Altered Queen Anne

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone and cement stucco

Special Windows: Round-arch fenestration at the first story

Significant Architectural Features: Round-arch entryway; rough-faced quoins, molded architraves, and
splayed keystones at the main entryway and first-story windows, which also have bracketed sills; bracketed
sills; rough-faced quoins, and rough-faced, splayed lintel blocks at the second-story windows

Alterations: Original attic story raised to full height in the mid-twentieth century, at which time the cornice
was removed; stoop and areaway alterations

North Facade: Designed (painted)

Stoop: Altered stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic brick walls and wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone
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60 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1857, Lot 61

Date: 1886 (Plan 818-1886)
Architect/Builder: Augustus W. Blazo
Original Owner: Blazo & Sands
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Round-arch fenestration at the first story

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railings on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; round-arch entryway; rough-faced quoins, molded
architraves, and splayed keystones at the main entryway and first-story windows; bracketed sills;
rough-faced quoins, and rough-faced, splayed lintel blocks at the second-story windows; bracketed roof
cornice with central gable and sunburst, and attic story sash incorporated within the frieze

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic metal fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

62 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1857, Lot 62

Date: 1886 (Plan 818-1886)
Architect/Builder: Augustus W. Blazo
Original Owner: Blazo & Sands

Type: Row house

Style: Altered Queen Anne

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone and cement stucco

Special Windows: Round-arch fenestration at the first story

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railings on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; round-arch entryway; rough-faced quoins, molded
architraves, and splayed keystones at the main entryway and first-story windows; bracketed sills;
rough-faced quoins, and rough-faced, splayed lintel blocks at the second-story windows

Alterations: Original attic story raised to full height in the mid-twentieth century

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Mixed (upper stories); historic (basement)
Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Removed
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Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

64 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1857, Lot 63

Date: 1886 (Plan 818-1886)
Architect/Builder: Augustus W. Blazo
Original Owner: Blazo & Sands
Type: Row house

Style: Queens Anne

Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Round-arch fenestration at the first story

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railings on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; round-arch entryway; rough-faced quoins, molded
architraves, and splayed keystones at the main entryway and first-story windows; bracketed sills;
rough-faced quoins, and rough-faced, splayed lintel blocks at the second-story windows; bracketed roof
cornice with central gable and sunburst, and attic story sash incorporated within the frieze

Alterations: Non-historic light fixture at the basement

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

66 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1857, Lot 64

Date: 1886 (Plan 818-1886)
Architect/Builder: Augustus W. Blazo
Original Owner: Blazo & Sands
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Round-arch fenestration at the first story

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railings on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; round-arch entryway; rough-faced quoins, molded
architraves, and splayed keystones at the main entryway and first-story windows; bracketed sills;
rough-faced quoins, and rough-faced, splayed lintel blocks at the second-story windows; bracketed roof
cornice with central gable and sunburst, and attic story sash incorporated within the frieze
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North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete and bluestone

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

68 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1857, Lot 65

Date: 1886 (Plan 818-1886)
Architect/Builder: Augustus W. Blazo
Original Owner: Blazo & Sands
Type: Row house

Style: Altered Queen Anne

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Round-arch fenestration at the first story

Decorative Metal Work: Cast-iron railings on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Historic brownstone box stoop; round-arch entryway; rough-faced
guoins, molded architraves, and splayed keystones at the main entryway and first-story windows; bracketed
sills; rough-faced quoins, and rough-faced, splayed lintel blocks at the second- and third-story windows;
molded roof cornice with dentils

Alterations: Original attic story raised to full height and a new cornice installed in the early twentieth
century; non-historic metal railings added to the stoop; wall lamp next to the main entryway; fire alarm box
below the first-story window; siamese fire connection; intercoms at the basement

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic metal fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

70 Decatur Street (aka 70-72 Decatur Street and 644 Throop Avenue)
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1857, Lot 66

Date: 1889 (NB 153-1889)
Architect/Builder: Frederick L. Hine
Original Owner: Furnald & Stoutenburg
Type: Apartment building

Style: Romanesque Revival

Stories: 5 and basement
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Material(s): Brick; brownstone; terra cotta

Special Windows: Round-arch fenestration at the first and fifth stories

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced, brownstone base topped with a molded crown;
round-arch main entryway with label molding; molded labels and splayed lintels at the first-story windows;
projecting window sills; rough-faced and splayed lintels at the upper-story windows; floral terra-cotta
panels at the spandrels; bracketed roof cornice with dentils

Alterations: Painted brownstone (base, sills, and lintels); stoop alterations, including barrier-free access
ramp; non-historic lamps; fire escape

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Altered

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fences and gates
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Bluestone

East Facade: Designed (historic)
Facade Notes: Full-height angled bay with vertical brick panels and anchor plates; projecting chimney with
buttresses, terra-cotta panel with geometrical decorations, and vertical brick panels

West Facade: Not designed (historic, altered) (partially visible)

South Facade: Not designed (historic, altered)
Facade Notes: Cement stucco

76 Decatur Street see 627 Throop Avenue

78 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 4

Date: 1886 (NB 625-1886)
Architect/Builder: Isaac D. Reynolds
Original Owner: Henry Search

Type: Row house

Style: Altered neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; cement stucco

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts, balusters, and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; vertical stone panels and beveled lintels at the
basement; projecting water table; fluted pilasters and incised lintel on brackets at the main entryway;
projecting window sills on brackets; incised window surrounds and lintels

Alterations: Attic story raised to full height; some of the window surrounds simplified; mailboxes attached
to the side of the stoop
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North Facade: Designed (painted, resurfaced)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Possibly historic primary door; metal security gates at the main entryway
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)

Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate

Areaway Paving Material(s): Brick

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

80 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 5

Date: 1886 (NB 625-1886)
Architect/Builder: Isaac D. Reynolds
Original Owner: Henry Search
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brownstone

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; vertical stone panels at the basement; beveled
window lintels; projecting water table; fluted pilasters and incised lintel on brackets at the main entryway;
projecting window sills on brackets; incised window surrounds and lintels; bracketed cornice incorporating
the attic windows

Alterations: Intercom at basement entryway

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Possibly historic primary door; metal security gates installed at the main entryway
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

82 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 6

Date: 1886 (NB 625-1886)
Architect/Builder: Isaac D. Reynolds
Original Owner: Henry Search
Type: Row house

Style: Altered neo-Grec

Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brownstone; brick
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Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts, balusters, and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; vertical stone panels and beveled lintels at the
basement; projecting water table; bracketed cornice incorporating the attic windows

Alterations: Window and door surrounds removed and replaced with brick

North Facade: Designed (painted, partially stripped)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Possibly historic primary door; metal security gates installed at the main entryway
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic fence; historic iron gate

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

84 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 7

Date: 1886 (NB 625-1886)
Architect/Builder: Isaac D. Reynolds
Original Owner: Henry Search
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron balusters and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; vertical stone panels at the basement; projecting
water table; fluted pilasters and incised lintel on brackets at the main entryway; projecting window sills on
brackets; beveled window lintels; incised window surrounds and lintels; bracketed cornice incorporating
the attic windows

Alterations: Original newel posts removed from the stoop

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Altered stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Possibly historic primary door; metal security gates at the main entryway
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic brick posts and metal fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

East Facade: Designed (historic, altered) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Covered with stucco and painted
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88 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 8

Date: 1889 (NB 665-1889)
Architect/Builder: Sibell and Miller
Original Owner: Isabella H. Moore
Type: Apartment building

Style: Romanesque Revival

Stories: 4 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone; metal

Special Windows: Roman arch window at the first story; round-arch fenestration at the upper stories
Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop and sidewalls; rough-faced brownstone ashlar at the
first story, topped by a molded crown; round-arch main entryway topped by a heavily bracketed lintel at the
same level of the first-story crown; two-story angular oriel clad in pressed metal featuring geometrical and
foliated decoration; brick window quoins at the second and third stories; fourth-story window sills in a
continuous projecting band; heavily bracketed cornice (above a checkerboard brick fascia) with modillions
and frieze panels

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); not visible (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not visible (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic metal fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete, planting bed

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

90 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 9

Date: 1889 (NB 665-1889)
Architect/Builder: Sibell and Miller
Original Owner: Isabella H. Moore
Type: Apartment building

Style: Romanesque Revival

Stories: 4 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone; metal

Special Windows: Transom sash above wide mullions at the first story; round-arch and shouldered sash at
the third story

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop and sidewalls (one curving); rough-faced
brownstone ashlar at the basement and first stories, topped by a molded crown; round-arch main entryway
topped by a heavily bracketed lintel at the same level of the first-story crown; two-story metal-clad bay
(flanked by brick quoins and topped by a header brick architrave), featuring geometrical and curving
decoration and a round pilaster at the third story; brick window quoins at the second and third stories;
splayed lintel at the second story; fourth-story window sills in a continuous projecting band; bracketed
cornice with a foliated frieze

North Facade: Designed (historic)
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Stoop: Original

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Mixed

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic metal fence
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; planting bed
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

92 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 10

Date: 1889 (NB 665-1889)
Architect/Builder: Sibell and Miller
Original Owner: Isabella H. Moore
Type: Apartment building

Style: Romanesque Revival

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone; metal

Special Windows: Transom sash above wide mullions at the first story; round-arch and shouldered sash at
the third story

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop and sidewalls (one curving); rough-faced
brownstone ashlar at the basement and first stories, topped by a molded crown; round-arch main entryway
topped by a heavily bracketed lintel at the same level of the first-story crown; two-story metal-clad bay
(flanked by brick quoins and topped by a header brick architrave), featuring geometrical and curving
decoration and a round pilaster at the third story; brick window quoins at the second and third stories;
splayed lintel at the second story; fourth-story window sills in a continuous projecting band; bracketed
cornice with a foliated frieze

Alterations: Wrought-iron fire escape; non-historic light fixture at the main entryway

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); not visible (basement)

Security Grilles: Not visible (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Possibly historic iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

94 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 10

Date: 1889 (NB 665-1889)
Architect/Builder: Sibell and Miller
Original Owner: Isabella H. Moore
Type: Apartment building

Style: Romanesque Revival

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone; metal
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Special Windows: Roman-arch window at the first story; round-arch fenestration at the upper stories
Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop and sidewalls (one side curving); rough-faced
brownstone ashlar at the first story, topped by a molded crown; round-arch main entryway topped by a
heavily bracketed lintel at the same level of the first-story crown; two-story angular oriel clad in pressed
metal featuring geometrical and foliated decoration; brick window quoins at the second and third stories;
fourth-story window sills in a continuous projecting band; heavily bracketed cornice (above a checkerboard
brick fascia) with modillions and frieze panels

Alterations: Wrought-iron fire escape; non-historic light fixture at the main entryway

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); sealed (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

East Facade: Not designed (historic)

96 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 13

Date: 1892 (NB 102-1892)

Architect/Builder: Henry Olmsted & Sons
Original Owner: Henry B. Moore

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival/Renaissance Revival
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Leaded-glass transoms (above wide mullions) with beveled lintels and bead molding at
the first story

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone box stoop and side walls; angular projecting
bay; beveled lintels with bead moldings at the basement, which is topped by a rope molding; beveled and
beaded main entryway surround below a carved spandrel flanked by pinnacled brackets on mask bases;
molded window sills in continuous bands; beveled window surrounds; rough-faced spandrel panels above
the first story; bracketed cornice with dentils

Alterations: Non-historic iron railings on the stoop

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Brownstone wall and non-historic metal gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

West Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
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98 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 14

Date: 1892 (NB 102-1892)

Architect/Builder: Henry Olmsted & Sons
Original Owner: Henry B. Moore

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival/Renaissance Revival
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Leaded-glass transoms (above wide mullions) with beveled lintels and bead molding at
the first story

Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone box stoop and side walls; angular projecting
bay; beveled lintels with bead moldings at the basement, which is topped by a rope molding; beveled and
beaded main entryway surround below a carved spandrel flanked by pinnacled brackets on mask bases;
molded window sills in continuous bands; beveled window surrounds; rough-faced spandrel panels above
the first story; bracketed cornice with dentils

Alterations: Non-historic metal railings on the stoop; non-historic light fixture at the basement entryway

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - altered)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Possibly historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; metal chute cover

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

100 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 15

Date: 1892 (NB 102-1892)

Architect/Builder: Henry Olmsted & Sons
Original Owner: Henry B. Moore

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival/Renaissance Revival
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; limestone

Special Windows: Segmental- and round-arch fenestration; stained-glass transoms at the first story
Significant Architectural Features: Rough-faced brownstone stoop with smooth side walls; rough-faced
band courses; splayed, rough-faced lintels at the basement; segmental main entryway lintel topped by a
decorated gable; decorated pilasters flanking the main entryway; twisted column on foliated bracketed at
the first story; molded label above rough-faced and decorative architrave at the first story; continuous
molded window sills; rough-faced keystones at the second story; rough-faced lintels at the third story;
bracketed cornice with dentils
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North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - altered)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); historic (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic stone wall and posts; non-historic wrought-iron fence
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

102 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 16

Date: 1892 (NB 102-1892)

Architect/Builder: Henry Olmsted & Sons

Original Owner: Henry B. Moore

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival/Renaissance Revival

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Stone (painted, obscured by paint), possibly brownstone and/or limestone

Special Windows: Segmental fenestration at the first story with stained-glass transoms

Significant Architectural Features: Angled facade; rough-faced brownstone stoop with smooth cheek
walls; rough-faced ashlar and band courses at the basement, second, and third stories; round-arch main
entryway with rough-faced architrave, foliated spring stone, and molded label (similar surround at the
first-story windows); continuous molded window sills; bracketed cornice with dentils

Alterations: Wrought-iron railings installed on the stoop

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Altered stoop (gate under stoop - altered)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic stone wall with non-historic wrought-iron fence
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

104 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 17

Date: 1892 (NB 102-1892)

Architect/Builder: Henry Olmsted & Sons
Original Owner: Henry B. Moore

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival/Renaissance Revival
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone
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Special Windows: Stained-glass transoms above wide mullions at the first story

Significant Architectural Features: Angled facade; rough-faced brownstone stoop and cheek walls;
rough-faced ashlar at the basement; beveled lintels with bead moldings at the first and second stories;
beveled and beaded main entryway surround below a carved spandrel flanked by pinnacled brackets on
mask bases; molded window sills in continuous bands; multi-story corner pilasters on foliated bases and
topped by decorated finials; rough-faced spandrel panels above the first story; rough-faced stone lintels and
molded lintels on rough-faced brackets at the second and third stories; bracketed cornice with dentils and
frieze panels

Alterations: Non-historic tube railings and mailboxes installed on the stoop

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic brownstone wall and non-historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

106 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 18

Date: 1886 (NB 486-1886)
Architect/Builder: Robert Dixon
Original Owner: J. Gordon
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; incised bandcourses at the basement; projecting
water table, incorporating the first-story spandrel panel brackets; main entryway flanked by fluted and
incised pilasters and topped by a denticulated lintel and a molded gable on incised bracketed with guttae;
molded window sills; molded window surrounds and lintels (on brackets at the second and third story);
bracketed wood cornice with dentils and rosettes.

Alterations: Mailboxes attached to the side of the stoop; non-historic light fixture at the basement entryway

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal
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108 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 19

Date: 1886 (NB 486-1886)
Architect/Builder: Robert Dixon
Original Owner: J. Gordon
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; incised bandcourses at the basement; projecting
water table, incorporating the first-story spandrel panel brackets; main entryway flanked by fluted and
incised pilasters and topped by a denticulated lintel and a molded gable on incised bracketed with guttae;
molded window sills; molded window surrounds and lintels (on brackets at the second and third story);
bracketed wood cornice with dentils and rosettes.

Alterations: Intercom at the basement entryway

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Bluestone and concrete; metal chute cover
Sidewalk Material(s): Bluestone and concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

110 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 20

Date: 1886 (NB 486-1886)
Architect/Builder: Robert Dixon
Original Owner: J. Gordon
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; incised bandcourses at the basement; projecting
water table, incorporating the first-story spandrel panel brackets; main entryway flanked by fluted and
incised pilasters and topped by a denticulated lintel and a molded gable on incised bracketed with guttae;
molded window sills; molded window surrounds and lintels (on brackets at the second and third story);
bracketed wood cornice with dentils and rosettes.

Alterations: Mailbox on basement entryway gate

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Altered stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Possibly historic (upper stories); historic (basement)
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Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic metal fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

East Facade: Designed (historic, altered) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Brick covered with bituminous materials

112 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 21

Date: 1885-86 (NB 755-1885)
Architect/Builder: William C. Booth
Original Owner: William C. Booth
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brick

Special Windows: Segmental fenestration

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts and hand rails on the stoop; wrought iron
balconettes at the upper-story windows

Significant Architectural Features: Original brownstone stoop; angled bays; projecting water table;
round-arch main entryway flanked by brick pilasters and topped by a molded brick architrave with dentils;
continuous, projecting stone window sills at the angled bays; stretcher brick window lintels; brick spandrel
panels; bracketed wood cornice with frieze panels

Alterations: Non-historic light fixture and mailbox at the basement entryway

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - altered)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Historic (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic cast-iron posts and railing on brownstone retaining wall
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

114 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 22

Date: 1885-86 (NB 755-1885)
Architect/Builder: William C. Booth
Original Owner: William C. Booth
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brick
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Special Windows: Segmental fenestration

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts and hand rails on the stoop; wrought-iron
balconettes at the second and third stories

Significant Architectural Features: Original brownstone stoop; angled bays; projecting water table;
round-arch main entryway flanked by brick pilasters and topped by a molded brick architrave with dentils;
continuous, projecting stone window sills at the angled bays; stretcher brick window lintels; brick spandrel
panels; bracketed wood cornice with frieze panels

North Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Original stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic wrought-iron posts and railings on a brownstone retaining wall
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

116 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1858, Lot 23

Date: 1885-86 (NB 755-1885)
Architect/Builder: William C. Booth
Original Owner: William C. Booth
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brick

Special Windows: Segmental fenestration

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts and hand rails on the stoop; wrought-iron
balconettes at the second and third stories

Significant Architectural Features: Original brownstone stoop; angled bays; projecting water table;
round-arch main entryway flanked by brick pilasters and topped by a molded brick architrave with dentils;
continuous, projecting stone window sills at the angled bays; stretcher brick window lintels; brick spandrel
panels; bracketed wood cornice with frieze panels

North Facade: Designed (historic, repointed)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic cast-iron posts and railing on a brownstone retaining wall
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

East Facade: Not designed (historic, altered)
Facade Notes: Cement stucco, painted

118-122 Decatur Street see 2 Albany Avenue
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124 Decatur Street see 1 Albany Avenue

132 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1859, Lot 17

Date: 1891 (NB 705-1891)

Architect/Builder: SW. & C. J. Dodge Architects
Original Owner: R. Sweet

Type: Row house

Style: Romanesque Revival

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel post and railings on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Angled bay; brownstone stoop; rough-faced ashlar at the basement;
smooth, projecting water table; beveled jambs and lintel at the main entryway with dentils, brackets on
foliated bases, foliated crown (continuing above the first story), and attached finials flanking the
second-story spandrel panel with alternating rough-faced and smooth checkerboard stonework; continuous
molded window sills; foliated stone flanking the first-story windows; geometrical carvings at the third-story
piers; bracketed cornice

Alterations: Mailboxes attached to the stoop

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic wrought-iron fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; steel hatch doors to the cellar
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

134 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1859, Lot 18

Date: 1884 (NB 6-1884)
Architect/Builder: James Ashfield & Son
Original Owner: James Ashfield & Son
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts, balusters, and hand rails on the stoop

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop with round-arch under-stoop opening on brackets;
projecting bays; projecting, incised band courses at the basement; projecting water table; fluted pilasters
flanking the main entryway which is topped by a molded lintel on brackets; beveled window surrounds with
paneled pilasters on molded lintels; bracketed sills at the second story; bracketed roof cornice
(incorporating the attic windows) with squat pilasters and egg-and-dart moldings
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North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; metal chute cover

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

136 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1859, Lot 19

Date: 1884 (NB 6-1884)
Architect/Builder: James Ashfield & Son
Original Owner: James Ashfield & Son
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 with basement and attic
Material(s): Brownstone

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; projecting bays; projecting, incised band courses at
the basement; projecting water table; fluted pilasters flanking the main entryway which is topped by a
molded lintel on brackets; beveled window surrounds with paneled pilasters on molded lintels; bracketed
sills at the second story; bracketed roof cornice (incorporating the attic windows) with squat pilasters and
egg-and-dart moldings

Alterations: Window bay at basement converted to secondary entryway; original ironwork removed from
the stoop; non-historic awning and sign

North Facade: Designed (historic, patched)

Stoop: Altered stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic masonry posts and wrought-iron fence
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

138 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1859, Lot 20

Date: 1882 (Plan 1188-1882)

Architect/Builder: C[harles] H. Smith

Original Owner: A. Post

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec/Second Empire with alterations
Stories: 2 with basement and attic

Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Original cast-iron newel posts on the stoop
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Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; rusticated basement; round-arch main entryway
flanked by fluted and incised pilasters and topped by incised keystone and bracketed lintel; incised window
sills and lintels on brackets; mansard roof with bracketed cornice; projecting dormers with pilasters and
bracketed gables

Alterations: Replacement ironwork on the stoop; mailbox attached to the basement entryway gate

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Original stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Not historic (basement)

Roof: Historic (Pitched - slate (painted))

Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Historic iron posts, fence, and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; steel chute cover
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and metal

140 Decatur Street (aka 464 Marcus Garvey Boulevard)
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1859, Lot 21

Date: 1882 (Plan 1188-1882)

Architect/Builder: C[harles] H. Smith

Original Owner: A. Post

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec/Second Empire with alterations
Stories: 2 with basement and attic

Material(s): Brownstone

Significant Architectural Features: Brownstone stoop; rusticated basement; round-arch main entryway
flanked by fluted and incised pilasters and topped by incised keystone and bracketed lintel; incised window
sills and lintels on brackets; mansard roof with bracketed cornice; projecting dormers with pilasters and
bracketed gables

Alterations: Original ironwork removed from the stoop

Site Features: Non-historic concrete block wall and wood fence on Marcus Garvey Boulevard

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Original stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Mixed (upper stories); historic (basement)
Notable Roof Features: Mansard

Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Possibly historic metal fence
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; steel chute cover
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete

East Facade: Designed (historic)
Facade Notes: Brick (painted); projecting bays at the basement and first story; projecting window sills

South Facade: Partially designed (historic)
Facade Notes: Brick, patched and painted; historic bracketed wood cornice
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142 Decatur Street (aka 142-144 Decatur Street, 471-477 Marcus Garvey Boulevard)
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 1

Building Name: The Decatur

Date: c. 1888 (NB 731-88)

Architect/Builder: Not determined

Original Owner: Not determined

Type: Flats building with stores

Style: Romanesque Revival

Stories: 4

Material(s): Brick; stone; possibly terra-cotta cornice

Special Windows: Arch-headed windows at ground and fourth stories

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings; decorative fire escape at upper stories; decorative
iron-and-glass entry door

Significant Architectural Features: Chamfered building corners at northwest and northeast corners;
Romanesque Revival-style carved ornament at entry surround and spandrels above soldier-course brick
arch at main entry; channeled pilasters flanking main entry; decorative molded bricks; molded stone
stringcourses at second and fourth stories; "Decatur" inscription at third story; cartouches with Romanesque
Revival-style ornament below first-story windows; soldier-course brick arches at first- and fourth-story
windows; convex cornice (possibly terra cotta or stone) with organic foliated motifs and brick frieze with
cartouches

Alterations: Security camera in metal cage at first story; exposed conduit; security lights, signage, and
intercom box at main entry; signage; non-historic storefront infill at corner storefront

Site Features: Tree pit with metal edging; below-grade areaway with stairs

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Painted stoop (gate under stoop - not visible)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); historic (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)
Storefront(s): Replaced

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Bluestone

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

West Facade: Designed (historic)

Facade Notes: Design, materials and cornice continue from north (Decatur Street) facade; corbelled brick
chimneys with foliated pendants and decorative (possibly terra-cotta) caps; one decorative fire escape and
one utilitarian fire escape; arch-headed windows at fourth story; courses of corbelled bull-nose brickwork;
molded stringcourses at upper stories (possibly stone); historic one-over-one double-hung wood windows
with historic window grilles at ground story; alterations include non-historic storefront infill, signage, and
roll-down security gates with housing at ground-story corner and Marcus Garvey Boulevard storefronts;
utility boxes at second story; windows replaced at upper stories

East Facade: Designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Parged brick; cornice continues from primary facade; stone coping

South Facade: Designed (historic, altered)
Facade Notes: Parged brick facade with window openings, some made smaller or sealed; replacement
windows; chimney; satellite dish at second story
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146 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 3

Date: c. 1885 (NB 550-85)
Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill

Original Owner: J. M. Brown

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Special Windows: Shouldered window openings at basement; stained-glass transom at main entry
Decorative Metal Work: Cresting at door hood; original stoop railings and newel posts

Significant Architectural Features: Neo-Grec style incised ornament; neo-Grec style bracketed window
hoods and sills; door hood with fluted pilasters, roundels, beaded console brackets, and entablature with
incised ornament and iron cresting; neo-Grec style cornice with dentils, brackets with geometric motifs, and
paneled fascia

Alterations: Non-historic light fixtures at main and basement entries; doorbell at basement entry; some
details missing from cornice brackets

Building Notes: One in a row of two buildings (146 and 148 Decatur Street). Built in conjunction with 150
Decatur Street.

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (original gate under stoop)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Historic (with storms) (upper stories); historic (with storms) (basement)
Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

South Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)

148 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 4

Date: c. 1885 (NB 550-85)
Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill

Original Owner: J. M. Brown

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Special Windows: Shouldered window openings at basement

Decorative Metal Work: Cresting at door hood

Significant Architectural Features: Neo-Grec style incised ornament; neo-Grec style bracketed window
hoods and sills; door hood with fluted pilasters, roundels, beaded console brackets, and entablature with
incised ornament and iron cresting; neo-Grec style cornice with dentils, brackets with geometric motifs, and
paneled fascia
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Alterations: Non-historic stoop railings; exterior vestibule installed at basement entry; utility box at
building base; security lights and doorbells at main entry

Building Notes: One in a row of two buildings (146 and 148 Decatur Street). Built in conjunction with 150
Decatur Street.

Site Features: Cellar hatch, lamp post, and concrete-edged planting bed in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced)

Stoop: Replaced (rebuilt in brick and cast stone) stoop (gate under stoop - altered)
Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

South Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)

150 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 5

Date: c. 1884 (NB 399-84)
Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill

Original Owner: F. J. McBrien

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Cresting at door hood; original stoop railings and newel posts

Significant Architectural Features: Neo-Grec style incised ornament; neo-Grec style bracketed window
hoods and sills; door hood with fluted pilasters, roundels, beaded console brackets, and entablature with
incised ornament and iron cresting; neo-Grec style cornice with dentils, brackets with geometric motifs, and
paneled fascia

Alterations: Utility box at building base; mailbox and metal panel installed on under-stoop gate; doorbell at
main entry; some details missing from cornice; satellite dish on roof

Building Notes: Built in conjunction with 146 and 148 Decatur Street.

Site Features: Cellar hatch and planting bed in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted, resurfaced)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Original primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

South Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
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152 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 6

Date: c. 1886 (NB 156-86)
Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield
Original Owner: John C. Bushfield
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Special Windows: Shouldered window openings at basement

Significant Architectural Features: Paneled niches at building base; neo-Grec style incised ornament;
neo-Grec style bracketed window hoods and sills; door hood with fluted pilasters, roundels, beaded console
brackets, and entablature with incised ornament; neo-Grec style cornice with dentils, brackets with
geometric motifs, and paneled fascia

Alterations: Exterior vestibule installed at basement entry; utility boxes at building base; security lights and
exposed conduit at main and basement entries; doorbell at main entry; stoop railings and newel posts
encased in concrete

Building Notes: One in a row of eight buildings (152 to 166 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced)

Stoop: Altered stoop (gate under stoop - altered)

Door(s): Altered (paneled wood returns intact) primary door
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

South Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)

154 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 7

Date: c. 1886 (NB 156-86)
Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield
Original Owner: John C. Bushfield
Type: Row house

Style: Altered neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Shouldered window openings at basement

Significant Architectural Features: Paneled niches at building base; neo-Grec style bracketed door hood,
window sills and window hoods

Alterations: Non-historic stoop railings and newel posts; mailbox installed on side of stoop; doorbells at
main and basement entries; security light at main entry; incised ornament parged over; cornice removed
Building Notes: One in a row of eight buildings (152 to 166 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Brick-edged tree pit
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North Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced)

Stoop: Altered stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

South Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)

156 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 8

Date: c. 1886 (NB 156-86)
Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield
Original Owner: John C. Bushfield
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Shouldered window openings at basement

Significant Architectural Features: Paneled niches at building base; neo-Grec style incised ornament;
neo-Grec style bracketed window hoods and sills; door hood with fluted pilasters, roundels, beaded console
brackets, and entablature with incised ornament

Alterations: Non-historic stoop railings; doorbell at basement entry; mailbox installed on side of stoop;
security light and doorbells at main entry; some incised ornament parged over; cornice removed; satellite
dish on roof

Building Notes: One in a row of eight buildings (152 to 166 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch and brick-edged planting bed in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Altered (turned pilasters and transom intact) primary door
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)
Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

South Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)

Facade Notes: Brick facade, painted or parged; segmental-arch window openings; replacement windows;
block sills and lintels; dog-tooth brickwork at cornice; utilitarian fire escape
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158 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 9

Date: c. 1886 (NB 156-86)
Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield
Original Owner: John C. Bushfield
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec with alterations
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Special Windows: Shouldered window openings at basement

Significant Architectural Features: Paneled niches at building base; neo-Grec style incised ornament;
neo-Grec style bracketed window hoods and sills; door hood with fluted pilasters, roundels, beaded console
brackets, and entablature with incised ornament

Alterations: Utility box at building base; mailbox installed on side of stoop; security light at basement
entry; non-historic light fixture, doorbells, and address tile at main entry; transom at main entry covered by
wood panel; cornice removed

Building Notes: One in a row of eight buildings (152 to 166 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Wood planter in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced)

Stoop: Painted stoop (gate under stoop - not visible)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

South Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)

160 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 10

Date: c. 1886 (NB 156-86)
Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield
Original Owner: John C. Bushfield
Type: Row house

Style: Altered neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Faux stone cladding

Significant Architectural Features: Stoop; form of neo-Grec style door hood, window hoods, and window
sills remains; window openings

Alterations: Facade reclad in faux stone; security lights at basement and main entries; non-historic stoop
railings; cornice removed

Building Notes: One in a row of eight buildings (152 to 166 Decatur Street).
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North Facade: Designed (resided)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Altered primary door; non-historic metal gate and transom grille at main entry
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Removed

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

South Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Brick facade, painted or parged; segmental-arch window openings; replacement windows;
block sills and lintels; dog-tooth brickwork at cornice; utilitarian fire escape

162 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 11

Date: c. 1886 (NB 156-86)

Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield

Original Owner: John C. Bushfield

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; pressed-metal cornice

Special Windows: Shouldered window openings at basement

Significant Architectural Features: Paneled niches at building base; neo-Grec style incised ornament;
neo-Grec style bracketed window hoods and sills; door hood with fluted pilasters, roundels, beaded console
brackets, and entablature with incised ornament; Renaissance Revival-style cornice with acanthus-leaf
brackets, egg-and-dart molding, and fascia frieze of garlands

Alterations: Utility box at building base; non-historic stoop railings; intercom box at basement entry;
non-historic light fixture and intercom box at main entry; original wood cornice replaced with
pressed-metal cornice c. 1910 (ALT 4819-10); satellite dish on roof

Building Notes: One in a row of eight buildings (152 to 166 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch and lamp post in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Altered primary door; non-historic metal gate and transom grille at main entry
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)

Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; non-historic fence and gate

Areaway Paving Material(s): Brick landscape pavers

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

South Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Brick facade painted or parged; segmental-arch window openings; replacement windows;
block sills and lintels; dog-tooth brickwork at cornice; utilitarian fire escape
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164 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 12

Date: c. 1886 (NB 156-86)

Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield

Original Owner: John C. Bushfield

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; pressed-metal cornice

Special Windows: Shouldered window openings at basement

Significant Architectural Features: Paneled niches at building base; neo-Grec style incised ornament;
neo-Grec style bracketed window hoods and sills; door hood with fluted pilasters, roundels, beaded console
brackets, and entablature with incised ornament; Renaissance Revival-style cornice with acanthus-leaf
brackets, egg-and-dart molding, and fascia frieze of garlands

Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; non-historic stoop railings; non-historic light fixtures at
basement facade; non-historic light fixture and doorbells at main entry; original wood cornice replaced with
pressed-metal cornice c. 1908 (ALT 244-08); utilitarian fire escape at upper stories

Building Notes: One in a row of eight buildings (152 to 166 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, resurfaced)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Historic (basement)

Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; non-historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

South Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Brick facade painted or parged; segmental-arch window openings; replacement windows;
block sills and lintels; dog-tooth brickwork at cornice; utilitarian fire escape

166 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 13

Date: c. 1886 (NB 156-86)

Architect/Builder: John C. Bushfield

Original Owner: John C. Bushfield

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; pressed-metal cornice

Special Windows: Shouldered window openings at basement

Significant Architectural Features: Paneled niches at building base; neo-Grec style incised ornament;
neo-Grec style bracketed window hoods and sills; door hood with fluted pilasters, roundels, beaded console
brackets, and entablature with incised ornament; Renaissance Revival-style cornice with fluted brackets,
egg-and-dart molding, and fascia frieze of swags
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Alterations: Non-historic stoop railings; metal awning at main entry; mailboxes installed on side of stoop;
utility meters and boxes and security lights installed on basement facade

Building Notes: One in a row of eight buildings (152 to 166 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - not visible)

Door(s): Altered (turned pilasters and transom intact) primary door
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence (gate missing)
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

South Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Brick facade painted or parged; segmental-arch window openings; replacement windows;
block sills and lintels; dog-tooth brickwork at cornice; utilitarian fire escape

168 Decatur Street (aka 168-170 Decatur Street)
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 14

Building Name: The Elder Apartments
Date: c. 1926-1928 (NB 7706-26)
Architect/Builder: Tobias Goldstone
Original Owner: David M. Karassick
Type: Apartment building

Style: Colonial Revival

Stories: 4

Material(s): Brick; stone or cast stone

Special Windows: Arched transom above main entry

Significant Architectural Features: Flemish bond brickwork; brick diaperwork; door surround with
composite pilasters supporting an entablature with rosette impost blocks, "The Elder Apt" inscription in the
frieze, and a denticulated cornice surmounted by an urn

Alterations: Utility box at building base; security lights and intercom box at main entry; signage at door and
first-floor facade; portion of decorative urn at main entry missing; door surround, first-story window sills,
and second-story sillcourse painted; satellite dish on roof

Site Features: Areaway at grade; basement entry and stairs at eastern end of areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Resurfaced

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); historic (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gates
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; brick; planting beds
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel
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West Facade: Designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Flemish bond brickwork with stone or cast-stone bandcourses; stone or cast-stone coping;
signage at first story

East Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Brick facade; terra-cotta tile coping; metal chimneys at side and on roof

172 Decatur Street (aka 172-174 Decatur Street)
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 16

Date: c. 1916 (NB 1100-16)
Architect/Builder: Not determined
Original Owner: John R. and W. B. Cain
Type: Garage

Style: None

Stories: 1

Material(s): Brick; granite

Alterations: Recently renovated, including changes to windows, cladding, and parapet; non-historic light
fixtures, security cameras, and signage installed on facade.

Building Notes: Converted to church use in 1942 (ALT 155-42); "1942 Zion Temple 1954" date stone
visible at corner of building.

Site Features: Sewer pipe in areaway; non-historic gate at eastern alleyway

North Facade: Designed (resided)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic brick with polished granite coping; non-historic fence and
gate

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel; curb cut

East Facade: Not designed (historic)
Facade Notes: Brick facade with terra-cotta tile coping; gutter

176 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 18

Date: c. 1892 (NB 532-92)

Architect/Builder: C. F. Hunt

Original Owner: C. F. Hunt

Type: Flats building

Style: Queen Anne/Romanesque Revival
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; pressed-metal cornice

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced base; rock-faced lintel and sill courses; door hood of
pilasters with foliated capitals supporting fluted console brackets and molded entablature with beading and
frieze; billeting at second-story window spandrels; two panels of stylized incised ornament at second and
third stories; rock-faced lintels with beaded molding course; molded cornice with fluted console brackets
and deep fascia
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Alterations: Non-historic stoop railings; security light, intercom box, and exposed conduit at main entry;
signage and address letters in frieze of entry entablature; exposed conduit and security camera installed on
ground story facade; panning at paired windows on first story; utilitarian fire escape at upper stories
Building Notes: One in a row of two buildings (176 and 180 Decatur Street).

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Historic stoop (gate under stoop - not visible)
Door(s): Altered primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Altered (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; non-historic metal fence and gate at front; historic fence and
fence posts at east and west sides of areaway

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

West Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Painted brick wall with metal flashing at parapet; segmental-arched window openings;
replacement windows; satellite dish installed on facade at third story

180 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 20

Date: c. 1892 (NB 532-92)

Architect/Builder: C. F. Hunt

Original Owner: C. F. Hunt

Type: Flats building

Style: Queen Anne/Romanesque Revival

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; sandstone; pressed-metal cornice

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced base; rock-faced lintel and sill courses; door hood of
pilasters with foliated capitals supporting fluted console brackets and molded entablature with beading and
frieze; billeting at second-story window spandrels; two panels of stylized incised ornament at second and
third stories; rock-faced lintels with beaded molding course; molded cornice with fluted console brackets
and deep fascia

Alterations: Window openings sealed or boarded up; security light and intercom box at main entry; exposed
conduit on facade; satellite dish on roof

Building Notes: One in a row of two buildings (176 and 180 Decatur Street).

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - removed)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Altered (upper stories); altered (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; non-historic fence
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel
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182 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 22

Date: ¢. 1891 (Plan no. 38-91)
Architect/Builder: H. Davidson

Original Owner: William Dick

Type: Flats building

Style: Romanesque/Renaissance Revival
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; pressed-metal cornice

Special Windows: Arch-headed windows at first story

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced base; cartouches at spandrels below first-story windows;
rock-faced ashlar and lintel course with carved rosettes at first story; door surround composed of pilasters
with foliated capitals supporting acanthus-leaf brackets and molded entablature with foliated frieze; molded
window surrounds and molded lintels; cornice with egg-and-dart molding, angular fluted brackets, and
paneled fascia

Alterations: Utility box at building base; basement window sealed; railing at basement entry; security lights
and doorbell at main entry; satellite dish on roof

Building Notes: One in a row of two buildings (182 and 184 Decatur Street). Source for plan number: Real
Estate Record & Builders’ Guide, January 17, 1891, p. 107.

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Resurfaced

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Mixed (upper stories); mixed (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and fence posts
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

184 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 23

Date: c. 1891 (Plan no. 38-91)
Architect/Builder: H. Davidson

Original Owner: William Dick

Type: Flats building

Style: Romanesque/Renaissance Revival
Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; pressed-metal cornice

Special Windows: Arch-headed windows at first story

Significant Architectural Features: Rock-faced base; cartouches at spandrels below first-story windows;
rock-faced ashlar and lintel course with carved rosettes at first story; door surround composed of pilasters
with foliated capitals supporting acanthus-leaf brackets and molded entablature with foliated frieze; molded
window surrounds and molded lintels; cornice with egg-and-dart molding, angular fluted brackets, and
paneled fascia
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Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; railing at basement entry; security light, doorbell, and key box at
main entry

Building Notes: One in a row of two buildings (182 and 184 Decatur Street). Source for plan number: Real
Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, January 17, 1891, p. 107.

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Resurfaced, painted stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete; cast-stone coping at basement steps
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

East Facade: Not designed (historic, altered) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Parged brick wall with terra-cotta tile coping

186 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 24

Date: c. 1883 (NB 412-83)

Architect/Builder: Albert V. Porter (architect); M. J. Montgomery (builder)
Original Owner: Peter Sullivan

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; pressed-metal cornice

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated base; neo-Grec style bracketed sills and molded lintels;
neo-Grec style cornice with angular brackets and geometric ornament

Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; areaway excavated for ramp to basement entry; stoop rebuilt;
non-historic stoop railings; mailbox installed on side of stoop; light fixture with exposed conduit at
basement entry; address plaque at main entry; satellite dish on roof

Building Notes: One in a row of five buildings (186 to 192 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted, resurfaced)

Stoop: Replaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Altered (molded return and transom intact) primary door
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Concrete curb; non-historic fence and gate with non-historic pipe railing
at basement ramp

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel
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188 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 25

Date: c. 1883 (NB 412-83)

Architect/Builder: Albert V. Porter (architect); M. J. Montgomery (630 Herkimer St.) (builder)
Original Owner: Peter Sullivan

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; pressed-metal cornice

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated base; neo-Grec style bracketed sills and molded lintels;
neo-Grec style cornice with angular brackets and geometric ornament

Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; non-historic stoop railings and newel posts encased in concrete;
mailbox installed on stoop

Building Notes: One in a row of five buildings (186 to 192 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch and planting bed in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted, resurfaced)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Altered primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; non-historic fence
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

190 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 26

Date: c. 1883 (NB 412-83)

Architect/Builder: Albert V. Porter (architect); M. J. Montgomery (630 Herkimer St.) (builder)
Original Owner: Peter Sullivan

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; pressed-metal cornice

Significant Architectural Features: Neo-Grec style bracketed sills and molded lintels; neo-Grec style
cornice with angular brackets and geometric ornament

Alterations: Utility boxes on building base; rusticated ornament on base parged; non-historic stoop railings
Building Notes: One in a row of five buildings (186 to 192 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted, resurfaced)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Altered (paneled returns intact) primary door
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); mixed (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)
Cornice: Original
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Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Mostly concrete curb, some stone left; non-historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

190A Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 27

Date: c. 1883 (NB 412-83)

Architect/Builder: Albert V. Porter (architect); M. J. Montgomery (630 Herkimer St.) (builder)
Original Owner: Peter Sullivan

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; pressed-metal cornice

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated base; neo-Grec style bracketed sills and molded lintels;
neo-Grec style cornice with angular brackets and geometric ornament

Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; non-historic stoop railings; railing installed on facade at
basement entry; satellite dishes on roof

Building Notes: One in a row of five buildings (186 to 192 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch in areaway; tree pit with metal edging

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted, resurfaced)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Altered (paneled returns and transom intact) primary door
Windows: Mixed (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Concrete curb; non-historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

192 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 28

Date: c. 1883 (NB 412-83)

Architect/Builder: Albert V. Porter (architect); M. J. Montgomery (630 Herkimer St.) (builder)
Original Owner: Peter Sullivan

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; pressed-metal cornice

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated base; neo-Grec style bracketed sills and molded lintels;
neo-Grec style cornice with angular brackets and geometric ornament

Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; mailboxes installed on facade at main entry; security light and
doorbell at main entry; doorbell at basement entry; non-historic stoop railings

Building Notes: One in a row of five buildings (186 to 192 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch and planting bed in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted, resurfaced)

192



Stoop: Resurfaced, painted stoop (historic gate under stoop)

Door(s): Altered, molded transom intact primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; non-historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

194 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 29

Date: c. 1884 (NB 632-84)
Architect/Builder: Elihu J. Granger
Original Owner: Elihu J. Granger
Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Significant Architectural Features: Rusticated base; neo-Grec style bracketed sills and molded lintels;
cornice with fluted modillions, angular brackets, geometric ornament, and paneled fascia

Alterations: Mailbox installed on side of stoop; non-historic stoop railings; doorbell at basement entry
Building Notes: Built in conjunction with 186 to 192 Decatur Street.

Site Features: Planting bed in areaway; tree pit with masonry landscape pavers

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted, resurfaced)

Stoop: Painted stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Mixed (upper stories); possibly historic (basement)
Security Grilles: Not historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Brick

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

196 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 30

Date: c. 1886 (NB 493-86)

Architect/Builder: Walter M. Coots (architect); Lewis Bros. (builder)
Original Owner: McLoughlin McConnell

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Incised ornament on side of stoop; rock-faced rusticated base with
voussoirs; door surround composed of chamfered pilasters with scrolled plinths and fluted lonic capitals
beneath ogee console brackets with incised floral ornament supporting a molded entablature with scroll
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detail; shouldered lintel with rock-faced voussoirs above door; window surrounds on parlor floor composed
of chamfered pilasters with fluted lonic capitals supporting a shouldered lintel with rock-faced voussoirs;
ogee brackets at window sills and cartouches with floral ornament in spandrels; second-story windows form
projecting bay with ogee-curve spandrels; chamfered window enframements and lintels with rock-faced
voussoirs; molded and denticulated cornice with paneled fascia and projecting bay continuing from
second-story windows

Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; security camera with exposed conduit installed at basement and
first story near corner of building

Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (196 to 202 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Brick-edged planting bed and lamp post in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Altered (paneled returns and transom intact) primary door
Windows: Historic (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (basement)

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

198 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 31

Date: c. 1886 (NB 493-86)

Architect/Builder: Walter M. Coots (architect); Lewis Bros. (builder)
Original Owner: McLoughlin McConnell

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings and newel posts

Significant Architectural Features: Incised ornament on side of stoop; rock-faced rusticated base with
voussoirs; door surround composed of chamfered pilasters with scrolled plinths and fluted lonic capitals
beneath ogee console brackets with incised floral ornament supporting a molded entablature with scroll
detail; shouldered lintel with rock-faced voussoirs above door; window surrounds on parlor floor composed
of chamfered pilasters with fluted lonic capitals supporting a shouldered lintel with rock-faced voussoirs;
ogee brackets at window sills and cartouches with floral ornament in spandrels; second-story windows form
projecting bay with ogee-curve spandrels; chamfered window enframements and lintels with rock-faced
voussoirs; molded and denticulated cornice with paneled fascia and projecting bay continuing from
second-story windows

Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; doorbells at main and basement entry; satellite dish on roof
Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (196 to 202 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch, planting bed, and lamp post in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Painted stoop (gate under stoop - replaced)

Door(s): Altered (paneled returns and transom intact) primary door
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); not historic (basement)
Cornice: Original
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Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

200 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 32

Date: c. 1886 (NB 493-86)

Architect/Builder: Walter M. Coots (architect); Lewis Bros. (builder)
Original Owner: McLoughlin McConnell

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings

Significant Architectural Features: Incised ornament on side of stoop; rock-faced rusticated base
Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; exterior vestibule installed at basement entry; doorbell at main
entry; flashing installed over part of cornice and some dentils missing

Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (196 to 202 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch, planting bed, and lamp post in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Painted stoop (gate under stoop - removed)

Door(s): Historic primary door; metal storm door and transom panel
Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; non-historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

202 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 33

Date: c. 1886 (NB 493-86)

Architect/Builder: Walter M. Coots (architect); Lewis Bros. (builder)
Original Owner: McLoughlin McConnell

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone; wood cornice

Decorative Metal Work: Original stoop railings and one newel post intact

Significant Architectural Features: Incised ornament on side of stoop; rock-faced rusticated base with
voussoirs; door surround composed of chamfered pilasters with scrolled plinths and fluted lonic capitals
beneath ogee console brackets with incised floral ornament supporting a molded entablature with scroll
detail; shouldered lintel with rock-faced voussoirs above door; window surrounds on parlor floor composed
of chamfered pilasters with fluted lonic capitals supporting a shouldered lintel with rock-faced voussoirs;
ogee brackets at window sills and cartouches with floral ornament in spandrels; second-story windows form
projecting bay with ogee-curve spandrels; chamfered window enframements and lintels with rock-faced
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voussoirs; molded and denticulated cornice with paneled fascia and projecting bay continuing from
second-story windows

Alterations: Utility boxes at building base; exterior vestibule installed at basement entry; doorbell at main
entry; security camera installed on second story window; antenna on roof

Building Notes: One in a row of four buildings (196 to 202 Decatur Street).

Site Features: Cellar hatch, brick-edged planting bed, and lamp post in areaway; tree pit with metal edging

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Painted stoop (gate under stoop - removed)

Door(s): Historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Stone curb; non-historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

206 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 34

Date: c. 1923 (NB 18140-23)

Architect/Builder: Murray Klein

Original Owner: Victor Chefetz and Mr. Tassler
Type: Flats building

Style: Colonial Revival

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Red and black brick; cast-stone trim

Significant Architectural Features: Patterned brickwork; brick arches with keystones at door and
second-story windows; decorative parapet

Alterations: Utility box at building base; security lights with exposed conduit, doorbells, and key Site
Features: Cellar hatch in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic)

Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic metal fence and gates
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

West Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Painted brick wall with terra-cotta tile coping

East Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Brick wall with metal flashing
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208 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1679, Lot 135

Date: ¢. 1897 (Plan no. 1046-97)

Architect/Builder: Alfred S. Beasley

Original Owner: George A. Gardiner

Type: Flats building with store

Stories: 2

Material(s): Brick; stone lintels and sills; pressed-metal cornice

Significant Architectural Features: Corbelled brick cornice; pressed-metal storefront cornice; stone lintels
and sills

Alterations: Signhage and roll-down security gates at storefront; transom above main entry sealed and
mailbox installed on return; approximately three brickcourses near top of cornice rebuilt

Building Notes: Source for plan number: Real Estate Record and Builders’ Guide, July 10, 1897, p. 82.
Site Features: Cellar hatches in areaway

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Door(s): Altered (paneled returns intact) primary door
Windows: Replaced

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories)

Storefront(s): Historic

Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Non-historic fence and gate
Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Concrete and steel

East Facade: Not designed (historic) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Brick wall with terra-cotta tile coping; segmental-arched window opening (sealed with
masonry)

212 Decatur Street see 416 Lewis Avenue
216 Decatur Street see 416 Lewis Avenue

306 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 12

Date: 1884 (NB 251-1884)
Architect/Builder: William Baker (architect)
Original Owner: Henry Cornell

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 3 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Possibly historic cast-iron fencing and gate

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; possibly historic projecting stone bracketed hood with
incised decorative details above main entrance; possibly historic wood-and-glass double-leaf door with
transom; window with transom at first floor, stone lintels and bracketed sills; historic metal cornice with
stylized brackets with incised details and paneled frieze
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Alterations: Facade painted; windows replaced; non-historic metal mail box at areaway

Building Notes: First of six row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic cast-iron gate and fencing surrounds concrete paved
areaway; metal access hatch

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted, peeling paint)
Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (gate under stoop - removed)
Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

West Facade: Designed (historic, altered)
Facade Notes: Parged facade

308 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 13

Date: 1884 (NB 251-1884)
Architect/Builder: William Baker (architect)
Original Owner: Henry Cornell

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Historic cast-iron railings, newel posts, fencing and gate

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; possibly historic projecting stone bracketed hood with
incised decorative details above main entrance, the detail is repeated throughout the facade; possibly
historic wood-and-glass double-leaf door with transom; windows with stone lintels and bracketed sills;
historic metal cornice with stylized brackets with incised details and paneled frieze

Alterations: Facade painted; windows replaced

Building Notes: Second of six row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic cast-iron gate and fencing surrounds concrete paved
areaway; metal access hatch

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone
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310 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 14

Date: 1884 (NB 251-1884)
Architect/Builder: William Baker (architect)
Original Owner: Henry Cornell

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Historic cast-iron railings, newel posts, fencing and gate

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; possibly historic projecting stone bracketed hood with
incised decorative details above main entrance; windows with transoms, stone lintels and bracketed sills;
historic metal cornice with stylized brackets with incised details

Alterations: Facade painted, windows replaced; remote utility meter, and junction box attached to basement
facade

Building Notes: Fourth of six row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic cast-iron gate and fencing surrounds concrete paved
areaway; metal access hatch

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Resurfaced stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

310A Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 15

Date: 1884 (NB 251-1884)
Architect/Builder: William Baker (architect)
Original Owner: Henry Cornell

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Historic cast-iron railings, newel posts, fencing and gate

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; possibly historic projecting stone bracketed hood with
incised decorative details above main entrance, the detail is repeated throughout the facade; possibly
historic wood-and-glass double-leaf door with transom; windows with transoms at first floor, stone lintels
and bracketed sills; historic metal cornice with stylized brackets with incised details and paneled frieze
Alterations: Facade painted; windows replaced

Building Notes: Third of six row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic cast-iron gate and fencing surrounds concrete paved
areaway; non-historic light fixture; metal access hatch
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North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Possibly historic primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Possibly historic (basement)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

312 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 16

Date: 1884 (NB 251-1884)
Architect/Builder: William Baker (architect)
Original Owner: Henry Cornell

Type: Row house

Style: Neo-Grec

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Historic cast-iron railings, newel posts, fencing and gate

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; possibly historic projecting stone bracketed hood with
incised decorative details above main entrance; possibly historic wood-and-glass double-leaf door with
transom at main entrance; windows with stone lintels and bracketed sills; historic metal cornice with
stylized brackets with incised details and paneled frieze; chimney at roofline

Alterations: Facade painted; windows replaced under-stoop entrance enclosed and built out; non-historic
light fixture at main entrance; non-historic metal mailbox, remote utility meter, and junction box attached to

basement facade
Building Notes: Fifth of six row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic cast-iron gate and fencing surrounds concrete paved

areaway; metal access hatch

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Altered primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

314 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 17

Date: 1884 (NB 251-1884)
Architect/Builder: William Baker (architect)
Original Owner: Henry Cornell

Type: Row house
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Style: Neo-Grec
Stories: 2 and basement
Material(s): Brownstone

Decorative Metal Work: Historic cast-iron railings, newel posts, fencing and gate

Significant Architectural Features: Stone stoop; historic projecting stone bracketed hood with incised
decorative details above main entrance; windows with stone lintels and bracketed sills; historic metal
cornice with stylized brackets with incised details; chimney at roofline

Alterations: Facade painted; windows replaced main entrance door replaced; under stoop entrance enclosed
buildout; metal mailbox

Building Notes: Last of six row houses.

Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic cast-iron gate and fencing surrounds concrete paved
areaway; metal access hatch

North Facade: Designed (historic, painted)

Stoop: Possibly historic stoop (gate under stoop - altered)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories)

Cornice: Original

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

East Facade: Designed (historic, altered) (partially visible)
Facade Notes: Facade parged

316 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 18

Date: Not determined
Architect/Builder: Not determined
Original Owner: Not determined
Type: Free-standing house

Style: Italianate with alterations
Stories: 2

Material(s): Wood, vinyl siding

Significant Architectural Features: Asymmetrical arrangement with stone stoop and main entrance on the
right; possibly historic wood-and-glass transom, side-lights and wood enframements; bracketed wood
cornice; chimney at roofline

Alterations: Vinyl siding, windows and main entrance door replaced; non-historic light fixture at main
entrance

Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly non-historic metal gate and fencing surrounds grassy areaway.

North Facade: Designed (historic, resided)
Stoop: Replaced

Door(s): Replaced primary door
Windows: Replaced

Notable Roof Features: Chimney
Cornice: Historic
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Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Metal
Areaway Paving Material(s): Grass
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

East Facade: Designed (historic, altered)
Facade Notes: Facade clad with vinyl siding

West Facade: Designed (historic, altered)
Facade Notes: Vinyl siding; two windows on first floor and one window on second floor

320 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 20

Date: Not determined
Architect/Builder: Not determined
Original Owner: Not determined
Type: Semi-attached house

Style: Altered Italianate

Stories: 2

Material(s): Vinyl siding; wood

Significant Architectural Features: Wood house clad in vinyl siding, featuring asymmetrical arrangement
with stone stoop and main entrance on the right with projecting porticoed entrance supported by brick
columns

Alterations: Facade clad with vinyl siding; windows replaced; main entrance door replaced; brick of portico
columns; cornice clad with vinyl siding

Site Features: Low stone curb with possibly historic cast-iron gate and fencing and hedges surrounds
bluestone paved walkway and grassy areaway; enclosed entrance to side yard with cinder block retaining
wall runs the depth of the lot

North Facade: Designed (resided)

Stoop: Replaced

Door(s): Altered primary door

Windows: Replaced

Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories)
Notable Roof Features: Chimney

Cornice: Altered

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Iron
Areaway Paving Material(s): Bluestone/grass
Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

West Facade: Not designed (historic, altered)
Facade Notes: Facade clad with vinyl siding, one window on first floor and one window on second floor;
roofline chimney visible.
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322 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 21

Date: 1890

Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill & Son (architect)
Original Owner: J. T. Tyler

Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone; terra cotta

Decorative Metal Work: Historic cast-iron railings, fencing, gate and basement security grilles

Significant Architectural Features: Two-story angled projecting bay with brick pilaster that runs the length
of the facade; stone stoop; rusticated brownstone lintels at basement windows; rusticated brownstone
banding runs the width of angled bay; main entrance is flanked by brick pilasters with terra-cotta capitals
supporting brownstone lintel with flat incised brackets; terra-cotta spandrel panels with decorative details
below first-and second-floor windows; brick pilasters with terra-cotta capitals supporting a brownstone
gable above second-floor window; historic metal cornice with stylized brackets with incised details and
paneled frieze

Alterations: Main entrance door replaced; windows replaced; three metal mailboxes attached to basement
security door; remote utility meter, and junction box attached to basement facade

Building Notes: First of three row houses.

Site Features: Stone knee wall with cast-iron fencing and gate surrounds concrete paved areaway; recessed
secondary entrance; metal access hatch

South Facade: Designed (historic)

Stoop: Historic stoop (possibly historic gate under stoop)
Door(s): Replaced primary door

Windows: Replaced (upper stories); replaced (basement)
Security Grilles: Not historic (upper stories); historic (basement)
Cornice: Historic

Areaway Wall/Fence Material(s): Cast iron

Areaway Paving Material(s): Concrete

Sidewalk Material(s): Concrete

Curb Material(s): Stone

West Facade: Not designed (historic)
Facade Notes: Brick facade; non-historic satellite dish at second-story

324 Decatur Street
Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 1681, Lot 22

Date: 1890

Architect/Builder: Amzi Hill & Son (architect)
Original Owner: J. T. Tyler (723 Jefferson Ave.)
Type: Row house

Style: Queen Anne

Stories: 2 and basement

Material(s): Brick; brownstone; terra cotta

Decorative Metal Work: Historic cast-iron railings fencing, gate and security grilles
Significant Architectural Features: Two-story angled projecting bay with brick pilaster that runs the length
of the facade; historic stone stoop; historic wood-and-glass double-leaf door; rusticated brownstone lintels
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at basement windows; rusticated brownstone banding runs the width of angled bay; main entrance is
flanked by brick pilasters with terra-cotta capitals supporting a brownstone lintel with flat incised brackets;
terra-cotta spandrel panels with decorative details below first-and second-floor windows; brick pilasters
with terra-cotta capitals support brownstone gable above second-floor window; historic metal cornice with
stylized brackets with incised details and paneled frieze

Alterations: Windows replaced; non-historic light